



Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority

Constitution

Updated February 2020 V2.1

Version Control	Version 2.0	February 2020
Written By	Pippa Brent-Isherwood	January 2020
Authorised By	Roger Hirst	
Published		
Review Date		February 2021

Version History

Version Number	Date	Reason	for review	Comments
2.0	January 2020	Regular the Officer	review by Monitoring	Reviewed and updated in line with the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004. Reviewed and updated in line with the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England. Reviewed and updated in line with the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex (Fire and Rescue Authority) Order 2017. Reviewed and updated in line with the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. Reviewed and updated in line with the 2019 SLT restructure. Reviewed for consistency with the PFCC Constitution and updated accordingly. Schedule 1 replaced with updated version approved in June 2019. Schedule 3 updated. Terms of Reference for the Essex Emergency Services Collaboration Strategic Governance Board added as Schedule 4 in accordance with decision report 104/19. Schedule 5 updated to reflect fully the Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) Order 2011, the Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) (Amendment) Order 2012 and the Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) (Amendment) Order 2013 Schedule 8 updated with the revised Code of Practice released in 2018. Schedule 10 added. Schedule 11 added. Schedule 17 replaced with the procedure approved by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel in October 2019. Schedule 19 updated with the version adopted for use in December 2018.

Version Number	Date	Reason for review	Comments
2.1	31 January 2020	Consultation on draft	Updated following consultation with the Fire and Rescue Strategic Board (28/01/2020), the PFCC and Acting Chief Fire Officer (31/01/2020). Schedule 7 updated in consultation with the Monitoring Officer to the Police, Fire and Crime Panel.

Contents

Article 1 - The Constitution of Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority	6
1.1 Introduction	6
1.2 The Constitution	6
1.3 Maintaining and updating this Constitution	6
Article 2 - Citizens' Rights and Responsibilities	8
<i>Article 3 - The Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue</i> <i>Authority: Powers, Functions and Duties</i>	9
3.1 Powers of the Authority	9
3.2 Functions of the Authority	10
3.3 Powers of fire-fighters in an emergency etc.	12
<i>3.4 Duty to prepare and issue a Fire and Rescue Plan</i>	13
3.5 Duty to prepare and issue an Integrated Risk Management Plan	14
3.6 Duty to prepare and issue a Fire and Rescue Statement	14
3.7 Obtaining information and investigating fires	15
3.8 Duty to publish information for the public	16 17
3.9 Supply of goods and services 3.10 Duties when corruing out functions	17 17
<i>3.10 Duties when carrying out functions</i> <i>3.11 Delegation of functions by the Authority</i>	21
3.12 Recording the Delegation of Functions by the Authority	23
Article 4 - Financial matters	24
4.1 Requirement to have a fire fund	24
4.2 Financial year	24
4.3 Financial Plans	24 25
4.4 Acceptance of gifts or loans4.5 Charging by the Authority	25 26
<i>4.5 Charging by the Authority</i> <i>4.6 Precepts</i>	20 27
4.7 Budget calculations: report on robustness of estimates etc	27
4.8 Achieving value for money	27
4.9 Emergency financial assistance	28
4.10 Financial and Procurement Regulations	28
4.11 Preventing Fraud and Corruption	28
4.12 Financial Reports	28
4.13 Power to Trade	30
4.14 Emergency Services Collaboration Agreements	31
Article 5 - Conduct	32
5.1 Nolan Principles	32
5.2 Code of Conduct	32
5.3 Conflicts of Interest	33
5.4 Complaints and Conduct Matters which relate to the Commissioner or their	00
Deputy	33
Article 6 - Functions of the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel	34
6.1 Functions of the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel	34
6.2 Power of the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel to require attendance and	51
information	34
6.3 Suspension of the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner	35

 Article 7 - Fire and Rescue Authority Appointments 7.1 Date of vacancy in the office of PFCC 7.2 Declaration of the Commissioner as the Fire and Rescue Authority 7.3 Resignation of the PFCC 7.4 Appointment and powers of an Acting Commissioner 7.5 Vacancy where the Acting Commissioner acts for the maximum of six months 7.6 Disqualification from election as PFCC 7.7 Disqualification from election or holding office as the Commissioner – police grounds 7.8 Disqualification from election or holding office as the Commissioner – other grounds 7.9 Disqualification from holding office as the Commissioner 	36 36 37 37 38 39 39 39 41 42
7.10 Validity of acts despite any disqualifications	43
7.11 Appointment of persons not employed by the Authority	43
7.12 Engagement and re-engagement of senior officers	43
Article 8 - Senior Staff and Statutory Appointments 8.1 Chief Fire Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Head of Paid Service and Monitoring Officer	43 43
 8.2 Functions of the Chief Fire Officer 8.3 Functions of the Head of Paid Service 8.4 Functions of the Monitoring Officer 8.5 Functions of the Chief Financial Officer 8.6 Chief Fire Officer Appointment, Suspension and Dismissal Process 8.7 Chief Financial Officer Appointment Process 8.8 Appointment of a Deputy Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner 8.9 Staff – General Provisions 	43 44 45 46 46 46 47 47 48
 Article 9 - Miscellaneous Provisions 9.1 Remuneration etc. of the PFCC 9.2 Property and assets 9.3 Protection from personal liability 9.4 Government Security Classifications 9.5 Policies and Procedures 	49 49 50 50 50 50
Article 10 - Decision Making 10.1 Responsibility for Decision Making 10.2 Principles of Decision Making 10.3 Written Reports and Decision Records 10.4 General Provisions	51 51 51 52 52
Article 11 - Governance Boards 11.1 General 11.2 Fire and Rescue Strategic Board 11.3 Audit Committee 11.4 Fire and Rescue Performance and Resources Board 11.5 Essex Emergency Services Collaboration Strategic Governance Board Article 12 - Schedules	53 53 53 53 53 53 54 55

Article 1 - The Constitution of Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority

1.1 Introduction

- 1.1.1 The Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex (Fire and Rescue Authority) Order 2017 created this fire and rescue authority, under section 4A of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004, for the areas covered by Southend-on-Sea Borough Council, Thurrock Council and Essex County Council.
- 1.1.2 That Order sets out that the person who is the Police and Crime Commissioner for Essex is also the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority ("the Commissioner" or "the Authority"). They will be known as the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex. The Commissioner has sole responsibility for being the fire and rescue authority for Essex.
- 1.1.3 The Commissioner is elected every four years, and has a duty to represent the views of the whole community, including those who did not vote for them.
- 1.1.4 The Authority shall establish a fire and rescue service for the combined area, which shall be known as the **Essex County Fire and Rescue Service** ("**ECFRS**").
- 1.1.5 Within this Constitution the use of the term "Commissioner", refers only and exclusively to the corporation sole of the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority and does not include any responsibilities or requirements of the post holder in relation to policing. There is a separate Constitution for the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex in relation to policing.

1.2 The Constitution

- 1.2.1 The Constitution of the Authority comprises these Articles and the supporting Schedules.
- 1.2.2 The Authority has adopted this Constitution, which sets out how they will work, how decisions are made, and the procedures that are followed to ensure these are efficient, transparent and the Authority is accountable to local people. Some of these procedures are required by law, while others are a matter of choice for the Authority.

1.3 Maintaining and updating this Constitution

- 1.3.1 The Constitution is divided into 12 Articles, which set out the basic rules governing the Authority's business. More detailed procedures and policies are set out in in the Schedules to the Constitution.
- 1.3.2 The articles of this Constitution may not be suspended.
- 1.3.3 The Monitoring Officer will monitor and review the operation of the Constitution to ensure that the aims and principles of the Constitution are given full effect, and to ensure that appropriate amendments are recommended as and when necessary for the purpose of updating or improving the Constitution.
- 1.3.4 The Monitoring Officer shall review the Constitution at least, but not limited to, annually, with a view to recommending any such amendments to the Authority.

- 1.3.5 Changes to the Constitution will only be approved by the Authority after consideration of the proposal by the Monitoring Officer.
- 1.3.6 Before issuing or varying the Constitution, the Authority must:
 - a) Provide the draft or variation to the Police, Fire and Crime Panel ("the Panel").
 - b) Have regard to any report or recommendations made by the Panel in relation to the draft plan or variation.
 - c) Give the Panel a response to any such report or recommendations.
 - d) Publish any such response.
- 1.3.7 Once the response from the Police, Fire and Crime Panel had been considered, the Authority will follow the decision making process set out in Article 10.
- 1.3.8 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that copies of this Constitution are widely available to the public, including being available on the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex Website.

1.4 Election

- 1.4.1 The Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority comprises the person elected as the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner ("**PFCC**") on the ordinary day of election in every fourth year.
- 1.4.2 In this Article, "the ordinary day of election" in any year means the day which is the ordinary day of election in that year of councillors for counties in England and Districts (see sections 37 and 37A of the Representation of the People Act 1983).

1.5 Term of office

- 1.5.1 The term of office of the person elected as PFCC at an ordinary election begins with the seventh day after the day of the poll at the election ends with the sixth day after the poll at the next ordinary election, subject to any provision of or made under any Act relating to the appointment or election of commissioners in England or their ceasing to hold office.
- 1.5.2 The term of office of a person elected as PFCC at an election to fill a vacancy in the office begins immediately the person is declared to be elected as the PFCC for Essex and ends at the time when it would have ended had the person been elected at the most recent ordinary election.
- 1.5.3 Where a person becomes PFCC for a resulting police area by virtue of, or of an election required to be held by, a police area alteration order, the person's term of office as PFCC ends at the time when it would end had the person been elected as PFCC at the previous ordinary election of commissioners in England.
- 1.5.4 In this Article –

"police area alteration order" means an order under section 32 of the Police Act 1996 (power to alter police areas by order) or an order under section 10 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2017 (Implementation of Boundary Committee for England review of local government areas) which alters the boundary of any police area in England. "resulting police area", in relation to a police area alteration order, means a police area existing immediately after the order comes into force which is created by the order, or any part of whose boundary results from the order.

1.5.5 An order which makes provision altering any police areas may make provision as to who is to be a commissioner, including provision for the commissioner for a police area affected by the order to become the commissioner for a police area resulting from the order, or provision for the holding of an election for the commissioner for any police area resulting from the order. This may, in particular, require the election in question to be held before the alteration of police areas takes effect.

1.6 Persons entitled to vote

- 1.6.1 A person is entitled to vote as an elector at an election of the PFCC for Essex if on the date of the poll the person would be entitled to vote as an elector at a local government election in an electoral area wholly or partly comprised in the police area, and the address in respect of which the person in registered in the register of local government electors for that electoral area is within the police area.
- 1.6.2 A person is not entitled to vote as an elector more than once in the same police area in any election of the PFCC for Essex.

1.7 Voting at elections for the PFCC

- 1.7.1 The PFCC is to be returned under the simple majority system, unless there are three or more candidates.
- 1.7.2 If there are three or more candidates, the PFCC is to be returned under the supplementary vote system, and any vote in an election is a supplementary vote.
- 1.7.3 In this Article, "supplementary vote" means a vote capable of being given to indicate first and second preferences from among the candidates.

Article 2 - Citizens' Rights and Responsibilities

- 2.1 The Authority encourages public engagement. Openness, transparency, effective decisionmaking and accountability are the core principles adopted by the Authority.
- 2.2 Citizens have the right in accordance with any statutory conditions or restrictions:
 - a) If on the electoral roll, to vote in the election of the individual to be the Commissioner.
 - b) To access information under the relevant legislation, including the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR).
 - c) To inspect the accounts and to make their views known to the external auditor.
 - d) To review the Forward Plan of the future business of the governance meetings.
 - e) To inspect decisions of the Authority and the minutes of the boards, except where they concern a confidential or exempt matter.
 - f) To inspect statutory enforcement notices under the Environment and Safety Information Act 1988.
 - g) To contact the Authority about any matters of concern to them.

- 2.3 Citizens have the ability to make complaints, and complain to:
 - a) ECFRS under its internal complaints procedure or under the whistleblowing policy regarding the standard of service, actions or lack of action by ECFRS or by its staff when acting in the course of their duties.
 - b) The Commissioner if it is a complaint against the Chief Fire Officer.
 - c) The Local Government Ombudsman if it is thought that ECFRS, after following its complaints procedure, has not put the complaint right.
 - d) The Monitoring Officer of the Police, Fire and Crime Panel if it is a complaint against the Commissioner or their Deputy. The Panel will then determine how the complaint will be handled. Further details of this process can be found in Article 5.4 and Schedule 17.

Article 3 - The Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority: Powers, Functions and Duties

3.1 **Powers of the Authority**

3.1.1 The Authority may do:

a) Anything it considers appropriate for the purposes of the carrying-out of any of its functions (its "functional purposes");

b) Anything it considers appropriate for purposes incidental to its functional purposes;

c) Anything it considers appropriate for purposes indirectly incidental to its functional purposes through any number of removes;

d) Anything it considers to be connected with any of its functions or anything it may do under subsections 3.1.1 (a) - (d), and

e) For a commercial purpose anything which it may do under any of subsections 3.1.1 (a) - (d) otherwise than for a commercial purpose.

- 3.1.2 The Authority's powers under subsection 3.1.1 are in addition to, and not limited by, the other powers of the Authority.
- 3.1.3 However, the Authority's powers under subsection 3.1.1 do not enable the Authority to do anything which the Authority is unable to do by virtue of a pre-commencement limitation, or anything which the Authority is unable to do by virtue of a post-commencement limitation which is expressed to apply:
 - a) To its powers under subsection 3.1.1;
 - b) To all of the Authority's powers, or

c) To all of the Authority's powers but with exceptions that do not include its powers under subsection 3.1.1.

3.1.4 If exercise of a pre-commencement power of the Authority is subject to restrictions, those restrictions apply also to exercise of the power conferred on the Authority by subsection 3.1.1 so far as it is overlapped by the pre-commencement power.

- 3.1.5 Subsection 3.1.1 does not authorise the Authority to borrow money.
- 3.1.6 Subsection 3.1.1 does not authorise the Authority to charge any person for any action taken by the Authority (but see Article 4.5).
- 3.1.7 Public accountability for the delivery and performance of the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service is placed into the hands of the Authority on behalf of the electorate. The Authority has a statutory duty and electoral mandate to hold the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service to account on behalf of the public.
- 3.1.8 The Authority will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law, in particular the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004, the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, the Policing and Crime Act 2017, all other relevant primary and secondary legislation and this Constitution.
- 3.1.9 The Authority will also have regard to all relevant guidance from the Secretary of State, such as the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England.
- 3.1.10 In this Article:

a) "post-commencement limitation" means a prohibition, restriction or other limitation imposed by a statutory provision that is contained in an Act passed after the end of the Session in which the Localism Act 2011 is passed, or is contained in an instrument made under an Act and comes into force on or after the commencement of section 9 (1) of that Act

b) "pre-commencement limitation" means a prohibition, restriction or other limitation imposed by a statutory provision that is contained in an Act passed no later than the end of the Session in which the Localism Act 2011 is passed, or is contained in an instrument made under an Act and comes into force before the commencement of section 9 (1) of that Act

c) "pre-commencement power" means power conferred by a statutory provision that is contained in an Act passed no later than the end of the Session in which the Localism Act 2011 is passed, or is contained in an instrument made under an Act and comes into force before the commencement of section 9 (1) of that Act

3.2 Functions of the Authority

- 3.2.1 The Authority must put in place arrangements to deliver an efficient and effective fire and rescue service and perform the following key functions:
 - a) Promote fire safety (in accordance with Section 6 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004).
 - b) Fire-fighting (in accordance with Section 7 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004).
 - c) Rescue people from road traffic incidents (in accordance with Section 8 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004).
 - d) Respond to other eventualities (in accordance with Section 11 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004).
 - e) Assess, plan for and advise on civil emergencies (in accordance with Section 2 of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and any subordinate legislation made under that Act applying to the Authority).
 - f) Enforce the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005.

- g) Keep emergency service collaboration under review and enter into collaboration agreements where it is in the interests of efficiency or effectiveness (in accordance with Sections 1 to 5 of the Policing and Crime Act 2017)
- h) Any other key functions conferred on the Authority by any other enactment.
- 3.2.2 The Authority may provide the services of any persons employed by it or any equipment maintained by it to any person for any purpose that appears to the Authority to be appropriate. The Authority may provide services under this subsection outside as well as within the Authority's area.
- 3.2.3 In delivering these functions, the Authority has the legal power and duty to:
 - a) Provide the local link between the fire and rescue service and local communities, working to translate the legitimate desires and aspirations of the public into action.
 - b) Decide the budget and set the fire and rescue precept for the area.
 - c) Maintain an efficient and effective fire and rescue service for the area.
 - d) Set the strategic direction and objectives of the service through the Fire and Rescue Plan, which must have regard to the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England set by the Secretary of State.
 - e) Scrutinise, support and challenge the overall performance of ECFRS including against the priorities agreed within the Fire and Rescue Plan.
 - f) Approve an Integrated Risk Management Plan ("IRMP") for the area.
 - g) Prepare and issue a Fire and Rescue Statement.
 - h) Publish information specified by the Secretary of State and information that the Authority considers necessary to enable the people who live in the area to assess the performance of the ECFRS.
 - i) Comply with all reasonable formal requests from the Police, Fire and Crime Panel to attend its meetings.
 - j) Appoint a Chief Fire Officer to lead and manage the personnel, equipment and services secured for carrying out the functions of the Fire and Rescue Service.
 - k) Suspend and dismiss the Chief Fire Officer.
 - Appoint such other staff as the Authority thinks appropriate to enable the Authority to exercise their functions, and to pay remuneration, expenses, gratuities and pensions to those staff.
 - m) Hold the Chief Fire Officer to account for the exercise of:
 - i. The functions which are delegated to the Chief Fire Officer.
 - ii. The functions of persons under the directions and control of the Chief Fire Officer.
 - n) Scrutinise the work of officers and staff of the service.
 - o) Monitor all complaints made against employees, whilst having responsibility for complaints against the Chief Fire Officer.
- 3.2.3 In subsection 3.2.3 (I), "allowances", in relation to a member of the Authority's staff, means allowances in respect of expenses incurred by the member of staff in the course of employment as a member of staff.

- 3.2.4 The Chief Fire Officer is expected to ensure that the Authority is regularly informed of their decisions and operational activity in a timely fashion so that the Authority can hold the Chief Fire Officer to account for the totality of fire and rescue services within their area.
- 3.2.5 In order to enable the Authority to exercise their functions effectively, access to information, officers and staff within the fire and rescue service will be needed. Such access to information must not be unreasonably withheld or obstructed by the Chief Fire Officer and / or fetter the Chief Fire Officer's diretion and control of the fire and rescue service.
 - 3.2.6 The Authority must, in particular, hold the Chief Fire Officer to account for:
 - a) Securing that good value for money is obtained in exercising functions which are delegated to the Chief Fire Officer, and by the persons under their direction and control (Article 24 of the Fire and Rescue Authority (Police and Crime Commissioner) (Application of Local Policing Provisions, Inspection, Powers to Trade and Consequential Amendments) Order 2017).
 - b) Having regard to the Fire and Rescue Plan (Article 25 of the Fire and Rescue Authority (Police and Crime Commissioner) (Application of Local Policing Provisions, Inspection, Powers to Trade and Consequential Amendments) Order 2017).
 - c) The preparation, publication and delivery of the Integrated Risk Management Plan for the Authority's area.

3.3 Powers of fire-fighters in an emergency etc.

3.3.1 An employee of the Authority who is authorised in writing by the Authority for the purposes of this Article may do anything they reasonably believe to be necessary:

a) If they reasonably believe a fire to have broken out or to be about to break out, for the purpose of extinguishing or preventing the fire or protecting life or property;

b) If they reasonably believe a road traffic accident to have occurred, for the purpose of rescuing people or protecting them from serious harm;

c) If they reasonably believe an emergency of another kind to have occurred, for the purpose of discharging any function conferred on the Authority in relation to the emergency;

d) For the purpose of preventing or limiting damage to property resulting from action taken as mentioned in paragraph (a), (b) or (c).

3.3.2 In particular, an employee of the Authority, who is authorised as mentioned in subsection 3.3.1 may, under that subsection:

a) Enter premises or a place, by force if necessary, without the consent of the owner or occupier of the premises or place;

b) Move or break into a vehicle without the consent of its owner;

- c) Close a highway;
- d) Stop and regulate traffic, or
- e) Restrict the access of persons to the premises or place.

3.4 Duty to prepare and issue a Fire and Rescue Plan

- 3.4.1 A Fire and Rescue Plan is to be prepared and published by the Authority in accordance with the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England. It sets out the Authority's strategic vision, priorities and objectives, for the period covered by the document, in connection with the discharge of their functions. This Plan may be amended as frequently as considered necessary.
- 3.4.2 The Commissioner must have regard to both the Fire and Rescue Plan and the Police and Crime Plan when carrying out their functions. The plans can be combined. Where a joint plan is developed, the plan must set out both policing and fire and rescue priorities and objectives.
- 3.4.3 The Chief Fire Officer must, in exercising functions which are delegated to them, have regard to the Fire and Rescue Plan.
- 3.4.4 In developing the Fire and Rescue Plan, the Authority must make arrangements for obtaining the views of the community.
- 3.4.5 Before issuing or varying a Fire and Rescue Plan, the Authority must:
 - a) Prepare a draft of the plan or variation.
 - b) Consult the Chief Fire Officer in preparing the draft plan or variation.
 - c) Provide the draft plan or variation to the Police, Fire and Crime Panel.
 - d) Have regard to any report or recommendations made by the Panel in relation to the draft plan or variation.
 - e) Give the Panel a response to any such report or recommendations, and
 - f) Publish any such response.
- 3.4.6 The Authority must ensure that the Police, Fire and Crime Panel has a reasonable amount of time to review the draft plan or variation and to make a report or recommendations to the Authority.
- 3.4.7 The Authority must consult again with the Chief Fire Officer before issuing or varying a Fire and Rescue Plan if, and to the extent that, the plan or variation is different from the initial draft on which the Chief Fire Officer was consulted.
- 3.4.8 The Authority must:
 - a) Keep the Fire and Rescue Plan under review, and
 - b) In particular, review the Fire and Rescue Plan in the light of any report or recommendations made to the Authority by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel on the Authority's Fire and Rescue Statement and exercise the powers to issue or vary the Fire and Rescue Plan accordingly.
- 3.4.9 When the Authority issues or varies a Fire and Rescue Plan they must:
 - a) Send a copy of the issued plan, or the variation, to the Chief Fire Officer, and
 - b) Publish a copy of the issued plan, or the variation.
- 3.4.10 It is for the Authority to determine the manner in which a response to a report or recommendations is to be published, and a copy of the plan or variation is to be published.

3.4.11 The Fire and Rescue Plan should inform the Integrated Risk Management Plan, which should in turn outline how the Authority's priorities will be met.

3.5 Duty to prepare and issue an Integrated Risk Management Plan

- 3.5.1 An Integrated Risk Management Plan ("IRMP") will be prepared and published by the Authority in accordance with the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England.
- 3.5.2 The function of preparing and issuing an IRMP may be delegated to the Chief Fire Officer, however the Plan must be approved by the Commissioner as the Authority.
- 3.5.3 The IRMP will set out, for the period covered by the document, an assessment of all foreseeable fire and rescue related risks that could affect the area of the Authority and proposals, including about the allocation of resources, for the mitigation of those risks.
- 3.5.4 The IRMP must:
 - Reflect up to date risk analyses including an assessment of all foreseeable fire and rescue related risks that could affect the area of the Authority;
 - Demonstrate how prevention, protection and response activities will best be used to prevent fires and other incidents and mitigate the impact of identified risks on its communities, through authorities working either individually or collectively, in a way that makes best use of available resources;
 - Outline required service delivery outcomes including the allocation of resources for the mitigation of risks;
 - Set out its management strategy and risk-based programme for enforcing the provisions of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 in accordance with the principles of better regulation set out in the Statutory Code of Compliance for Regulators, and the Enforcement Concordat;
 - Cover at least a three-year time span and be reviewed and revised as often as it is necessary to ensure that the authority is able to deliver the requirements set out in the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England;
 - Reflect effective consultation throughout its development and at all review stages with the community, its workforce and representative bodies and partners, and
 - Be easily accessible and publicly available.

3.6 Duty to prepare and issue a Fire and Rescue Statement

- 3.6.1 An annual Fire and Rescue Statement must be prepared and published in accordance with the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England. This statement must provide annual assurance on financial, governance and operational matters and show how ECFRS has had due regard, in the period covered by the document, to any strategic plans prepared by the Authority for that period (including the Fire and Rescue Plan), the expectations set out in its Integrated Risk Management Plan and the requirements included in the framework.
- 3.6.2 As soon as practicable after producing a Fire and Rescue Statement, the Authority must send the report to the Police, Fire and Crime Panel.

- 3.6.3 The Authority must attend before the Police, Fire and Crime Panel at a public meeting, arranged by the Panel as soon as practicable after it receives the report, to:
 - a) Present the report to the Panel, and
 - b) Answer the Panel's questions on the report.
- 3.6.4 The Authority must:
 - a) Give the Panel a response to any report or recommendations on the Fire and Rescue Statement by the Panel, and
 - b) Publish any such response.
- 3.6.5 It is for the Police, Fire and Crime Panel to determine the manner in which a response to a report or recommendations is to be published in accordance with paragraph 3.6.4.

3.7 Obtaining information and investigating fires

3.7.1 An employee of the Authority authorised in writing by the Authority for the purposes of this Article ("an authorised officer") may, at any reasonable time, enter premises:

a) For the purposes of obtaining information needed for the discharge of the Authority's functions in relation to fire-fighting, road traffic accidents or other emergencies, or

b) If there has been a fire in the premises, for the purposes of investigating what caused the fire and why it progressed as it did.

3.7.2 An authorised officer may not, under subsection 3.7.1:

a) Enter premises by force;

b) Demand admission as of right to premises occupied as a private dwelling unless 24 hours' notice in writing has first been given to the occupier of the dwelling;

c) Enter as of right premises in which there has been a fire if the premises are unoccupied and the premises were occupied as a private dwelling immediately before the fire, unless 24 hours' notice in writing has first been given to the person who was the occupier of the dwelling immediately before the fire.

3.7.3 An authorised officer may apply to a justice of the peace if:

a) They consider it necessary to enter premises for the purposes of subsection 3.7.1 but consider that they are unable to do so, or likely to be unable to do so, otherwise than by force, or

b) They consider it necessary to enter a dwelling for the purposes of subsection 3.7.1 without giving notice as required by subsection 3.7.2 (b) or (c).

3.7.4 If an authorised officer exercises a power of entry under subsection 3.7.1 (a), they may:

a) Take with them any other persons and any equipment that they consider necessary, and

b) Require any person present on the premises to provide them with any facilities, information, documents or records, or other assistance, that they may reasonably request.

3.7.5 If an authorised officer exercises a power of entry under subsection 3.7.1 (b), they may:

a) Take with them any other persons and any equipment that they consider necessary

b) Inspect and copy any documents or records on the premises or remove them from the premises

c) Carry out any inspections, measurements and tests in relation to the premises, or to an article or substance found on the premises, that they consider necessary

d) Take samples of an article or substance found on the premises, but not so as to destroy it or damage it unless it is necessary to do so for the purposes of the investigation. In this case, they must leave a notice at the premises (either with a responsible person or, if that is impractical, fixed in a prominent position) giving particulars of the article or substance and stating that they have taken a sample of it and, if it is practical to do so, give a responsible person at the premises a portion of the sample marked in a manner sufficient to identify it.

e) Dismantle an article found on the premises, but not so as to destroy it or damage it unless it is necessary to do so for the purposes of the investigation

f) Take possession of an article or substance found on the premises and detain it for as long as is necessary for the purposes of:

i) Examining it and having anything they have the power to do under paragraph (c) or (e)

ii) Ensuring that it is not tampered with before their examination of it is completed

iii) Ensuring that it is available for use as evidence in proceedings for an offence relevant to the investigation

In this case, they must leave a notice at the premises (either with a responsible person or, if that is impractical, fixed in a prominent position) giving particulars of the article or substance and stating that they have taken possession of it.

g) Require a person present on the premises to provide them with any facilities, information, documents or records, or other assistance that they may reasonably request.

3.7.6 If, in the exercise of any power under this Article, an authorised officer enters premises which are unoccupied, or from which the occupier is temporarily absent, they must on their departure leave the premises as effectively secured against unauthorised entry as they found them.

3.8 Duty to publish information for the public

- 3.8.1 The Authority must publish information as specified by the Secretary of State. The information that is currently required to be published is set out in Schedule 5. If the time or manner of the publication of that information is specified, the Authority must publish it at that time or in that manner.
- 3.8.2 The Authority must publish the information which they consider necessary to enable the persons who live in Essex to assess:
 - a) The performance of the Authority in exercising their functions in relation to the Fire and Rescue Service.
 - b) The performance of the Chief Fire Officer in exercising the functions delegated to them.

- 3.8.3 The information necessary to enable persons who live in Essex to assess the above matters by reference to a particular time, or a particular period, must be published by the Authority as soon as practicable after that time or the end of that period.
- 3.8.4 Furthermore, section 26 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 requires that the Authority must:

a) Submit to the Secretary of State any reports and returns that are required, and b) Provide the Secretary of State with any information with respect to its functions that is required.

3.9 Supply of goods and services

- 3.9.1 Subsections (1), (2) and (3) of Section 1 (supply of goods and services by local authorities) of the Local Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970 apply to the Authority as they apply to a local authority.
- 3.9.2 Subject to the provisions of section 1 of the 1970 Act, a local authority and any public body may enter into an agreement for all or any of the following purposes:
 - a) The supply by the local authority to the Authority of any goods or materials.
 - b) The provision by the local authority to the Authority of any administrative, professional or technical services.
 - c) The use by the Authority of any vehicle, plant or apparatus belonging to the local authority and the placing at the disposal of the Authority of the services of any person employed in connection with the vehicle or other property.
 - d) The carrying out by the local authority of works of maintenance in connection with land or buildings for the maintenance of which the Authority is responsible.
- 3.9.3 The Authority must demonstrate that it is achieving value for money for the goods and services it receives. It should look to improve its commercial practices including whether it can aggregate its procurement with other fire and rescue authorities and local services (e.g. Police) in order to achieve efficiencies.
- 3.9.4 The Authority must ensure that its commercial activities (be that the placement of new contracts or use of existing contracts) is in line with its legal obligations, including but not limited to the Public Contracts Regulations, the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012, the Modern Slavery Act 2015 and transparency commitments.

3.10 Duties when carrying out functions

- 3.10.1 In carrying out their functions, the Authority must have regard to the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England, including the priorities contained within to:
 - Make appropriate provision for fire prevention and protection activities and response to fire and rescue related incidents The Authority must make provision for promoting fire safety, including fire prevention, and have a locally determined risk-based inspection programme in place for enforcing compliance with the provisions of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 in premises to which it applies. The Authority will target its fire safety, prevention and protection resources on:
 - Those individuals / households who are at greatest risk from fire in the home;
 - o Those most likely to engage in arson / deliberate fire-setting, and
 - Those non-domestic premises where the life safety risk is greatest.

To identify those at greatest risk from fire, the Authority will work closely with other organisations in the public and voluntary sectors as well as the police and ambulance services. Wherever appropriate, the Authority will develop partnerships to support risk reduction services to those identified as vulnerable, including from exploitation or abuse, and wherever possible share intelligence and relevant risk data. However, such activity will not be undertaken at the expense of the effective delivery of its core statutory functions.

The Authority will ensure that all its staff in public-facing roles have the necessary skills and training to provide the wide range of roles they undertake, including in relation to people with complex needs and vulnerabilities. It will also have appropriate safeguarding arrangements in place, including ensuring staff have appropriate vetting clearance.

The Authority must make provision to respond to incidents such as fires, road traffic collisions and other emergencies within its area and in other areas in line with mutual aid agreements. The Authority must be able to respond to the threat of terrorism and be ready to respond to incidents in its area and across England as required.

The Authority must, as far as is practicable, enter into reinforcement schemes or mutual aid agreements with other fire and rescue authorities for securing mutual assistance for the purposes of fire-fighting or responding to road traffic accidents or other emergencies.

The Authority must have effective business continuity arrangements in place in accordance with its duties under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. Within these arrangements, the Authority must make every endeavour to meet the full range of service delivery risks and national resilience duties and commitments that it faces.

Identify and assess the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue related risks their area faces – The Authority must assess all fire and rescue related risks that could affect their communities, whether they are local, cross-border, multi-authority and / or national in natures, from fires to terrorist attacks. Regard must be had to Community Risk Registers produced by the Local Resilience Forum and any other risk analyses as appropriate. The Authority's risk assessments must include an analysis of any gaps between its existing capability and that needed to ensure national resilience.

The Authority must put in place arrangements to prevent and mitigate these risks, either through adjusting existing provision, effective collaboration and partnership working, or building new capability. The Authority will work with the Strategic Resilience Board where appropriate when determining what arrangements to put in place. As part of its analysis, the Authority must highlight to the Home Office or Fire and Rescue Strategic Resilience Board any capability gaps that it believes cannot be met, even when taking into account mutual aid arrangements, pooling and reconfiguration of resources and collective action.

- Collaborate with emergency services and other local and national providers to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of the service they provide – Under the Policing and Crime Act 2017, the Authority is under a statutory duty to:
 - Keep all collaboration opportunities under review;
 - Notify other emergency services of proposed collaborations that could be in the interests of their mutual efficiency and effectiveness, and

 Give effect to a collaboration where the proposed parties agree that it would be in the interests of their efficiency or effectiveness and does not have an adverse impact on public safety.

This duty does not preclude collaboration with other local partners, such as local authorities and wider health bodies.

The Authority must collaborate with other fire and rescue authorities to deliver intraoperability (between fire and rescue authorities) and interoperability (with other responders, such as other emergency services, wider Category 1 and 2 responders and the Local Resilience Forum) in line with the Joint Emergency Services Interoperability Principles (JESIP). The Authority must collaborate with the National Resilience Lead Authority to ensure interoperability is maintained for National Resilience assets.

Intraoperability includes, but is not limited to:

- o Compatible communications systems, control rooms and equipment;
- o Common command and compatible control and co-ordination arrangements;
- Effective information, intelligence and data sharing;
- o Compatible operational procedures and guidance with common terminology;
- o Compatible training and exercising (both individually and collectively), and
- Cross-border working with other English fire and rescue authorities and those in the devolved administrations

Interoperability includes, but is not limited to:

- Compatible communications systems, control rooms and equipment as appropriate;
- o Compatible command, control and co-ordination arrangements;
- Effective inter-agency working and liaison and, where appropriate, information, intelligence and data sharing;
- Shared understanding of respective roles and responsibilities, operational procedures, guidance and terminology;
- Robust multi-agency plans for managing risks identified in the National Risk Assessment and Community Risk Registers;
- Multi-agency training and exercising, and
- Cross-border working with other responders in England and the devolved administrations
- Be accountable to communities for the service they provide In carrying out their functions, the Authority must put in place arrangements for obtaining the views of people in Essex about fire and Rescue services. The Chief Fire Officer should be consulted on the appropriate arrangements. In carrying out their functions, the

Authority must have regard to the views of people in Essex about fire and rescue services.

- Develop and maintain a workforce that is professional, resilient, skilled, flexible and diverse – The Authority should have in place a people strategy that has been designed in collaboration with the workforce. This should take into account the principles set out within the National Fire Chiefs Council's people strategy and, at a minimum, cover:
 - Continuously improving the diversity of the workforce to ensure it represents the community it serves
 - Equality, cultural values and behaviours
 - The various routes available in terms of recruitment, retention and progression
 - Flexible working
 - Professionalism, skills and leadership
 - Training opportunities
 - Health and safety, wellbeing, disabilities and support (e.g. mental health and physical support)
 - Tackling bullying, harassment and discrimination

The Authority must also comply with the fitness principles set out at Annex C to the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England.

- 3.10.2 The Authority must take all reasonable measures for securing that an adequate supply of water will be available for the Authority's use in the event of fire. It may use any suitable supply of water for the purposes of extinguishing a fire or protecting life or property in the event of a fire, subject to an agreement under section 39 or 41 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 but must pay reasonable compensation for the water, including as set out under section 147 of the Water Industry Act 1991 (charging for emergency use of water).
- 3.10.3 The Authority's functions must be exercised efficiently and effectively.
- 3.10.4 In carrying out functions in a particular financial year, the Authority must have regard to any report or recommendations made by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel with respect to the discharge of functions for the previous financial year.
- 3.10.5 However, subsection 3.10.3 does not affect any exercise of the functions of the Authority in any part of a particular financial year that falls before the Authority has received a report or recommendations from the Police, Fire and Crime Panel on the Fire and Rescue Statement for the previous financial year, or during the period after receipt of a report or recommendations from the Police, Fire and Crime Panel when the Authority is considering the report or recommendations.
- 3.10.6 In carrying out its functions, the Authority must have regard to any Financial Management Code of Practice issued from time to time by the Secretary of State, relating to the proper administration of its financial affairs. The latest such document is set out in Schedule 8.

- 3.10.7 The Authority must cooperate with Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) to enable it to deliver its statutory function. This includes providing relevant data and information to inform inspections.
- 3.10.8 The Authority must give due regard to reports and recommendations made by HMICFRS and if recommendations are made prepare, update and publish regularly an action plan detailing how recommendations are being actioned. If the Authority does not propose to undertake any action as a result of a recommendation, reasons for this should be given.
- 3.10.9 The Authority must proactively engage with, and support, the National Coordination and Advisory Framework (NCAF) arrangements, including the National Fire Chiefs Council's lead operational role.

3.11 Delegation of functions by the Authority

- 3.11.1 Subject to Articles 3.11.5, 3.11.9, 3.11.10, 3.11.11 and 3.11.12, the Authority may make such arrangements as it considers appropriate for the delegation of its functions to:
 - (a) the Deputy PFCC;
 - (b) a member of staff of the Authority, or
 - (c) a member of staff of the PFCC.
- 3.11.2 Under this Article, "member of staff of the Authority" means -

(a) staff transferred to the Authority under a transfer scheme made under section 4C of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004, and

(b) staff appointed by the Authority under section 4D of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004.

- 3.11.3 Under this Article, "member of staff of the PFCC" means any of the following persons appointed by the PFCC under paragraph 6 of Schedule 1 to the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011:
 - (a) The PFCC's Chief Executive;
 - (b) The PFCC's Chief Finance Officer, or
 - (c) The PFCC's other staff.
- 3.11.4 The Scheme of Delegation details the key roles of the Authority and those functions which are delegated as set out in subsection 3.11.1. This document is set out in Schedule 9.
- 3.11.5 The PFCC may not -
 - (a) appoint a person listed in subsection 3.11.8 as the Deputy PFCC;

(b) arrange, under subsection 3.11.1, for any person listed in subsection 3.11.8 to exercise any function, or

(c) arrange, under subsection 3.11.1, for any person to exercise a function listed in subsection 3.11.9.

- 3.11.6 Where the Authority delegates a function other than those listed in article 3.11.11 to the Deputy PFCC, the Deputy PFCC may delegate the function to a member of staff of the Authority or a member of staff of the PFCC. The Deputy PFCC may not delegate a function specified in article 3.11.11.
- 3.11.7 However a Deputy PFCC may not arrange for a person to exercise a function if the person is listed in subsection 3.11.8 or the function is listed in subsection 3.11.9.
- 3.11.8 The persons referred to in subsections 3.11.5 (a) and (c) and 3.11.7 are:
 - (a) a constable (whether or not in England and Wales);
 - (b) a Police and Crime Commissioner or a Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner;
 - (c) the Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime;

(d) the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime appointed by the Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime;

- (e) the Mayor of London;
- (f) the Common Council of the City of London;
- (g) any other person or body which maintains a police force, or
- (h) a member of staff of a person falling within any of the paragraphs (a) to (g).
- 3.11.9 The functions referred to in subsection 3.11.5 (c), which may not be delegated by the Authority, are:

(a) calculating a council tax requirement (see section 42A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992);

(b) approving the Fire and Rescue Plan and the Fire and Rescue Statement (within the meaning of Schedule A2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004);

- (c) approving the integrated risk management plan;
- (d) appointing, suspending or dismissing the Chief Fire Officer;
- (e) holding the Chief Fire Officer to account;

(f) approving a pay policy statement prepared for the purposes of section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 (pay policy statements);

(g) approving arrangements to enter into a reinforcement scheme under section 13 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 (reinforcement schemes);

(h) approving arrangements with other employers of firefighters under section 15 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 (arrangements with other employers of firefighters);

(i) approving arrangements under section 16 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 (arrangements for discharge of functions by others);

(j) approving plans, modifications to plans and additions to plans for the purpose of ensuring that –

(i) so far as is reasonably practicable, the Authority is able to perform its fire and rescue functions if an emergency occurs, and

(ii) the Authority is able to perform its functions so far as necessary or desirable for the purpose of preventing an emergency, or reducing, controlling or mitigating the effects of an emergency, or taking other action in connection with it;

(k) approving any arrangements for the co-operation of the Authority in relation to its fire and rescue functions with other general Category 1 responders and general Category 2 responders in respect of –

(i) the performance of the Authority's duty as a fire and rescue authority under section 2 of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, and

(ii) any duties under subordinate legislation made in exercise of powers under that Act

- 3.11.9.1 In subsection 3.11.9 (j), "emergency" has the meaning given in section 1 of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 (meaning of emergency) for Part 1 of that Act.
- 3.11.10 The Authority may not make arrangements under article 3.11.1 for the delegation of the following functions of the Authority to any person other than the Deputy PFCC:

a) The function of determining the Authority's priorities and objectives for the purposes of the Fire and Rescue Plan and the Fire and Rescue Statement;

b) The function of attendance at a meeting of the Police, Fire and Crime Panel for Essex in compliance with a requirement by the Panel to do so (see section 29 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 as applied with modifications by paragraph 9 of Schedule A2 to the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004);

c) The function of appointing a local auditor under section 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (appointment of local auditor), and

d) The function of deciding whether to enter into a liability limitation agreement under section 14 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (limitation of local auditor's liability).

- 3.11.10 The Authority may not make arrangements under article 3.11.1 for the delegation of the function of preparing and publishing an integrated risk management plan to any person other than the Chief Fire Officer.
- 3.11.11 If a function of the PFCC is exercisable by any person in accordance with this then any property or rights vested in the PFCC may be dealt with by the other person in exercising the function, as if vested in that person.
- 3.11.12 The Deputy PFCC is a member of the PFCC's staff.

3.12 Recording the Delegation of Functions by the Authority

3.12.1 The Authority shall provide the Monitoring Officer with a written report updating immediately the arrangements under the Scheme of Delegation for the discharge of any of their functions if the Authority makes any amendment to those arrangements.

- 3.12.2 The report of the Authority provided to the Monitoring Officer shall contain the following information:
 - a) The nature and extent of any authority delegated to the Deputy PFCC to exercise any function of the Authority.
 - b) The nature and extent of any authority delegated by the Deputy PFCC to any other person to exercise any function of the Deputy PFCC.
 - c) The nature and extent of any authority delegated to the Chief Fire Officer to exercise the functions of the Authority.
 - d) The nature and extent of any authority delegated by the Chief Fire Officer to any other person to exercise the function of the Authority.
 - e) The nature and extent of any delegated authority provided under any joint arrangements.
 - f) The nature and extent of any delegated authority provided to a member of the Authority's staff, including any conditions attached and the title of the post concerned.
- 3.12.3 There is a power for officers further to delegate in writing all or any of the delegated functions to other officers (described by name or post) either fully or under the general supervision and control of the delegating officer. Sub delegations shall be recorded in a register kept by the Monitoring Officer.

Article 4 - Financial matters

4.1 Requirement to have a fire fund

- 4.1.1 The Authority must keep a fund to be known as the fire fund and is ultimately accountable to the public for the management of the fire fund.
- 4.1.2 All of the receipts of the Authority must be paid into the fire fund.
- 4.1.3 All of the expenditure of the Authority must be paid out of the fire fund.
- 4.1.4 The Authority must keep accounts of payments made into or out of the Fire Fund.
- 4.1.5 Paragraphs 4.1.2 and 4.13 are subject to the provisions of:
 - a) The scheme established under section 26 of the Fire Services Act 1947 (Firemen's Pension Scheme) (as continued in force by order under section 36).
 - b) A scheme under section 34 (pensions etc.), or
 - c) Scheme regulations within the meaning of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013.

4.2 Financial year

4.2.1 The Authority's financial year is the period of 12 months ending on 31 March.

4.3 Financial Plans

4.3.1 The Authority is required to produce:

- A medium term financial strategy, which should include funding and spending plans for revenue and capital. The strategy should take into account multiple years, the interdependencies of revenue budgets and capital investments, the role of reserves and the consideration of risks. It should have regard to affordability and CIPFA's Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities. It should be aligned with the Authority's Fire and Rescue Plan and Integrated Risk Management Plan.
- An efficiency plan and annual report on their progress against this efficiency plan
- A reserves strategy which should:
 - o Include details of current and future planned reserves levels
 - Set out a total amount of reserves and the amount of each specific reserve that is held for each year
 - Set out how the level of general reserve has been set
 - If necessary, set out a justification for holding a general reserve larger than 5% of the budget
 - Set out details of the activities or items to be funded from each earmarked reserve, and how these support the Authority's strategy to deliver a good quality service to the public
 - Cover resource and capital reserves
 - Make clear how much of the funding falls into the following three categories:

i) Funding for planned expenditure on projects and programmes over the period of the current medium term financial strategy

ii) Funding for specific projects and programmes beyond the current planning period

iii) As a general contingency or resource to meet other expenditure needs held in accordance with sound principles of good financial management (e.g. insurance).

- Provide information for the period of the medium term financial strategy
- 4.3.2 The above documents can be combined or published separately.

4.4 Acceptance of gifts or loans

- 4.4.1 The Authority may, in connection with the discharge of any of their functions, accept gifts of money and gifts or loans of other property on such terms as appear to the Authority to be appropriate.
- 4.4.2 The terms on which gifts or loans are accepted under paragraph 4.4.1 may include terms providing for the commercial sponsorship of any activity of the Authority, save that the Authority shall consult with the Chief Fire Officer before accepting sponsorship of any activity of the Service.

4.4.3 The Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner and the Deputy Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner will publish all disclosable interests, expenses they claim and any offers of hospitality whether they accept these or not.

4.5 Charging by the Authority

- 4.5.1 The Authority may charge a person for any action taken by the Authority in the United Kingdom or at sea or under the sea (not restricted to the territorial sea of the United Kingdom), and otherwise than for a commercial purpose.
- 4.5.2 However, subsection 4.5.1:
 - Authorises charging for extinguishing fires, or protecting life and property in the event of fires, only in respect of fires which are at sea or under the sea
 - Does not authorise charging for emergency medical assistance
 - Authorises charging for action taken in response to a report of a fire or explosion only if:
 - The report is of fire at premises that are not domestic premises (that is, premises occupied as a private dwelling);
 - The report is false;
 - The report is made as a direct or indirect result of warning equipment having malfunctioned or been misinstalled, and
 - There is a persistent problem with false reports of fire at the premises that are made as a direct or indirect result of warning equipment under common control having malfunctioned or been misinstalled
 - Does not authorise charging for rescuing individuals, or protecting individuals from serious harm, in the event of an emergency
 - Does not authorise charging for action taken in response to:
 - Emergencies resulting from events of widespread significance;
 - o Emergencies which have occurred as a direct result of severe weather, or
 - Emergencies resulting from road traffic accidents
 - Does not authorise charging for action taken to promote fire safety, except in relation to the giving of advice (other than the giving of advice, on request, about how to prevent fires and restrict their spread in buildings and other property, and the means of escape from buildings and other property in case of fire) in relation to premises where a trade, business or other undertaking is carried on (whether for profit or not)
 - Does not authorise charging for action taken by the Authority in its capacity as an enforcing authority for the purposes of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005
- 4.5.3 Subsection 5.4.1 authorises a charge to be imposed on, or recovered from, a person other than the person in respect of whom action is taken by the Authority.

4.5.4 Nothing in subsection 4.5.2:

a) Applies to charges for providing, under subsection 3.2.2, the services of any persons or equipment;

b) Affects the operation of reinforcement schemes or arrangements under subsection 8.9.8 or

c) affects any provision for payments to the Authority contained in arrangements for cooperation between the Authority and a public authority that is not a fire and rescue authority, or any person, other than a public authority, who exercises public functions. Before the Authority begins to charge for taking action of a particular description, the Authority must consult any persons the Authority considers appropriate.

- 4.5.5 If the Authority decides to charge for taking action of a particular description, the amount of the charge is to be set by the Authority and the Authority may charge different amounts (and may charge nothing) in different circumstances.
- 4.5.6 In setting the amount of a charge under subsection 4.5.1, the Authority must ensure that, taking one financial year with another, the Authority's income from charges does not exceed the cost to the Authority of taking the action for which charges are imposed. This duty applies separately in relation to each kind of action.

4.6 Precepts

- 4.6.1 The Authority is a major precepting authority for the purposes of Part 1 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.
- 4.6.2 Schedule 5 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 makes provision about the scrutiny of the Police, Fire and Crime Panel of a proposal from the Authority as to the issuing of a precept. The Schedule confers powers on the Police, Fire and Crime Panel to veto a proposed precept. The Police and Crime Panels (Precept and Chief Constable Appointments) Regulations 2012 attached as Schedule 13 to this Constitution make provision about the procedure to be followed.
- 4.6.3 The duty of billing authorities or major precepting authorities under the 1992 Act to consult persons or bodies representative of persons subject to non-domestic rates as regards hereditaments situated in the area does not apply to the Authority.

4.7 Budget calculations: report on robustness of estimates etc

- 4.7.1 When making calculations in accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992, the Authority's Chief Financial Officer must report to it on the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the calculations and the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves.
- 4.7.2 The Authority shall have regard to the report when making decisions about the calculations in connection with which it is made.

4.8 Achieving value for money

4.8.1 The Authority must manage its budgets and spend money properly and appropriately, and ensure the efficient and effective use of its resources, pursuing all feasible opportunities to contain costs whilst discharging its core duties effectively. The Authority should review regularly the numbers and deployment of firefighters and other staff to ensure that their fire and rescue service has a workforce that is commensurate with the risks it faces.

4.8.2 The Authority must ensure that financial decisions are taken with the advice and guidance of the Chief Financial Officer and that decisions are taken with an emphasis on delivering value for money to the public purse.

4.9 Emergency financial assistance

- 4.9.1 In the event where an emergency or disaster occurs involving destruction of or danger to life or property and, as a result, the fire and rescue service incurs expenditure on, or in connection with, the taking of immediate action (whether by the carrying out of works or otherwise) to safeguard life or property, or to prevent suffering or severe inconvenience, in its area or among its inhabitants, the Secretary of State may establish a scheme under section 155 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 for the giving of financial assistance in respect of that expenditure.
- 4.9.2 Financial assistance given pursuant to such a scheme shall take the form of grants paid by the Secretary of State with the consent of the Treasury and, subject to that, the terms and conditions of such a scheme shall be such as the Secretary of State considers appropriate to the circumstances of the particular emergency or disaster concerned.
- 4.9.3 Expenditure incurred by the Fire and Rescue Service may include expenditure incurred in defraying, or contributing towards defraying, expenditure incurred by a parish or community council.

4.10 Financial and Procurement Regulations

- 4.10.1 The management of the Authority's financial affairs will be conducted in accordance with Financial and Procurement Regulations set out in Schedule 15 to the Constitution.
- 4.10.2 Every contract made by the Authority will comply with the Financial and Procurement Regulations.

4.11 **Preventing Fraud and Corruption**

- 4.11.1 The Authority is firmly committed to dealing with fraud and corruption and will deal equally with both internal and external perpetrators.
- 4.11.2 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the development and maintenance of the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy.

4.12 Financial Reports

4.12.1 The Authority's Chief Financial Officer shall make a report if it appears to them that the Authority, a committee of the Authority, a person holding any office or employment under the Authority, a member of the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service or a joint committee on which the authority is represented:

(a) has made or is about to make a decision which involves or would involve the Authority incurring expenditure which is unlawful;

(b) has taken or is about to take a course of action which, if pursued to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency on the part of the Authority, or

(c) is about to enter an item of account the entry of which is unlawful.

- 4.12.2 The Authority's Chief Financial Officer shall make a report if it appears to them that the expenditure of the Authority incurred (including the expenditure it proposes to incur) in a financial year is likely to exceed the resources (including sums borrowed) available to it to meet that expenditure.
- 4.12.3 It shall be the duty of the Authority's Chief Financial officer, in preparing a report in pursuance of subsections 4.12.1 and 4.12.2, to consult as far as practicable with the Chief Fire Officer as the Authority's head of paid service under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and with the PFCC's Chief Executive as the Authority's monitoring officer under section 5 of that Act.
- 4.12.4 Where the Chief Financial Officer has made a report under this Article, they shall send a copy of it to the person who, at the time the report is made, has the duty to audit the Authority's accounts.
- 4.12.5 Unless the Chief Financial Officer is unable to act owing to absence or illness, the duties of the Chief Financial Officer described above shall be performed by them personally.
- 4.12.6 If the Chief Financial Officer is unable to act owing to absence or illness, their duties described above shall be performed:
 - (a) by such member of their staff as is a member of one or more of the following bodies -
 - (i) the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
 - (ii) the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland
 - (iii) the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants
 - (iv) the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
 - (v) the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland
 - (vi) the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants

or any other body of accountants established in the United Kingdom and for the time being approved by the Secretary of State for the purpose of this section

and is for the time being nominated by the Chief Financial Officer for the purposes of this section, or

(b) if no member of staff is a member of one or more of these bodies, by such member of their staff as is for the time being nominated by the Chief Financial Officer for the purposes of this section.

- 4.12.7 Where the Chief Financial Officer makes a report to the Authority in accordance with the provisions above, the Authority must consider the report and decide whether it agrees or disagrees with the views contained in the report and what action (if any) the Authority proposes to take in consequence of it. The consideration and decision-making must be concluded not later than the end of the period of 21 days beginning with the day on which copies of the report are sent.
- 4.12.8 As soon as practicable after the Authority has concluded the consideration of the Chief Financial Officer's report, the Authority must prepare a report which specifies:
 - (a) what action (if any) the Authority has taken in response to the report;

(b) what action (if any) the Authority proposes to take in response to the report, and

(c) the reasons for taking the action specified in the report or, as the case may be, for taking no action.

- 4.12.9 As soon as practicable after the Authority has prepared a report under subsection 4.9.8, the Authority must arrange for a copy to be sent to:
 - (a) the Chief Financial Officer;

(b) the person who, at the time the report is made, has the duty to audit the Authority's accounts, and

- (c) each member of the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel.
- 4.12.10 The Authority's Chief Financial Officer must notify the Authority's auditor of any decisions taken by the Authority in accordance with the provisions above.

4.13 **Power to Trade**

- 4.13.1 The Authority is authorised to do for a commercial purpose anything which they are authorised to do for the purpose of carrying on any of their ordinary functions.
- 4.13.2 However the Authority is not authorised to do for a commercial purpose anything in relation to a person if a statutory provision requires the Authority to do those things in relation to the person.
- 4.13.3 The Authority has the power to trade and make a profit but must ensure that its commercial activities are performed in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011), the Local Government Order 2009 and the Local Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970. It must also ensure that such commercial activities are exercised through a company within the meaning of Part 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.
- 4.13.4 The Authority must ensure that any actions taken in respect of a trading company that it establishes or participates in is considered against the requirements of competition law. Any financial assistance in cash or in kind given by the Authority to such a trading company should be for a limited period, set against the expectation of later returns, and re-paid by those returns. Any assistance should be provided under a formal agreement with the company and must be entered into for a commercial purpose. Before entering into such an agreement, the Authority should satisfy itself that it will meet its objectives in terms of its business plan. The parties should also consider any State Aid implications and obtain their own expert advice where necessary.
- 4.13.5 Before exercising the power to trade the Authority shall:
 - a) Prepare a business case in support of the proposed exercise of that power. The business case must include:
 - i. The objectives of the business.
 - ii. The investment and resources required to achieve those objectives.
 - iii. Any risks the business might face and how significant these risks are.

- iv. The expected financial results of the business, together with any other relevant outcomes that the business is expected to achieve.
- b) Recover the costs of any accommodation, goods, service, staff or any other thing that it supplies to a company in pursuance of any agreement or arrangement to facilitate the exercise of the power set out in 4.13.1.

4.14 Emergency Services Collaboration Agreements

- 4.14.1 A collaboration agreement may be made by one or more persons as outlined below:
 - (a) an ambulance trust in England,
 - (b) a fire and rescue body in England, and
 - (c) a police body in England.
- 4.14.2 A collaboration agreement is an agreement in writing that sets out how the parties to the agreement will work together in discharging their functions.
- 4.14.3 This does not prevent a person other than a person listed above from being a party to a collaboration agreement.
- 4.14.4 The provisions above are subject to specific restrictions set out in the Policing and Crime Act 2017.
- 4.14.5 The Chief Fire Officer may not enter into a collaboration agreement without the Authority's consent.
- 4.14.6 The Authority must consult the Chief Fire Officer before entering into a collaboration agreement.
- 4.14.7 A collaboration agreement may, in particular, make provision about the use, for the purposes of the agreement, of a power of a party to the agreement to make arrangements for the exercise of the party's functions by another person, or to exercise functions jointly with another person.
- 4.14.8 A collaboration agreement may include provision for payments to be made by the parties to the agreement for the purposes of facilitating that agreement.
- 4.14.9 A party to a collaboration agreement may do anything that is necessary or expedient for the purposes of facilitating the agreement, subject to any restriction imposed on a party by, or by virtue of, an enactment or rule of law.
- 4.14.10 A collaboration agreement may not include provision for the delegation of a function where that function may not otherwise be delegated.
- 4.14.11 The delegation of a function pursuant to a collaboration agreement does not affect the responsibility of any party to the agreement for the exercise of its functions.
- 4.14.12 A collaboration agreement must make provision for a party to withdraw from the agreement where, in the view of that party, the agreement is no longer in the interests of its efficiency or effectiveness.
- 4.14.13 A collaboration agreement may varied with the agreement of all the parties to the agreement, or replaced by a subsequent collaboration agreement.

Article 5 - Conduct

5.1 Nolan Principles

- 5.1.1 There is an expectation that the Commissioner, their Deputy and all employees will abide by the seven principles set out in the publication *Standards in Public Life: First Report of the Committee on Standards in Public Life* (known as "The Nolan Principles"). The Commissioner and Deputy will also hold themselves to the Policing Code of Ethics.
- 5.1.2 The Nolan Principles are
 - a) **Selflessness** Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. They should not do so in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends.
 - b) **Integrity** Holders of public office should not place themselves under any financial or other obligation to outside individuals or organisations that might seek to influence them in the performance of their official duties.
 - c) **Objectivity** In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, holders of public office should make choices on merit.
 - d) **Accountability** Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to the public and must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their office.
 - e) **Openness** Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all the decisions and actions that they take. They should give reasons for their decisions and restrict information only when the wider public interest clearly demands.
 - f) **Honesty** Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating to their public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest.
 - g) **Leadership** Holders of public office should promote and support these principles by leadership and example.
- 5.1.3 In any case relating to the Commissioner or their Deputy's conduct, these principles will be taken into account by relevant bodies including the Independent Office for Police Conduct (IOPC) and the Police, Fire and Crime Panel.

5.2 Code of Conduct

- 5.2.1 The Authority will approve and publish Codes of Conduct. These Codes of Conduct sets out the professional and ethical standards expected of the Commissioner and their Deputy as well as all employees of the Authority.
- 5.2.2 All staff and officers shall comply with the Code of Conduct.
- 5.2.3 The Commissioner and their Deputy (if appointed) will, within 28 days of taking office, enter in the register of disclosable interests maintained by the Monitoring Officer every disclosable interest as set out in the register, and will keep this up to date throughout their term of office.
- 5.2.4 The register of interests and gifts and hospitality shall be published on the Commissioner's website.

5.3 Conflicts of Interest

- 5.3.1 The Authority, in any case where the interests of exercising their functions may conflict with any disclosable or other interest which has become known to them, shall as soon as possible declare such conflict as is required in accordance with the paragraph 3 of the Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) Order 2011 (see Schedule 5 to this Constitution).
- 5.3.2 The Authority shall determine whether the conflict of interest is so substantial that the function should not be exercised personally but should be delegated or dealt with in some other manner to ensure the conflict of interest does not arise.

5.4 Complaints and Conduct Matters which relate to the Commissioner or their Deputy

- 5.4.1 Where there is a complaint, serious complaint or conduct matter in relation to the Commissioner or their Deputy, it will be investigated:
 - a) By the Police, Fire and Crime Panel;
 - b) By the Independent Office for Police Conduct (IOPC), or
 - c) By a police force, in an investigation that is under the direction of the Independent Office for Police Conduct.
- 5.4.2 A "serious complaint", which means a complaint made about conduct which constitutes or involves, or appears to constitute or involve, the commission of a criminal offence, will be investigated by the IOPC or an independent police force, though regulations may make provision about the receipt or initial handling of serious complaints or conduct matters otherwise than by the IOPC or a police force.
- 5.4.3 Regulations may make provision about circumstances in which serious complaints or conduct matters ate not to be investigated, and circumstances in which investigations of serious complaints or conduct matters are to be discontinued, including provision about the determination of such matters (whether by the IOPC, a police force or otherwise).
- 5.4.4 Other complaints and conduct matters which are not, or cease to be, investigated by the IOPC or a police force will usually be investigated by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel which will conduct an informal resolution of complaints in accordance with the Police, Fire and Crime Panel's procedure for conducting an informal resolution of complaints, as set out at Schedule 17. However regulations may make provision about the receipt or initial handling of qualifying complaints other than by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel.
- 5.4.5 Regulations may not provide for the PFCC or Deputy PFCC to cease to hold office, or to be required to cease to hold office
- 5.4.6 Complaints against officers and staff of the service will be handled as laid out in the ECFRS Compliments and Complaints Policy.

Article 6 - Functions of the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel

6.1 Functions of the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel

- 6.1.1 In accordance with section 28 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, there is a Police, Fire and Crime Panel for Essex.
- 6.1.2 The Police, Fire and Crime Panel is empowered to maintain a regular check and balance on the performance of the Authority. It has:

(a) the power of veto, by a two-thirds majority of the total Panel membership, over the level of the Authority's proposed precept;

(b) the power of veto, by a two-thirds majority of the total Panel membership, over the Authority's proposed candidate for Chief Fire Officer;

(c) the power to ask Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) for a professional view when the Authority intends to dismiss a Chief Fire Officer;

(d) the power to require relevant reports and information in the Authority's possession (except those which are operationally sensitive) to enable it to fulfil its statutory obligations;

(e) the power to require the Authority to attend the Panel to answer questions;

(f) the power to appoint an acting PFCC where the incumbent PFCC is incapacitated, resigns or is disqualified, and

(g) responsibility for complaints against the Authority, although serious complaints and conduct matters must be passed to the Independent Office for Police Conduct (IOPC) in line with legislation.

- 6.1.3 The functions of the Panel must be exercised with a view to supporting the effective exercise of the functions of the Authority within the legal framework. The Panel must review or scrutinise decisions and actions taken by the Authority and make reports or recommendations to the Authority with respect to the discharge of their functions.
- 6.1.4 The Police, Fire and Crime Panel must publish any reports or recommendations made to the Authority. It is for the Panel to determine the manner in which such reports or recommendations are to be published.
- 6.1.5 It is the duty of relevant local authorities in Essex to appoint the Police, Fire and Crime Panel. Relevant information regarding the Panel is attached at Schedule 16

6.2 Power of the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel to require attendance and information

6.2.1 The Police, Fire and Crime Panel may require the Authority, and members of their staff, to attend before the Panel (at reasonable notice) to answer any questions which appear to the Panel to be necessary in order for it to carry out its functions in relation to the Fire and Rescue Service.

- 6.2.2 The Police, Fire and Crime Panel may require the Authority to respond in writing (within a reasonable period determined by the Panel) to any report or recommendation made by the Panel to the Authority.
- 6.2.3 The Authority must comply with any requirement imposed by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel under subsections 6.2.1 and 6.2.2.
- 6.2.4 Members of staff of the Authority must comply with any requirement imposed on them under subsection 6.2.1. However nothing in subsection 6.2.1 requires a member of the Authority's staff to give any evidence, or produce any document, which discloses advice given to the Authority by that person.
- 6.2.5 If the Police, Fire and Crime Panel requires the Authority to attend before the Panel, the Panel may (at reasonable notice) request the Chief Fire Officer to attend before the Panel on the same occasion to answer any question which appears to the Panel to be necessary in order for it to carry out its functions.
- 6.2.6 The Information Sharing Protocol between the Authority and the Police, Fire and Crime Panel for Essex sets out the arrangements for sharing information. This is included in Schedule 7 to this Constitution.
- 6.2.7 The Terms of Reference of the Police, Fire and Crime Panel are set out in Schedule 16.

6.3 Suspension of the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner

6.3.1 The Police, Fire and Crime Panel may suspend the PFCC if:

(a) the PFCC has been charged in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man with an offence, and

- (b) the offence is one which carried a maximum term of imprisonment exceeding two years.
- 6.3.2 The suspension of the PFCC ceases to have effect upon the occurrence of the earliest of these events:
 - (a) the charge being dropped;
 - (b) the PFCC being acquitted of the offence;

(c) the PFCC being convicted of the offence but not being disqualified under Article 7.8 of this Constitution by virtue of the conviction, or

- (d) the termination of the suspension by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel.
- 6.3.3 For the purposes of salary, pensions and allowances in respect of times during a period of suspension, the PFCC is to be treated as not holding that office during that suspension.
- 6.3.4 In this Article, references to an offence which carries a maximum term of imprisonment exceeding two years are references:

(a) to an offence which carries a maximum term in the case of a person who has attained the age of 18 years, or

(b) to an offence for which, in the case of such a person, the sentence is fixed by law as life imprisonment.

Article 7 - Fire and Rescue Authority Appointments

7.1 Date of vacancy in the office of PFCC

7.1.1 A vacancy in the office of PFCC occurs:

(a) in the case of a vacancy in consequence of the failure of, or other irregularity in relation to, an election at the time specified by the Secretary of State in an order made under section 58 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011;

- (b) in the case of resignation, on receipt of the notice of resignation by the appropriate officer;
- (c) in the case of death, on the date of death;

(d) in any case within subsection 7.1.2, on the date on which the office of PFCC is declared to have been vacated by the High Court or by the appropriate officer, as the case may be.

7.1.2 The cases referred to in subsection 7.1.1 (d) are:

(a) where the person elected as PFCC fails to make and deliver a declaration of acceptance of office in accordance with section 70 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011;

(b) where a vacancy arises under section 63 of the Act (incapacity of PFCC: acting PFCC acting for 6 months);

(c) where a person becomes disqualified from being a PFCC, or from being the PFCC for Essex.

- 7.1.3 The appropriate officer must give the public notice of a vacancy in the office of PFCC for the Essex police area.
- 7.1.4 The appropriate officer must give notice of a vacancy in the office of PFCC to the police area returning officer.
- 7.1.5 Any notice of a vacancy must be given as soon as practicable after the date on which the vacancy occurs.
- 7.1.6 An election must be held to fill the vacancy.
- 7.1.7 If the vacancy occurs within the period of six months ending with the day of the poll at the next ordinary election, no election is to be held in respect of the vacancy and, accordingly, the office is to be left unfilled until that ordinary election.
- 7.1.8 In the circumstances described in subsection 7.1.7, the Police, Fire and Crime Panel will appoint an Acting Commissioner to act as the PFCC in the intervening period, according to the procedure set out in Article 7.4.

7.2 Declaration of the Commissioner as the Fire and Rescue Authority

7.2.1 A person who is the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority may not act in that office unless the person has made and delivered to the appropriate officer a declaration of acceptance of office for the role of Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex, under section 70 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, when not ineligible by virtue of subsection 7.2.4.

- 7.2.2 If a person fails to make and deliver a declaration in accordance with subsection 7.2.1 within the period of two months beginning with the day after the election, the office of the PFCC for Essex becomes vacant at the end of the period.
- 7.2.3 Any declaration must be made before:
 - (a) the appropriate officer;

(b) a Justice of the Peace or Magistrate in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man, or

- (c) a Commissioner appointed to administer oaths on the Senior Courts.
- 7.2.4 A person is ineligible to make or give a declaration of acceptance of office in respect of the office of PFCC for Essex at any time when the person is a member of:
 - (a) the House of Commons
 - (b) the Scottish Parliament;
 - (c) the National Assembly for Wales;
 - (d) the Northern Ireland Assembly;
 - (e) the European Parliament
- 7.2.5 No salary, and no payment towards the provision of superannuation benefits can be paid under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 to or in respect of the PFCC until the PFCC has complied with the requirements of subsection 7.2.1.
- 7.2.6 Article 7.2.5 does not affect any entitlement of the PFCC to payments in respect of the period before the PFCC complies with the requirements of subsection 7.2.1 once the PFCC has complied with those requirements.
- 7.2.7 The "Appropriate Officer" for the purposes of Article 7.2 is the Head of Paid Service of the local authority designated for the Essex police area by the Secretary of State. The "Head of Paid Service" means the person designated by the Council under section 4 (1) (a) of the Local Government Act 1989.

7.3 Resignation of the PFCC

- 7.3.1 The PFCC may at any time resign office by giving notice to the appropriate officer.
- 7.3.2 Any such resignation takes effect on the appropriate officer's receipt of the notice.

7.4 Appointment and powers of an Acting Commissioner

- 7.4.1 The Police, Fire and Crime Panel must appoint a person to act as the PFCC for Essex (the **"Acting Commissioner"**) if:
 - (a) no person holds the office of PFCC for Essex;
 - (b) the PFCC for Essex is incapacitated, or
 - (c) the PFCC for Essex is suspended in accordance with subsection 6.3

- 7.4.2 The Police, Fire and Crime Panel may appoint a person as Acting Commissioner only if the person is a member of the PFCC's staff at the time of the appointment.
- 7.4.3 In appointing a person as Acting Commissioner in a case where the PFCC is incapacitated, the Police, Fire and Crime Panel must have regard to any representations made by the Commissioner in relation to the appointment.
- 7.4.4 All of the functions of the fire and rescue authority are exercisable by the Acting Commissioner during that period, apart from the function of issuing or varying a Fire and Rescue Plan. The Acting Commissioner may deal with any property or rights vested in the Commissioner in that period as if vested in the Acting Commissioner.
- 7.4.5 The appointment of an Acting Commissioner ceases to have effect upon the earliest of these events:
 - (a) the election of a person as PFCC;

(b) the termination by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel, or by the Acting Commissioner, of the appointment of the Acting Commissioner;

(c) in a case where the Acting Commissioner is appointed because the PFCC is incapacitated, the Commissioner ceasing to be incapacitated;

(d) in a case where the Acting Commissioner is appointed because the PFCC is suspended, the Commissioner ceasing to be suspended.

- 7.4.6 In a case where the Acting Commissioner is appointed because the PFCC is incapacitated or suspended and a vacancy subsequently occurs in the office of the PFCC, the occurrence of that vacancy does not affect the appointment of the Acting Commissioner (and accordingly subsection 7.4.5 (c) or (d) does not apply).
- 7.4.7 For the purposes of this Article:

(a) a PFCC is incapacitated if they are unable to exercise the functions of the Commissioner, except where the Commissioner is unable to exercise those functions only because they have yet to give a declaration of office under section 70 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, and

(b) it is for the Police, Fire and Crime Panel for Essex to determine whether the PFCC for Essex is incapacitated.

7.4.8 Subject to subsection 7.4.4, a reference to any enactment to a PFCC includes a reference to an Acting Commissioner.

7.5 Vacancy where the Acting Commissioner acts for the maximum of six months

- 7.5.1 This Article applies where an Acting Commissioner is appointed under Article 7.4 to act for the PFCC for Essex because the PFCC is incapacitated, and the PFCC for Essex does not cease to be incapacitated during the period of six months beginning on the day on which the Acting Commissioner is appointed.
- 7.5.2 At the end of that six month period, the PFCC ceases to be the PFCC and, accordingly, the office of PFCC for Essex becomes vacant.

7.6 Disqualification from election as Commissioner

7.6.1 A person is disqualified from being elected to the office of PFCC for Essex at any election unless:

(a) the person has attained the age of 18 when nominated as a candidate at the election, and

(b) on each relevant day, the person is registered in the register of local government electors for an electoral area in respect of an address in the Essex police area.

- 7.6.2 In this Article, "relevant day", in relation to a person who is a candidate at an election, means:
 - (a) the day on which the person is nominated as a candidate at the election, and
 - (b) the day of the poll at the election.
- 7.6.3 A person is disqualified from being elected to the office of PFCC for Essex at an ordinary election if the person has been nominated as a candidate for election as a Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) or PFCC for any other police area at that election.
- 7.6.4 A person is disqualified from being elected to the office of PFCC for Essex at an election other than an ordinary election if:
 - (a) the person is the PCC / PFCC for any other police area, or

(b) the person has been nominated as a candidate for election as a PCC / PFCC for any other police area for which an election is to be held on the same day.

7.7 Disqualification from election or holding office as the Commissioner – police grounds

7.7.1 A person is disqualified from being elected as, or being, a Commissioner if the person:

(a) is disqualified from being a member of the House of Commons under section 1 (1) (d) of the House of Commons Disqualification Act 1975 (members of police forces for police areas in the United Kingdom);

- (b) is a member of:
 - (i) The British Transport Police Force;
 - (ii) the Civil Nuclear Constabulary
- (c) is a Special Constable appointed:

(i) under section 27 of the Police Act 1996 for a police area or the City of London police area;

(ii) under section 25 of the Railways and Transport Safety Act 2003 (British Transport Police Force);

(d) is a member of staff of the Chief Officer of police of any police force maintained for a police area;

(e) is a member of staff of:

(i) a Police and Crime Commissioner or a Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner;

(ii) the Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime;

(f) is the Mayor of London;

(g) is a member of the Common Council of the City of London or a member of staff of that Council in its capacity as a police authority;

(h) is a member (including a member who is chairman or Chief Executive), or a member of staff of:

(i) the British Transport Police Authority;

- (ii) the Civil Nuclear Police Authority;
- (iii) the Independent Office for Police Conduct;
- (iv) the Serious Organised Crime Agency;
- (v) the National Policing Improvement Agency;
- (i) holds any employment in an entity which is under the control of:

(i) a local policing body;

(ii) any body mentioned in paragraph (h) above;

(iii) the Chief Officer of police for any police force maintained for a police area or the City of London police area;

(iv) the Chief Officer of police for any police force mentioned in paragraph (b) above

in accordance with regulations made by the Secretary of State.

7.7.2 In this Article, "member of staff", in relation to any person ("A") includes a person ("B") who works for A:

(a) under a contract of employment;

- (b) under a contract for services, or
- (c) in accordance with arrangements made between B's employer and A;

and for this purpose works for A if B provides services for A under the direction and control of A.

7.7.3 Subsection 7.7.1 (e) does not prevent a PFCC:

(a) from being elected as PFCC at an ordinary election of PCCs / PFCCs, or

(b) from being elected at an election held to fill a vacancy in the office of the PFCC if, on the day on which the person is nominated as a candidate at the election and at all times

between that day and the declaration of the result of the election, the deputy is acting as PFCC under Article 7.4.

7.7.4 If a person elected as the Commissioner is disqualified from being, or being elected as a Commissioner, that individual ceases to act as Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority.

7.8 Disqualification from election or holding office as the Commissioner – other grounds

- 7.8.1 A person is disqualified from being elected as, or being, a Commissioner unless the person satisfies the citizenship condition set out in section 68 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.
- 7.8.2 A person is disqualified from being elected as, or being, a Commissioner if the person:

(a) is disqualified from being a member of the House of Commons under section 1 (1) (a) to (c) of the House of Commons Disqualification Act 1975 (judges, civil servants, members of the armed forces), or

- (b) is a member of the legislature of any country or territory outside the United Kingdom.
- 7.8.3 A person is disqualified from being elected as, or being, a Commissioner if:
 - (a) the person is the subject of:

(i) a debt relief restrictions order under paragraph 1 of Schedule 4ZB to the Insolvency Act 1986;

- (ii) an interim debt relief restrictions order under paragraph 5 of that Schedule;
- (iii) a bankruptcy restrictions order under paragraph 1 of Schedule 4A to that Act;
- (iv) a bankruptcy restrictions interim order under paragraph 5 of that Schedule;

(b) a debt relief restrictions undertaking has effect in respect of that person under paragraph 7 of Schedule 4ZB to that Act;

(c) the person has been convicted in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands or the Isle of man of any imprisonable offence (whether or not sentenced to a term of imprisonment in respect of the offence; or

(d) the person is in capable of being elected as a member of the House of Commons, or is required to vacate a seat in the House of Commons, under Part 3 of the Representation of the People Act 1983 (consequences of corrupt or illegal practices).

- 7.8.4 For the purposes of subsection 7.8.3 (c):
 - (a) "imprisonable offence" means an offence -

(i) for which a person who has attained the age of 18 years may be sentenced to a term of imprisonment, or

(ii) for which, in the case of such a person, the sentence is fixed by law as life imprisonment.

(b) a person is to be treated as having been convicted:

(i) on the expiry of the ordinary period allowed for an appeal or application in respect of the conviction, or

(ii) if an appeal or application is made in respect of the conviction, when the appeal or application is finally disposed of or abandoned or fails by reason of nonprosecution.

- 7.8.5 A person is disqualified from being elected as, or being, a Commissioner if the person:
 - (a) is a member of staff of a relevant council
 - (i) under a contract of employment,
 - (ii) under a contract for services, or

(iii) in accordance with arrangements made between person B's employer and person A, and for this purpose person B works for A if B provides services for A under the direction and control of A, or

- (b) holds any employment in an entity which is under the control of a relevant council.
- (c) Relevant councils are those councils for an area which, or any part of which, lies in the Essex police area:
 - (i) a County Council;
 - (ii) a County Borough Council;
 - (iii) a District Council;
 - (iv) a Parish or Town Council;
 - (v) a Community Council
- 7.8.6 Nothing in subsection 7.8.5 should be taken to disqualify a person by virtue of being a teacher, or otherwise employed, in a school or other educational institution maintained as assisted by a relevant council.
- 7.8.7 If a person elected as the Commissioner is disqualified from being, or being elected as a Commissioner, that individual ceases to act as Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority.

7.9 Disqualification from holding office as the Commissioner

- 7.9.1 A person becomes disqualified from being a Commissioner upon becoming a member of:
 - (a) the House of Commons
 - (b) the Scottish Parliament;
 - (c) the National Assembly for Wales;
 - (d) the Northern Ireland Assembly;

(e) the European Parliament

7.10 Validity of acts despite any disqualifications

7.10.1 Any acts of the person elected as the PFCC for Essex who acts in that office are, despite that disqualification from being, or being elected as, a PFCC or the PFCC for Essex, as valid and effectual as if the person had not been disqualified.

7.11 Appointment of persons not employed by the Authority

- 7.11.1 This Article applies where the Authority is required or authorised by any Act to designate a person as having specified duties or responsibilities.
- 7.11.2 The Authority may appoint or designate a person whether or not the person is already a member of staff of the Authority.

7.12 Engagement and re-engagement of senior officers

- 7.12.1 All posts at Brigade or Area Manager level and above, and those with comparable responsibilities to those roles, must be open to competition nationally, and the Authority must take account of this in its workforce planning.
- 7.12.2`The Authority must not re-appoint officers at Brigade or Area Manager level and above, or those with comparable responsibilities to those roles, after retirement to their previous, or a similar, post save for in exceptional circumstances when such a decision is necessary in the interests of public safety. Any such appointment must be transparent, justifiable and time limited.
- 7.12.3 In the exceptional circumstance that a re-appointment is necessary in the interests of public safety, this should be a published decision by the Commissioner as the Authority. The reason why the re-appointment was necessary in the interests of public safety, and alternative approaches were deemed not appropriate, must be published and the relevant officer's pension must be abated until they cease to be employed by a fire and rescue authority.

Article 8 - Senior Staff and Statutory Appointments

8.1 Chief Fire Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Head of Paid Service and Monitoring Officer

- 8.1.1 The Authority will appoint a person to be the Chief Fire Officer who is responsible for managing the Fire and Rescue Service. This role does not have to be operational but includes managing the personnel, services and equipment secured by the Authority for the purposes of carrying out functions conferred on it by the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004, Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and other enactments.
- 8.1.2 The Authority will appoint one of their officers to be responsible for the proper administration of their financial affairs (Chief Financial Officer), who must be a member of an accountancy body specified in section 113 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988. The Chief Financial Officer will fulfil the duties outlined in section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 for the Authority.
- 8.1.3 In addition there is the duty of the Authority to designate:

- a) One of their officers to be the Head of Paid Service (who will be the same person who is the Chief Fire Officer) who will fulfil the duties outlined in section 4 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.
- b) One of their officers to be the Monitoring Officer who will fulfil the duties outlined in section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 for the Commissioner.

8.2 Functions of the Chief Fire Officer

- 8.2.1 The Chief Fire Officer is the person with overall responsibility for leading and managing the Fire and Rescue Service.
- 8.2.2 The Fire and Rescue Service is the personnel, services and equipment secured by the Authority for the purpose of carrying out the functions of the service.
- 8.2.3 The Chief Fire Officer is responsible for and will be held to account for the delivery of the functions that have been delegated to them by the Authority.
- 8.2.4 The Chief Fire Officer must, in carrying out their functions, have regard to the Authority's Integrated Risk Management Plan and any objectives and priorities outlined in a strategic plan, including the Fire and Rescue Plan.
- 8.2.5 The Authority should give due regard to the professional advice of the Chief Fire Officer while developing the Integrated Risk Management Plan and making decisions affecting the Fire and Rescue Service.
- 8.2.6 The Chief Fire Officer must give the Authority such information on fire and rescue matters as the Authority may require the Chief Fire Officer to give. Such information must be in the form (if any) specified by the Authority.
- 8.2.7 The Authority may arrange for such information to be published, or require the Chief Fire Officer to arrange for such information to be published. It is for the Authority to determine the manner in which the information is to be published.

8.3 Functions of the Head of Paid Service

- 8.3.1 Section 4 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 provides that it is the duty of the Authority to designate one of their officers as its Head of Paid Service. The Authority designates the Chief Fire Officer as the Head of Paid Service.
- 8.3.2 It is the duty of the Head of Paid Service, where they consider it appropriate to do so, to prepare a report setting out their proposals as to:
 - a) The manner in which the discharge by the Authority of their different functions is co-ordinated.
 - b) The number and grades of staff required by the Authority for the discharge of their functions.
 - c) The organisation of the Authority's employees.
 - d) The appointment and proper management of the Authority's employees.
- 8.3.3 It shall be the duty of the Head of Paid Service, as soon as practicable after they have prepared a report under this section, to arrange for a copy of it to be sent to the Authority and members of the Police, Fire and Crime Panel.

- 8.3.4 It shall be the duty of the Authority to consider any report under this section by the Head of Paid Service and to do so no later than three months after the Authority is sent a copy of the report.
- 8.3.5 It is the duty of the Authority to provide the Head of Paid Service with such staff, accommodation and other resources as are, in their opinion, sufficient to allow their duties under this section to be performed.

8.4 Functions of the Monitoring Officer

- 8.4.1 The Monitoring Officer will lead on the promotion of good governance.
- 8.4.2 The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up to date version of the Constitution and will ensure that it is widely available for consultation by the Authority, the Chief Fire Officer, their staff and the public.
- 8.4.3 After consulting with the Chief Financial Officer, the Monitoring Officer will report to the Authority and to the Police, Fire and Crime Panel if they consider that any proposal, decision or omission by the Authority, by any committee or sub-committee of the Authority, by any person holding office or employment under the Authority, or by any joint committee on which the Authority is represented has given rise, or would likely give rise to unlawfulness or contravention of any code of practice made or approved by or under any enactment. Such a report will have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being implemented until the report has been considered.
- 8.4.4 It shall be the duty of the Authority to consider any report under this Article by the Monitoring Officer or their deputy no later than three months after the Authority is sent the report.
- 8.4.5 The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct through provision of support to the governance boards.
- 8.4.6 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that decisions of the Authority, together with the reasons for those decisions and relevant staff reports and background papers, are made publicly available as soon as possible.
- 8.4.7 The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget to the Authority.
- 8.4.8 Where requested so do to, the Monitoring Officer will exercise powers and duties delegated by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel in relation to complaints against the Commissioner and / or their Deputy in undertaking their fire and rescue functions. This may include the receipt of complaints, the recording of them and notification to the Police, Fire and Crime Panel in accordance with the relevant regulations.
- 8.4.9 The duties of the Authority's Monitoring Officer under this Article shall be performed by tem personally or, where they are unable to act owing to absence or illness, personally by such member of their staff as they have for the time being nominated as their deputy for the purposes of this section.
- 8.4.10 The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Financial Officer.
- 8.4.11 The Authority will provide to the Monitoring Officer such staff, accommodation and other resources as are in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer sufficient to allow their duties to be performed, in accordance with the provisions with the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.

8.4.12 The Monitoring Officer shall have the ability to appoint a deputy in accordance with the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.

8.5 Functions of the Chief Financial Officer

- 8.5.1 After consulting with the Chief Fire Officer and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Financial Officer will report to the Authority and the external auditor if they consider that any proposal, decision or course of action will involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency, or if the Authority is about to enter an item of account unlawfully.
- 8.5.2 The Chief Financial Officer will have responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs and ensure the maintenance of an efficient and effective internal audit function.
- 8.5.3 The Chief Financial Officer will take responsibility for the strategic direction and scrutiny of the fire and rescue service's budget for the Authority.
- 8.5.4 The Chief Financial Officer will contribute to the corporate management of the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service, in particular through the provision of professional financial advice.
- 8.5.5 The Chief Financial Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and the budget and will support and advise the Authority and their staff in their respective roles.
- 8.5.6 The Chief Financial Officer will provide financial information to the media, members of the public and the community.
- 8.5.7 The Chief Financial Officer will ensure that, in carrying out their functions, the Authority has regard to and undertakes their financial governance in accordance with the guidance in the Financial Management Code of Practice issued by the Secretary of State attached as Schedule 8 to this Constitution.
- 8.5.8 The Chief Financial Officer shall not be the Monitoring Officer.
- 8.5.9 The Chief Financial Officer shall have the ability to appoint a deputy in accordance with the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.
- 8.5.10 The Authority will provide to the Chief Financial Officer such staff, accommodation and other resources as are in the opinion of the Chief Financial Officer sufficient to allow their statutory duties to be performed.

8.6 Chief Fire Officer Appointment, Suspension and Dismissal Process

- 8.6.1 The Authority appoints the Chief Fire Officer.
- 8.6.2 The Authority may suspend from duty the Chief Fire Officer.
- 8.6.3 The Authority may dismiss the Chief Fire Officer.
- 8.6.4 The Authority's actions in appointing, suspending or removing the Chief Fire Officer must comply with Part 2 of The Fire and Rescue Authority (Police and Crime Commissioner) (Application of Local Policing Provisions, Inspection, Powers to Trade and Consequential Amendments) Order 2017. These provisions are set out in Schedule 11 to this Constitution.

8.7 Chief Financial Officer Appointment Process

- 8.7.1 The Authority must appoint a person to be responsible for the proper administration of the Authority's financial affairs (a "Chief Financial Officer").
- 8.7.2 The Authority must appoint a person to act as the Chief Financial Officer if and for as long as:
 - a) That post is vacant, or
 - b) The holder of that post is, in the Authority's opinion, unable to carry out the duties of that post.
- 8.7.3 Section 113 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (qualifications of responsible officer) applies to a person appointed under subsections 8.71 and 8.7.2 as it applies to the persons having responsibility for the administration of financial affairs mentioned in that section.
- 8.7.4 The appointment process to fill the post of Chief Financial Officer, which must be complied with, are set out in Schedule 12

8.8 Appointment of a Deputy Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner

- 8.8.1 The PFCC may appoint a person as the Deputy PFCC and, subject to Article 3.11, arrange for the Deputy PFCC to exercise any function of the PFCC.
- 8.8.2 The PFCC must notify the Police, Fire and Crime Panel of the proposed appointment and of the following information:
 - a) The name of the person the PFCC is proposing to appoint ("the candidate");
 - b) The criteria used to assess the suitability of the candidate for the appointment;
 - c) Why the candidate satisfies those criteria, and
 - d) The terms and conditions on which the candidate is to be appointed.
- 8.8.3 The Panel must review the proposed appointment.
- 8.8.4 The Panel must make a report to the PFCC on the proposed appointment. The report must include a recommendation to the PFCC as to whether or not the candidate should be appointed
- 8.8.5 The Panel must comply with subsection 8.8.3 and 8.8.4 within the period of three weeks beginning with the day on which the Panel receives the notification from the PFCC of the proposed appointment. In calculating the period of three weeks, any relevant post-election period is to be ignored. For that purpose, "relevant post-election period" means the period that:

a) begins with the day of the poll at an ordinary election of the PFCC under section 50 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, and

b) ends with the day on which the person elected as PFCC delivers a declaration of acceptance of office under section 70 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.

- 8.8.6 The Police, Fire and Crime Panel must hold a confirmation hearing before making a report and recommendation to the PFCC in relation to a proposed appointment. For the purposes of this Article, a "confirmation hearing" is a meeting of the Panel, held in public, at which the candidate is requested to appear for the purpose of answering questions relating to the appointment.
- 8.8.7 References in this Article to a person appearing at a meeting of the Panel are references to the person attending the meeting in person, or not attending the meeting in person but participating in the proceedings at the meeting by any means that enable to person to hear, and be heard in, those proceedings as they happen.
- 8.8.8 The Panel must publish the report to the PFCC made under this Article. It is for the Panel to determine the manner in which the recommendation is to be published.
- 8.8.9 The PFCC may accept or reject the Panel's recommendation as to whether or not the candidate should be appointed.
- 8.8.10 The PFCC must notify the Panel of the decision whether to accept or reject the recommendation.
- 8.8.11 The terms and conditions of a person appointed as the Deputy PFCC must ensure that the term of office ends no later than the sixth day after the day of the poll at the next ordinary election of the PFCC (that is, the day on which the term of the appointing PFCC would, if there were no vacancy in the office before then, end).
- 8.8.12 The terms and conditions must also provide for the Deputy PFCC's appointment to end when, following an election to fill a vacancy in the office of the appointing PFCC, the person makes and delivers a declaration of acceptance of office.
- 8.8.13 Subject to subsections 8.8.11 and 8.8.12 above, the terms and conditions may also make such provision about termination as the appointing PFCC thinks appropriate.
- 8.8.14 Section 7 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (appointment of staff on merit) does not apply to the Deputy PFCC.
- 8.8.15 For the purposes of this Article, a person is subject to a relevant disqualification if the person is disqualified from being elected as, or being, a PFCC under:

(a) section 65 (1) of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (police officers, police-related employment etc.), other than paragraph (e) (ii); or

(b) section 66 (1), (3) (a) (iii) or (iv), (3) (c) or (3) (d) of the Act (citizenship, bankruptcy, criminal convictions and corrupt or illegal election practices).

8.9 Staff – General Provisions

- 8.9.1 The functions set out within this article are in addition to those delegations to the Chief Fire Officer set out within Schedule 9 to this Constitution.
- 8.9.2 The Authority may appoint such other staff as they think appropriate to enable them to exercise the functions of the Authority. The recruitment, selection and dismissal of employees will comply with internal human resources policies and shall be made on merit, subject to the provision of any legislation relating to equality and diversity in place at the time of the appointment.

- 8.9.3 The Authority may pay remuneration, allowances and gratuities to the members of its staff.
- 8.9.4 The Authority may pay:

(a) pensions to, or in respect of, persons who have been members of its staff, and

(b) amounts for or towards provision of pensions to, or in respect of, persons who have been members of its staff.

- 8.9.5 In this Article, "allowances", in relation to a member of the Authority's staff, means allowances in respect of expenses incurred by the member of staff in the course of employment as such a member of staff.
- 8.9.6 The staff of the Authority are directly accountable to the directly elected holder of that office to enable the Authority to exercise its functions.
- 8.9.7 The appointment of any director level employee or an employee with director level responsibilities will be reviewed and agreed by the Authority.
- 8.9.8 The Authority may enter into arrangements with another fire and rescue authority, or any other person, for the discharge to any extent by that other authority or person of the Authority's functions relating to fire safety, fire-fighting, road traffic accidents, other emergencies and eventualities. Such arrangements may include provision as to the terms on which any function is to be discharged (including provision as to payment). However the Authority may enter into such arrangements with a person in relation to its function of extinguishing fires only if the person employs fire-fighters.
- 8.9.9 The Authority may enter into arrangements with a person who employs fire-fighters for securing the provision by that person of assistance for the purpose of the discharge by the Authority of its functions relating to fire-fighting or responding to road traffic accidents or other emergencies. Such arrangements may include provision as to the terms on which assistance is to be provided (including provision as to payment). However the Authority may not enter into such arrangements with another fire and rescue authority.
- 8.9.10 No member of a police force may be employed by the Authority for the purpose of extinguishing fires or protecting life and property in the event of fires.

Article 9 - Miscellaneous Provisions

9.1 Remuneration etc. of the PFCC

- 9.1.1 The PFCC is to be paid a salary.
- 9.1.2 The Secretary of State is to determine the amount of the PFCC's salary and must publish every such determination.
- 9.1.3 The PFCC is to be paid authorised allowances in respect of expenses incurred by the PFCC in the exercise of the PFCC's functions which are of the kinds and amounts determined by the Secretary of State as payable. Such determination may make different provision for different cases. The Secretary of State must publish every such determination.
- 9.1.4 The PFCC must make authorised pension payments, these being:
 - (a) pensions to, or in respect of, persons who have been commissioner, and

(b) amounts for or towards provision of pensions to, or in respect of, persons who have been commissioner

Which are the kinds and amounts determined by the Secretary of State as payable. The Secretary of State must publish every such determination.

9.2 **Property and assets**

- 9.2.1 The Authority may acquire land compulsorily.
- 9.2.2 The Acquisition of Land Act 1981 applies in relation to the compulsory purchase of land pursuant to subsection 9.1.5.
- 9.2.3 The Authority may establish and maintain one or more training centres for providing education and training in matters in relation to which the Authority has functions.

9.3 **Protection from personal liability**

- 9.3.1 A person who is the Authority has no personal liability for an act or omission done by them in the exercise of the Authority's functions unless it is shown to have been done otherwise than in good faith.
- 9.3.2 A person who is a member of staff of the Authority has no personal liability for an act or omission done by them in the exercise of the Authority's functions unless it is shown to have been done otherwise than in good faith.

9.4 Government Security Classifications

- 9.4.1 The Authority has adopted the Government Security Classifications.
- 9.4.2 Security Classification refers to all information, which includes but is not limited to physical assets (e.g. paper records, drawings, photos) and electronic assets (e.g. electronic data records, digital images, word documents). It concerns the storage, transmission, carriage and disposal of information throughout the lifecycle of the data.
- 9.4.3 The scheme affects all persons working for the fire and rescue service, or other outside bodies who may be expected to handle protectively marked information during the course of their business or relationship with the Authority.
- 9.4.4 The approach for implementing the Government Security Classifications is set out in Schedule 18.

9.5 **Policies and Procedures**

- 9.5.1 An organisation as complex as a fire and rescue service has many policies and procedures which it utilises and operates within. Although the vast majority will fall within the responsibility of staff of the fire and rescue service to prepare and manage, there are a number of key policies which are considered so important that the Authority will want to approve. Although not limited to the list included below, the key policies and procedures which the Commissioner will approve are:
 - a) Fire and Rescue Plan
 - b) Integrated Risk Management Plan
 - c) Fire and Rescue Statement

- d) Pay Policy Statement
- e) Medium Term Financial Plan
- f) Capital Financing Policy
- g) Estates Strategy
- h) Treasury Management Strategy
- i) Prevention, protection and response strategies
- j) IT / Technology Strategy
- k) People Strategy
- I) Staff Code of Conduct
- m) Complaints and Compliments Policy and Whistleblowing Policy
- n) Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy
- o) Risk Management Policy and Strategy
- p) Staff Disciplinary and Grievance Policy
- 9.5.2 It is important that each of these policies is regularly reviewed to ensure they remain fit for purpose, and reflect recent developments and knowledge.
- 9.5.3 The Chief Fire Officer will engage with the Authority to ensure that they have an opportunity to review and approve those policies and procedures which are considered strategic in nature.

Article 10 - Decision Making

10.1 Responsibility for Decision Making

- 10.1.1 The Scheme of Delegation sets out the discharge of the Authority's functions and may be subject to amendment at any time. The Scheme of Delegation is set out in Schedule 9 of this Constitution.
- 10.1.2 The Authority's Monitoring Officer will maintain the record of the body or person having responsibility for a decision or decisions relating to a function or functions of the Authority.

10.2 Principles of Decision Making

- 10.2.1 For the purposes of this Article, the Authority defines a decision as any determination by the Authority to take, or refrain from taking, any action or incurring any obligation with respect to its statutory functions, powers and duties.
- 10.2.2 All decisions taken in the discharge of a function of the Authority shall have regard to the following matters:
 - a) The presumption in favour of openness and transparency.
 - b) The need for consultation with interested parties.
 - c) The need to take account of relevant professional advice from appropriate officers.
 - d) The need for clarity of aims and desired outcomes.

- e) The need to identify the range of options considered.
- f) The need to give reasons and explanation for a decision.
- g) The need to have due regard to the Government Security Classifications when considering disclosure of reports and documents supplied to the Authority by the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service.

10.3 Written Reports and Decision Records

- 10.3.1 The Commissioner or their Deputy shall not take any decision without first having reviewed and considered a written report on the matter. For the purposes of making a decision, such a report is to be submitted on the template attached as Schedule 19 to this Constitution. The governance boards detailed in Article 11 do not have any formal decision-making powers and as such written reports to such boards submitted on any template other than that attached at Schedule 19 do not fulfil the purposes of this Article.
- 10.3.2 A decision is only considered to be taken, and as such may only be acted on by officers, once the relevant decision report has been signed by the Commissioner or their Deputy. Decisions taken will be reported to the Police, Fire and Crime Panel and published on the PFCC's website.
- 10.3.3 In exceptional circumstances, and with the prior agreement of the Monitoring Officer, the need for a written report may be dispensed with. In such cases, all verbal advice and opinion provided shall be noted and recorded, as the case may be, in the minutes of the meeting or in the decision record.
- 10.3.4 Any other person making a decision under powers delegated to them by the Scheme of Delegation shall, where that person believes that is proportionate to do so in exercising those powers, produce a written statement which must include:
 - a) A record of the decision, including the date it was made.
 - b) A record of the reasons for the decision.
 - c) Details of any alternative options considered and rejected when making the decision

as soon as reasonably practicable after making the decision.

10.3.5 Where appropriate, the Authority will engage with the unions and staff representative bodies to obtain their views prior to taking a decision.

10.4 General Provisions

- 10.4.1 The exercise of any delegated authority to take a decision in the discharge of the Authority's functions is subject to the following:
 - a) The person making the decision has first considered a written report prepared by an appropriate officer.
 - b) Any decision taken shall be in accordance with the Authority's budget and policy framework, financial and procurement regulations and any condition imposed by the law, this Constitution and any relevant statutory guidance.
 - c) Any person may, as they may determine appropriate, refer any matter falling within the authority delegated to them to the Authority.
 - d) The fact that a function has been delegated shall not prevent the discharge of that function by the person that delegated the function.

Article 11 - Governance Boards

11.1 General

- 11.1.1 In line with the requirements of the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England, the Authority has in place governance and accountability arrangements. It is transparent and accountable to its communities for its decisions and actions; provides the opportunity for communities to help plan their local service through effective consultation and involvement, and has effective scrutiny arrangements in place that reflect the high standards communities expect for an important public safety service.
- 11.1.2 The Authority will appoint the boards set out below to discharge the functions listed under each.
- 11.1.3 Each of the boards will conduct its business in accordance with this Constitution. The boards will not meet in public but all papers (with the exception of those restricted by paragraphs 1 and 4 of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972) and an account of the board's business will be prepared and published on the Commissioner's website within 14 working days of the board's meeting.
- 11.1.4 These boards are to provide advice to the Authority and have no decision-making powers. Where a decision is required, the Commissioner or their Deputy where so empowered will make a decision in accordance with the decision-making process set out in Article 10.

11.2 Fire and Rescue Strategic Board

- 11.2.1 The purpose of the Fire and Rescue Strategic Board is to enable the Authority to review and support the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service's development of strategy.
- 11.2.2 The Terms of Reference of this board are set out in Schedule 1.

11.3 Audit Committee

- 11.3.1 The Audit Committee has been established to provide independent assurance to the Authority in relation to their role in fire and rescue. Although having separate Terms of Reference and meetings, the independent members appointed by the Commissioner will sit on both the Audit Committees for the fire and rescue service and for the police service.
- 11.3.2 The Terms of Reference of this committee are set out in Schedule 2.

11.4 Fire and Rescue Performance and Resources Board

- 11.4.1 The purpose of the Board is to enable the Authority to review Essex County Fire and Rescue Service's performance, ensure that budgeted resources are closely aligned with fire and rescue priorities and to ensure that resources are effectively and efficiently being utilised.
- 11.4.2 The Terms of Reference of this board are set out in Schedule 3.

11.5 Essex Emergency Services Collaboration Strategic Governance Board

- 11.5.1 The Board has been established to enable the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner to provide strategic governance and oversight of the Emergency Services Collaboration Programme.
- 11.5.2 The programme will focus specifically on Police and Fire and Rescue collaboration, however where opportunities arise it will seek to work with other emergency services.
- 11.5.3 The Board will:
 - a) Seek collaboration opportunities to maximise the effectiveness and efficiency of police and fire and rescue services.
 - b) To provide governance in relation to finance and resourcing decisions for collaboration opportunities.
 - c) To provide oversight and management of strategic collaboration risks.
 - d) To develop a strategic framework that could then be applied to wider emergency services collaboration.

11.5.4 The terms of reference for the Board are attached as Schedule 4 to this Constitution.

Article 12 - Schedules

There are a number of schedules that are referred to in and support the Constitution. The schedules are as follows:

Schedule 1 - Terms of Reference of the Fire and Rescue Strategic Board	56
Schedule 2 - Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee	60
Schedule 3 - Terms of Reference of the Fire and Rescue Performance and Resources Boa	ard 68
Schedule 4 - Terms of Reference of the Essex Emergency Services Collaboration Strategi Governance Board	ic 72
Schedule 5 - Specified Information Orders	76
Schedule 6 - Information Management Protocol	79
Schedule 7 - Information Sharing Agreement relating to information shared between the Espolice, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority and the Essex Police, Fire Crime Panel Schedule 8 - Revised Financial Management Code of Practice For the Police Forces of Era and Wales and Fire and Rescue Authorities created under section 4A of the Fire and Resc Services Act 2004	e and 83 ngland
Schedule 9 - Scheme of Delegation	91
Schedule 10 - Commissioner's Code of Conduct	102
Schedule 11 - Appointment, Suspension and Dismissal of Chief Fire Officer	116
Schedule 12 – Appointment and scrutiny of the appointment of the Chief Financial Officer	123
Schedule 13 - Police and Crime Panels (Precepts and Chief Constable Appointments) Regulations 2012	125
Schedule 14 - The Police and Crime Commissioner Elections (Declaration of Acceptance of Office) Order 2012	of 126
Schedule 15 - Financial and Procurement Regulations Schedule 17 – Police, Fire and Crime Panel for Essex - Procedure to be Followed when Considering Complaints About the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner or Deputy Police, and Crime Commissioner 1	127 Fire 76
Schedule 18 – Government Security Classifications	185
Schedule 19 – Decision Report Template	187

Schedule 1 - Terms of Reference of the Fire and Rescue Strategic Board

Approved June 2019

1 Introduction

- 1.1 The Board has been established to enable the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority ("the Commissioner") to:
 - a) Provide governance and oversight of delivery of the Fire and Rescue Plan and Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP).
 - b) Support alignment of the activities of the Essex County Fire and Rescue service with the Essex Vision, Essex Emergency Services Collaboration Vision and other public sector transformation and collaboration programmes across greater Essex.
 - c) Recommend to the Commissioner any collaboration agreements considered to be in the interests of the efficiency or effectiveness of one or more fire and rescue services, taking into account the existing collaboration agreements and other arrangements for co-operation to which the parties under consideration are committed; the desirability of the parties under consideration taking a consistent approach in making such agreements and other arrangements, and the opportunities available to the parties under consideration to make such agreements and other arrangements.
 - d) Be the primary advisor to the Commissioner on the Integrated Risk Management Plan.
 - e) Provide strategic oversight of the Medium Term Financial Plan and recommend to the Commissioner the use of the Service's reserves.
 - f) Recommend to the Commissioner the annual budget for the Service and the annual Council Tax precept relating to the fire and rescue service to be recommended to the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel.
 - g) Approve in principle and provide strategic oversight of the key policies and strategies governing the work of the fire and rescue service, including agreeing the Fire and Rescue Plan to be recommended to the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel and agreeing in principle the Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP), prior to formal approval by the Commissioner..
 - h) Provide strategic oversight of the capital programme, receiving reports from the Assets Sub-Group as required.
 - i) Approve as appropriate the progression of project bid proposals recommended to the Commissioner.
 - j) Agree in principle the annual Strategic Assessment of Risk (subject to formal approval by the Commissioner) and advise on the management of strategic risks facing the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service.
 - k) Agree the annual Statement of Assurance to be recommended to the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel.
 - I) Provide strategic oversight of operation of and benefits delivered by, and receive an annual report from, EFA (Trading) Ltd.

- m) Receive additional reports from the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service's Senior Leadership Team (SLT) and its sub-boards as appropriate.
- n) Commission additional reports via the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive as appropriate.
- 1.2 The Strategic Board has no executive powers, other than those specifically delegated in these Terms of Reference.
- 1.3 The Terms of Reference of this Board will be reviewed on an annual basis.

2 Areas of Focus

- 2.1 The focus of the Strategic Board will include those programmes and portfolios that together deliver the long term vision of the Commissioner including:
 - a) Fire and Rescue Plan
 - b) Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP)
 - c) Change programmes
 - d) Prevention, protection and response strategies
 - e) People Strategy
 - f) Estates Strategy
 - g) IT / Technology Strategy and information management
 - h) Fleet and equipment
 - i) Strategic Finance MTFP and capital programme
 - j) EFA (Trading) Ltd
- 2.2 The operational management of the Fire and Rescue Service is out of scope of this board. The responsibility of this sits with the Senior Leadership Team, which is chaired by the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive.

3 Membership

- 3.1 The membership of the Strategic Board is as follows:
 - a) Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner
 - b) Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive
 - c) Deputy Chief Fire Officer
 - d) Chief Executive for the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner
 - e) Head of Performance and Scrutiny (Fire and Rescue) for the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner
 - f) Essex County Fire and Rescue Service S151 Officer
 - g) Director of Corporate Services
 - h) Director of Innovation, Risk and Future Development

- 3.2 Additional members may be invited by the Commissioner to support agenda discussions.
- 3.3 This meeting is chaired by the Commissioner, or in their absence, their Deputy.

4 Frequency and notice of meetings

- 4.1 The Board will meet at least four times a year. The calendar of meetings shall be agreed at the start of each year.
- 4.2 Further meetings outside of the normal cycle of the Board can be convened at the request of the Chair or any of its members, subject to agreement by the Chair.
- 4.3 Unless otherwise agreed, formal notice of each meeting confirming the venue, time and date together with the agenda of items to be discussed, will be forwarded to each member of the Board, any other person required to attend and all other appropriate persons determined by the Chair, no later than five working days before the date of the meeting.
- 4.4 Any meetings held outside the normal cycle of meetings should be convened with a minimum notice of five working days. Extraordinary or urgent meetings may be held with less notice but should be for exceptional matters only, subject to the Chair's agreement and quorum requirements. In this case the agenda and any supporting papers will be sent Board members and to other attendees at the same time as the meeting notice is sent out.
- 4.5 Oral reports will not be accepted for substantive agenda items except in very exceptional cases, at the discretion of the Chair

5 Attendance at meetings and quorum

- 5.1 Members of the Board are expected to attend all meetings wherever possible. Where this is not possible, a named substitute may be sent on their behalf, who must be appropriately briefed to represent the standing member.
- 5.2 A minimum of four members of the Board, including the Commissioner or their Deputy must be present for the meeting to be deemed quorate. The meetings will be held in private with the matters discussed being placed in the public domain.
- 5.3 An "open chair" will be available for colleagues attending as observers to the meeting, to support their personal development, at the discretion of the Chair.

6 Minutes

6.1 The Secretary will record the names of those present at the meeting, write minutes, including the key points and decisions of all meetings, along with any actions stemming from discussion that need to be taken before the next meeting.

The minutes of all meetings and decisions taken will be circulated within 7 working days of the meeting, and the minutes will be presented to the Commissioner, or the Chair of the meeting for approval within 15 working days.

6.2 The minutes of the Board will be placed in the public domain as soon as practical after these have been approved and signed by the Chair, with exclusion to any matter deemed private and confidential.

6.3 The secretariat of the meeting will be provided by the Office of the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner.

7 Decision-making (Commissioner or Deputy)

7.1 Although the board has no decision-making powers, where a decision is required, the Commissioner or their Deputy (where authorised to do so under the Scheme of Delegation) may decide to take a decision on the item once discussion has concluded.

Schedule 2 - Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee

Adopted 2017

1 Introduction

- 1.1 The Audit Committee ("the Committee") has been established to provide independent assurance to the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority ("the Commissioner") in accordance with the Financial Management Code of Practice. The role of the Committee is to advise the Commissioner according to good governance principles and to adopt appropriate risk management arrangements in accordance with proper practices and the associated control environment and to oversee the financial reporting process.
- 1.2 The Committee will operate in line with the principles of good governance as laid down by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Financial Management Code of Practice.
- 1.3 The terms of reference of the Committee will be reviewed on an annual basis.
- 1.4 The Committee is an independent body and will seek assurance over the adequacy of the following:
 - a) The risk management and the internal control framework operated by the Chief Fire Officer.
 - b) The effectiveness of the governance arrangements.
 - c) The appointment, support and quality of the work of internal and external auditors as they provide assurance on risk management, internal controls and the annual accounts through their work.
 - d) Financial and non-financial performance to the extent that it affects exposure to risk, weakens the control environment and undermines their ability to provide good value for money.
 - e) The financial reporting process.
 - f) Maintain an overview, in respect of contract procedures rules, financial regulations and code of conduct and behaviour.
- 1.5 The Committee has no executive powers, other than those specifically delegated in these Terms of Reference.
- 1.6 The Committee will establish effective communication with the Chief Fire Officer, their nominated representatives, their respective Chief Finance Officers, Monitoring Officer, Head of Internal Audit, the External Auditor and other relevant stakeholders, including the Police Fire and Crime Panel, for the purpose of fulfilling these terms of reference. A working protocol will be established to ensure that this is achieved by all parties.

2 Membership

2.1 The Committee will comprise of a chair and five members appointed by the Commissioner, but who are independent. The chair and five members will serve on both

the Joint Audit Committee of the PCC as well as the Audit Committee of the Commissioner.

- 2.2 Members of the Committee shall be recruited through open competition, in conjunction with the Commissioner. They shall be recruited to ensure that the Committee has all the necessary skills and experience to fulfil its terms of reference, in accordance with the job description. To ensure the independence of the Committee, members shall not be:
 - a) A standing or ex-PCC, PFCC or Chief Fire Officer.
 - b) A member or ex-member of a Police, Fire and Crime Panel.
 - c) Serving firefighters or have served as a firefighter within the last 8 years.
 - d) Currently serving employee of the Commissioner or Office of the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner.
 - e) Individuals who have significant business or personal dealings with the Commissioner or the Office of the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner.
 - f) Individuals who have close relationships with any of the above including immediate family members and as such may not have the requisite level of independence required for membership of the Committee.
 - g) Individuals removed from a trusteeship of a charity.
 - h) Individuals under a disqualification order under the Company Directors Disqualification Act.
 - i) A person who has been adjudged a bankrupt, or made a composition or arrangement with his creditors.
 - j) Convicted in the UK, Channel Islands or the Isle of Man of any offence and has had passed on a sentence of imprisonment (whether suspended or not) for a period of not less than three months without the option of a fine, within the last five years prior to their appointment.
- 2.3 The Chair of the Committee will be recruited by the Commissioner and will serve for one term (four years) in the role as Chair where upon they can be re-appointed, if appropriate and subject to agreement by the Commissioner, subject to a maximum of two terms.
- 2.4 All Members will serve for a maximum of two terms, each term being a maximum of four years. To ensure continuity, where possible, members shall be rotated on and off the Committee in turn rather than as a group, therefore the term of membership will be determined on recruitment of the member.
- 2.5 All members of the Committee will be subject to an independent annual appraisal, the outcomes will inform the member development programme.
- 2.6 On joining the Committee, each member will attend an induction training course to help them understand the roles of the Commissioner, the Police, Fire and Crime Panel and the organisations pertaining to the Commissioner. Further training on specific relevant topics will be provided as necessary, according to the members' own relevant experience and emerging business needs of the Committee. Members will be expected to attend all such training and to develop their skills as part of a member development programme. Training needs will be considered during the annual appraisal process and a training and development programme established both for the Committee and its individual members as appropriate.

- 2.7 In accordance with the Committee's code of conduct, each member will be required to record any conflicts of interest in the register of pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests. In addition, members will be required to disclose any such interests at the commencement of any meeting where there is a need to do so due to the nature of the Committee agenda, or immediately if they arise unexpectedly in discussion.
- 2.8 Only members of the Committee have the right to vote on matters requiring a vote at meetings.
- 2.9 Members of the Committee will be remunerated and reimbursed for all expenses incurred in the fulfilment of their duties, roles and responsibilities in accordance with the schedule of allowance and expenses agreed by the Commissioner.

3 Frequency and notice of meetings

- 3.1 The Committee will meet at least **four** times a year. The calendar of meetings shall be agreed at the start of each year. One meeting shall be dedicated to the scrutiny and pre-approval of the statement of accounts before submission to external audit.
- 3.2 Further meetings outside of the normal cycle of the Committee can be convened at the request of the Chair or any of its members, subject to agreement by the Chair.
- 3.3 The Commissioner may ask the Committee to convene further meetings to discuss particular issues on which they want the Committee's advice.
- 3.4 Meetings can be requested by the external or internal auditors where this is considered necessary and on agreement of the Chair.
- 3.5 Unless otherwise agreed, formal notice of each meeting confirming the venue, time and date together with the agenda of items to be discussed, will be forwarded to each member of the Committee, any other person required to attend and all other appropriate persons determined by the Chair, no later than five working days before the date of the meeting.
- 3.6 Any meetings held outside the normal cycle of meetings should be convened with a minimum notice of five working days. Extraordinary or urgent meetings may be held with less notice but should be for exceptional matters only, subject to the Chair's agreement and quorum requirements. In this case the agenda and any supporting papers will be sent Committee members and to other attendees at the same time as the meeting notice is sent out, recognising that if the matter is so urgent that there may only be an oral report. If this is the case then this will be identified on the agenda.

4 Attendance at meetings and quorum

- 4.1 Members of the Committee are expected to attend all meetings. Regular non-attendance of Committee members will lead to their removal as a member of the Committee on agreement by the Chair.
- 4.2 The Commissioner, will attend all meetings of the Committee, or ensure that they are suitably and appropriately represented to ensure that the purpose of the Committee is not compromised and that members are able to appropriately fulfil their responsibilities. In addition, Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and the Audit and Accounts Regulations 2011 assign a number of statutory responsibilities to the Chief Finance Officer. Given the nature of these responsibilities it is expected that the Chief Financial Officer will attend all meetings, or where this is not possible then their nominated representatives.

- 4.3 The Head of Internal Audit and representatives of the external auditor will be invited to attend meetings on a regular basis. Members of the Committee should meet with the Head of Internal Audit and representatives of the external auditor separately and privately at least once a year.
- 4.4 A minimum of three members of the Committee must be present for the meeting to be deemed quorate. Committee meetings will be held in private with the matters discussed being placed in the public domain.
- 4.5 The Committee may hold private informal meetings e.g. for briefing and training purposes without any non-members present if they so decide. Formal decisions cannot be taken at such meetings.

5 Access

5.1 The Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer, Head of Internal Audit and the representative of External Audit will have free and confidential access to the Chair of the Committee.

6 Minutes

- 6.1 The Secretary will record the names of those present at the meeting, write minutes, including the key points and decisions of all meetings, along with any actions stemming from discussion that need to be taken before the next meeting. The minutes of all Meetings and decisions taken will be circulated within 7 working days of the meeting, and the minutes will be presented to the Chair of the meeting for approval within 15 working days.
- 6.2 Following the approval of the minutes by the Chair a copy will be provided to the Commissioner along with their nominated representative at the Committee, the Chief Finance Officer and to the internal and external auditors.
- 6.3 The minutes of the Committee will be placed in the public domain as soon as practical after these have been approved and signed by the Chair, with exclusion to any matter deemed private and confidential, as per paragraph 2.7 of these terms of reference.
- 6.4 The Secretary of the Committee will establish, at the beginning of each meeting the existence of any conflicts of interest and minute them accordingly, see also paragraph 2.7 of these terms of reference.

7 Reporting

- 7.1 To ensure relevant and timely reporting throughout the year to the Committee a reporting timetable will be prepared and agreed with the Commissioner. This will be designed to enable the Committee to fulfil its responsibilities and receive the assurances it requires.
- 7.2 The Chair will provide the Commissioner with an Annual Report timed to support finalisation of the accounts and the Annual Governance Statement, summarising its conclusions from the work it has undertaken during the year and drawing attention to any significant or emerging issues as appropriate. This report will be placed in the public domain following discussion with the Commissioner along with responses to the Chair's Annual Report. The Chair will be responsible for dealing with any public or media questions relating to that report.

- 7.3 The Committee will, having regard to best governance practice, review these terms of reference annually and make any changes deemed necessary in consultation with the Commissioner.
- 7.4 The Committee will annually review its own performance to ensure it is fulfilling its terms of reference and operating effectively. In doing so it will make any recommendations for change to the Commissioner.

8 **Responsibilities**

8.1 Risk Management, Governance and Internal Control Responsibilities

- 8.1.1 The Committee will seek assurance in connection with the following responsibilities:
 - a) The establishment and maintenance of an effective system of risk management, integrated governance and internal control, across all activities that supports the achievement of the objectives of the Fire and Rescue Plan, ensuring probity, value for money and good governance.
 - b) The timely implementation of any actions necessary to ensure compliance with all internal standards and best practice, both financial and non-financial operated by the Commissioner.
 - c) The adequacy of relevant disclosure statements, in particular the Annual Governance Statement, together with any accompanying Head of Internal Audit report, external audit opinion, risk register or other appropriate independent assurances, prior to endorsement by the Commissioner. Subject to this the Committee will recommend for adoption the Annual Governance Statement for the Commissioner.
 - d) The adequacy of arrangements for ensuring compliance with relevant regulatory, legal and code of conduct requirements and fraud and corruption as set out in Secretary of State Directives and other relevant bodies or professional standards.
 - e) Notwithstanding the specific responsibilities of the Committee in connection with both internal and external audit, consider the adequacy of response by the Commissioner to recommendations contained within any external inspection report that has been received for the purposes of assurance.

8.2 Internal Audit Responsibilities

- 8.2.1 The role of the Committee in relation to internal audit will include advising the Commissioner on the following:
 - a) Consider and make recommendations on the provision of internal auditors, including appointment, assessment of performance and dismissal.
 - b) Approving but not directing on the internal audit strategy and annual internal audit plan, ensuring that this:
 - i. Is consistent with professional standards.
 - ii. Meets the audit needs of the Commissioner, and
 - iii. Provides the Committee with adequate coverage for the purpose of obtaining appropriate levels of assurance over the

adequacy of the risk management, governance and internal control environment of the Commissioner.

- c) Consider the Head of Internal Audit's annual report and opinion, and a summary of audit activity (actual and proposed) and the level of assurance it gives over the risk management, internal controls and governance arrangements of the Commissioner.
- d) Consider the findings of internal audit reports (or their summaries), the assurance provided and the adequacy of the response by Commissioner.
- e) Commissioning additional work from the internal auditor, having regard to any actual or potential conflicts of interest.
- f) Ensuring co-ordination between the internal and external auditors to optimise audit resources.
- g) Annually review the effectiveness of internal audit.
- h) Where the Committee considers there is evidence of ultra vires transactions, evidence of improper acts, or if there are other important matters that the Committee wishes to raise, the Chair must initially take advice from the Monitoring Officer before raising the matter with the Commissioner. Where appropriate the Committee may then seek independent legal advice.

8.3 External Audit Responsibilities

- 8.3.1 The role of the Committee in relation to external audit will include advising the Commissioner on the following:
 - a) Consider and make recommendations on the provision of external auditors, including appointment and dismissal in conjunction with the Body who are responsible for the appointment of external Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.
 - b) Review, advise on and endorse the external audit strategy and annual audit plan, ensuring that this is consistent with professional standards and the External Audit Code of Audit Practice.
 - c) Consider the external auditor's annual management letter, relevant reports and the report to those charged with governance.
 - d) Consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor.
 - e) Commissioning work from the external auditor, having regard to any actual or potential conflicts of interest.
 - f) Consider major findings of external audit work and the adequacy of response of the Commissioner.
 - g) Ensuring co-ordination between the internal and external auditors to optimise audit resources.

8.4 Annual Accounts of Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority

- 8.4.1 The Committee will:
 - a) Review, scrutinise and recommend for signature the annual statement prior to their external audit. Specifically, it will seek assurances whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether there are any concerns arising from the financial statements.

b) Consider the external auditor's report to those charged with governance on issues arising from the audit of accounts.

8.5 Auditor Panel

- 8.5.1 The functions of the auditor panel are set out in the Local Audit and Responsibility Act 2014 and also the Local Audit (Auditor Panel) Regulations 2014 (the Auditor Panel Regulations).
- 8.5.2 The Auditor Panel's responsibilities are to advise the Commissioner on:
 - a) The selection and appointment of the external auditor. This includes:
 - i. Agreeing and overseeing a robust process for selecting the external auditor in line with the Commissioner's normal procurement rules.
 - ii. Basing the selection of external auditor on effectiveness and cost.
 - iii. Excluding any proposed external auditor firms that include nonaudit services in their offering.
 - b) Ensuring that any conflicts of interest are dealt with effectively
 - c) The maintenance of an independent relationship with the appointed external auditor.
 - d) Any proposal from the external auditor to enter into a liability limitation agreement as part of the procurement process is fair and reasonable.
 - e) Any decision about the removal or resignation of the external auditor.
 - f) The Committee is authorised by the Commissioner to carry out the functions specified above and can seek any information it requires from any employees/relevant third parties.

8.6 Information Requirement

- 8.6.1 For each meeting the Committee will normally be provided with the following:
 - a) A report summarising any significant changes to the Commissioner's risk and controls profile and any action planned in response.
 - b) A report on any governance matters arising or a note that no governance matters have arisen since the last meeting and any action planned in response.
 - c) A progress report from the head of internal audit summarising:
 - i. Work performed and a comparison with work planned.
 - ii. Key issues emerging from internal audit work.
 - iii. Management response to audit recommendations.
 - iv. Changes to the periodic plan.
 - v. Any resourcing issues affecting the delivery of internal objectives.
 - d) A progress report from the external audit representative summarising work done and emerging findings.

e) A summary report of actions being tracked and progress made in connection with their implementation on significant risk, governance and internal controls matters. Thereby providing for an on-going process of follow-up.

8.7 Support for the Committee

- 8.7.1 The Chair, in conjunction with the Commissioner has particular responsibility for ensuring that the work of the Committee is appropriately resourced, including appropriate secretariat support and any other specialist support necessary to ensure its members are effective in their role. The Chair has a duty to report any shortfall in the level of support to the Commissioner in the first instance and in a public report if this is not remedied.
- 8.7.2 The Committee may with reasonable justification and with approval by the Chief Finance Officer procure specialist ad-hoc advice e.g. legal, to obtain additional skills, knowledge and experience at the expense of the Commissioner to support the Committee in the achievement of its terms of reference. This will be considered appropriate where specialist advice is not available within the existing Committee support arrangements or it is not considered appropriate to use this support.

Schedule 3 - Terms of Reference of the Fire and Rescue Performance and Resources Board

Approved February 2020

1 Introduction

- 1.1 The Board has been established to enable the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority ("the Commissioner") to review Essex County Fire and Rescue Service's (ECFRS) performance, ensure that budgeted resources (both human and financial) are closely aligned with fire priorities and to ensure that resources are effectively and efficiently being utilised.
- 1.2 The Board will enable the Commissioner to maintain effective oversight of the totality of the fire and rescue service and to hold the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive to account for the delivery of fire and rescue services and the delivery against the priorities in the Fire and Rescue Plan.
- 1.3 The Terms of Reference of the Board will be reviewed on an annual basis.
- 1.4 The Board will :
 - a) Scrutinise, support and challenge the overall performance of the fire and rescue service including against the priorities agreed within the Fire and Rescue Plan and Integrated Risk Management Plan.
 - b) Support the Commissioner in holding the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive to account for the exercise of functions which are delegated, to them as well as the exercise of functions of persons under the direction and control of the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive.
 - c) Advise the Commissioner on actions to be taken to maintain an efficient, effective and economic fire and rescue service for Essex.
 - d) Identify and consider different themes / "deep dives" for scrutiny, challenge and support.
 - e) Provide governance and oversight of the delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan. Monitor actual revenue spend against budget, and the forecast outturn advising corrective action where appropriate in order to further advance the priorities of the service.
 - f) Agree and oversee implementation of the service's Treasury Management Strategy.
 - g) Monitor actual and forecast capital expenditure and resourcing of against the approved capital programme, advising the Strategic Board on progress achieved.
 - h) Monitor the use of the service's reserves.
 - i) Monitor the progress made in delivering planned transformation and efficiency savings.
 - Provide governance and oversight of key workforce transformation initiatives, including recruitment and retention initiatives, on-call development and mixed crewing.

- k) Monitor workforce composition and demographics and champion initiatives to increase workforce diversity.
- I) Monitor customer and employee satisfaction survey results and the actions to be taken in response.
- m) Monitor and take steps to improve compliance with key people management processes, such as operational training and annual performance appraisals.
- n) Oversee the development and implementation of the Service Improvement Plan, taking account of recommendations arising from HMICFRS inspections, peer reviews and other external reviews and reports (both local and national).
- o) Monitor complaints and compliments made to the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service, and the learning arising from these, on a quarterly basis.
- p) Review papers to be submitted to the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel and the Joint Audit Committee, other than those approved by the Strategic Board.
- q) Identify areas of commissioning that would assist in delivering the Fire and Rescue Plan.
- r) Receive additional reports from the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service's Senior Leadership Team (SLT) and its sub-boards as appropriate.
- s) Commission additional reports via the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive as appropriate.
- 1.5 The Performance and Resources Board has no executive powers, other than those specifically delegated in these Terms of Reference.
- 1.6 Operational management of the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service is outside the scope of the Performance and Resources Board. This sits with the Senior Leadership Team, chaired by the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive.

2 Membership

- 2.1 The membership of the Performance and Resources Board is as follows:
 - a) Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner
 - b) Deputy Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner
 - c) Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive or Deputy Chief Fire Officer
 - d) Director of Corporate Services
 - e) Chief Executive for the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner
 - f) ECFRS S151 Officer
 - g) Head of Performance and Scrutiny (Fire and Rescue) for the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner
- 2.2 Additional members may be invited by the Commissioner to support agenda discussions.
- 2.3 This meeting will be chaired by the Commissioner or the Deputy Commissioner.

3 Frequency and notice of meetings

3.1 The Board will meet monthly. The calendar of meetings shall be agreed at the start of each year.

- 3.2 Further meetings outside of the normal cycle of the Board can be convened at the request of the Chair or any of its members, subject to agreement by the Chair.
- 3.3 Unless otherwise agreed, formal notice of each meeting confirming the venue, time and date together with the agenda of items to be discussed, will be forwarded to each member of the Board, any other person required to attend and all other appropriate persons determined by the Chair, no later than five working days before the date of the meeting.
- 3.4 Any meetings held outside the normal cycle of meetings should be convened with a minimum notice of five working days. Extraordinary or urgent meetings may be held with less notice but should be for exceptional matters only, subject to the Chair's agreement and quorum requirements. In this case the agenda and any supporting papers will be sent Board members and to other attendees at the same time as the meeting notice is sent out.
- 3.5 Oral reports will not be accepted for substantive agenda items except in very exceptional cases, at the discretion of the Chair.

4 Attendance at meetings and quorum

- 4.1 Members of the Board are expected to attend all meetings, wherever possible. Where this is not possible, a named substitute may be sent on their behalf, who must be appropriately briefed to represent the standing member.
- 4.2 A minimum of four members of the Board, including the Commissioner or their Deputy and the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive or Deputy Chief Fire Officer must be present for the meeting to be deemed quorate. The meetings will be held in private with unrestricted papers and the matters discussed being placed in the public domain.
- 4.3 An "open chair" will be available for colleagues attending as observers to the meeting, to support their personal development, at the discretion of the Chair.

5 Minutes

5.1 The Secretary will record the names of those present at the meeting, write minutes, including the key points and decisions of all meetings, along with any actions stemming from discussion that need to be taken before the next meeting.

The minutes of all meetings and decisions taken will be circulated within 7 working days of the meeting, and the minutes will be presented to the Commissioner, or the Chair of the meeting for approval within 15 working days.

- 5.2 The minutes of the Board and unrestricted papers will be placed in the public domain as soon as practical after these have been approved and signed by the Chair, with exclusion to any matter deemed private and confidential.
- 5.3 The secretariat of the meeting will be provided by the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner's office.

6 Decision-making (Commissioner or Deputy)

6.1 Although the board has no decision-making powers, where a decision is required, the Commissioner or their Deputy (where authorised to do so under the Scheme of Delegation) may decide to take a decision on the item once discussion has concluded.

Schedule 4 -

Essex Emergency Services Collaboration Strategic Governance Board

Terms of Reference

Membership:

- Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (PFCC) (Chair)
- Deputy Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (DPFCC) (Vice Chair)
- Chief Constable
- Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive
- Head of Operations Mid and South Essex (EEAST)
- Chief Executive to the PFCC & Monitoring Officer to the PFCC and ECFRS
- PFCC's Section 151 Officer
- Interim Collaboration Programme Lead
- Executive Project Support (Emergency Services Collaboration Programme) (secretariat)

Substitutions will be accepted, so long as they are appropriately briefed and mandated to represent the view of their organisation at the meeting.

Additional attendees may be invited to individual meetings by the Commissioner to support agenda discussions. An "open chair" will be available for colleagues attending as observers to the meeting, to support their personal development, at the discretion of the Chair.

Attendance at meetings and quorum

Members of the Board are expected to attend all meetings wherever possible. Where this is not possible, a named substitute may be sent on their behalf, who must be appropriately briefed to represent the standing member.

At least one representative from each participating agency (EP / ECFRS / EEAST), as well as the PFCC or their Deputy, must be present for the meeting to be deemed quorate.

The meetings will be held in private.

Purpose:

• To provide collective ownership, strategic governance and oversight of the Essex Emergency Services Collaboration Programme, including in relation to finance and resourcing decisions.

- To maximise the effectiveness and efficiency of police, fire and rescue and ambulance services within Essex through a programme of strategic and operational collaboration.
- To review business cases relating to potential emergency services collaboration projects and provide recommendations to the PFCC as to whether these should be progressed, taking into account existing collaboration agreements and other arrangements for co-operation as well as the desirability of the respective parties taking a consistent approach.
- To provide oversight and management of strategic risks pertaining to the Essex Emergency Services Collaboration Programme.

Decision making:

The Board makes recommendations to the PFCC but has no executive decision-making powers. Final decisions in relation to the Essex Emergency Services Collaboration programme are made by the PFCC via the decision sheet process or, where appropriate, Chief Officers under existing schemes of delegation and consent. Where the latter is the case, these decisions must have due regard to the strategic direction set by the Strategic Governance Board and will be reported into the Strategic Governance Board.

Recommendations to the PFCC are to be formulated by the Board on the basis of consensus wherever possible. Where there is divergence of opinion between members of the Board, this is to be made clear to the PFCC when the matter is referred to them for decision.

Stakeholder engagement:

It is recognised that collaboration proposals relating to Enabling Services will also require the active involvement and consent of the Chief Constable of Kent Police and the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner, who are equal partners in the current Police Shared Services Directorate and the wider 7 Force collaboration programme. Responsibility for engaging Kent colleagues in this regard will sit with the Chief Constable and PFCC respectively.

The Chief Officers of Essex Police, the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service and the East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust will ensure that the recognised representative bodies of their respective organisations are sighted on all programme work being considered or undertaken, on behalf of their membership.

Any formal consultation with staff required as a result of the collaboration programme will be undertaken by the relevant Chief Officers.

Gateway process for approval of project business cases:

Suggestions to progress additional collaboration initiatives across two or more of the organisations represented within the Essex Emergency Services Collaboration

Programme will be raised in the first instance at the Collaboration Programme Board for authorisation to progress discussions within the relevant organisations.

Subject to the Programme Board authorising progression to the next stage, proposals will be developed into a Project Initiation Document (PID) (setting out the scope of the project idea, including the mandate, options, outcomes and benefits pathway), to be presented to the relevant Chief Officer teams as follows:

- Essex Police Chief Officer Group (COG)
- Essex County Fire and Rescue Service Leadership Team (SLT)
- EEAST Senior Management Team (SMT)

Subject to the relevant internal governance bodies being content to progress to the next stage of proposal development, the relevant Chief Officers will appoint work-stream leads (project managers) who will be responsible for the development of a Strategic Outline Case (SOC) (including the resourcing requirements, project organisation structure, quality register, risks and issues register, and communications strategy) to be presented to the Strategic Governance Board for consideration and approval in principle. *No collaboration proposals will be considered by the Strategic Governance Board without first going through this process.*

As set out above, the Board makes recommendations to the PFCC but has no executive decision-making powers. Final decisions as to whether proposed collaboration initiatives are to be progressed are made by the PFCC via the decision sheet process or, where appropriate, Chief Officers under existing schemes of delegation and consent. Where the latter is the case, these decisions must have due regard to the strategic direction set by the Strategic Governance Board and will be reported into the Strategic Governance Board.

Meeting frequency:

The Board shall meet bi-monthly. The calendar of meetings shall be agreed at the start of each year. Unless otherwise agreed, formal notice of each meeting confirming the venue, time and date together with the agenda of items to be discussed and the associated papers will be forwarded to each member of the Board, any other person required to attend and all other appropriate persons determined by the Chair, no later than five working days before the date of the meeting.

Further meetings outside of the normal cycle of the Board can be convened at the request of the Chair or any of its members, subject to agreement by the Chair. Any meetings held outside the normal cycle of meetings should be convened with a minimum notice of five working days. Extraordinary or urgent meetings may be held with less notice but should be for exceptional matters only, subject to the Chair's agreement and quorum requirements. In this case the agenda and any supporting papers will be sent Board members and to other attendees at the same time as the meeting notice is sent out.

Oral reports will not be accepted for substantive agenda items except in very exceptional cases, at the discretion of the Chair.

Secretariat:

The Executive Project Support (Emergency Services Collaboration Programme) will provide the secretariat to the Board.

Programme Board:

The Strategic Governance Board (SGB) will be supported by the Essex Emergency Services Collaboration Programme Board (see separate Programme Board Terms of Reference). The Programme Board will provide reports into the Strategic Governance Board on progress against the collaboration work streams, as well as draft business cases, resource considerations and recommendations for decisions. The Programme Board is also the owner of the Collaboration Risk Register and will report to each meeting of the SGB on new, emerging and changing risks facing the programme and the mitigations put in place in response.

Review

The Terms of Reference of this Board will be reviewed on an annual basis.

Schedule 5 - Specified Information Orders

1 Introduction

- 1.1 The Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority ("the Commissioner") has a statutory duty to publish documents and information as set out in the Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) Order 2011, the Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) (Amendment) Order 2012 and the Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) (Amendment) Order 2013.
- 1.2 A full copy of the order can be found here: <u>Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified</u> Information) Order 2011.
- 1.3 A summary of the information which is required to be published and the timeline for that publication is included below.

2 Information which is required to be published

- 2.1 In relation to the Commissioner and any Deputy Commissioner appointed by the Commissioner:
 - a) Their name.
 - b) Their address for correspondence.
 - c) Their salary.
 - d) The allowances paid in respect of expenses incurred by the office holder in the exercise of the body's functions.
 - e) A register of interests, including every paid employment or office or other pecuniary interest.
 - f) The number of complaints or conduct matters that have been brought to their attention by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel (either because they have been referred to the Independent Office for Police Conduct, or because they are being subjected to informal resolution by the Panel).
- 2.2 In relation to the staff in the Commissioner's office (excluding any Deputy Commissioner appointed by the Commissioner):
 - a) The number of members of staff
 - b) The proportion of the staff who:
 - i. Are women.
 - ii. Are, to the knowledge of the Commissioner, members of an ethnic minority.
 - iii. Have, to the knowledge of the Commissioner, a disability (within the meaning of section 6 of the Equality Act 2010).
 - c) An organisational chart showing the structure of the staff.
 - d) The job title, responsibilities and salary of each senior employee¹ and (unless the senior employee refuses to consent to the publication of his name) the name of the senior employee;
 - e) A register of each offer of a gift or hospitality made to a relevant office holder or member of staff, indicating whether the offer was accepted or refused.

- 2.3 In relation to the power of a local authority to provide administrative, professional or technical services to the Commissioner under section 1 (1) of the Local Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970, information as to any arrangements for use by the Commissioner of the staff of a local authority under those provisions.
- 2.4 In relation to the income and expenditure of the Commissioner:
 - a) The total budget of the Commissioner.
 - b) The precept issued by the Commissioner.
 - c) Information as to each anticipated source of revenue other than that precept.
 - d) Information as to the proposed expenditure of the Commissioner.
 - e) A copy of the annual Treasury Management Strategy of the Commissioner.
 - f) Information as to each item of expenditure in relation to travel by, accommodation for or subsistence of the individual undertaking the role of the Commissioner, including the receipt of funds, the purpose of the expenditure and the reason why the Commissioner consider that good value for money would be obtained, and
 - g) Each item of expenditure of in relation to other matters that exceeding £500 including the recipient of the funds, the purpose of the expenditure and the reasons why the Commissioner considered that good value for money would be obtained.
- 2.5 In relation to the property, rights and liabilities of the Commissioner:
 - a) The identity of any premises or land owned by, or occupied for the purposes of, the Commissioner.
 - b) A copy of each contract with a value exceeding £10,000 to which the Commissioner is or is to be a party.
 - c) A copy of each invitation to tender issued by the Commissioner in relation to a contract, which the body expects will have a value exceeding £10,000.
 - d) A list of every contract with a value not exceeding £10,000 to which the Commissioner is or is to be a party, including the value of the contract, the identity of every other party to the contract and the purpose of the contract.
- 2.6 In relation to the decisions of the Commissioner:
 - a) The date, time and place of each public meeting to be held by the Commissioner.
 - b) A copy of the agenda for each public meeting held by the Commissioner, and any report or other document that is the subject matter of an item on the agenda.
 - c) A copy of the minutes of each public meeting held by the Commissioner, and of each meeting which is not a public meeting but at which matters of significant public interest arising from the exercise of the body's functions are discussed.
 - d) A record of each decision of significant public interest arising from the exercise of the Commissioner's functions, whether made by the body at or as a result of a meeting or otherwise.
- 2.7 In relation to the policies of the Commissioner:
 - a) A statement of the policy of the Commissioner in relation to the conduct of the Commissioner and any Deputy Commissioner appointed by the Commissioner, including procedures for the handling of qualifying

complaints and conduct matters (within the meaning of section 31 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011).

- b) A statement of the policy of the Commissioner in relation to the making of decisions of significant public interest arising from the exercise of the Commissioner's functions.
- c) A statement of the policy of the Commissioner in relation to records management, including procedures for the security and sharing of information and the retention and destruction of documents.
- d) A statement of the policy of the Commissioner in relation to the handling of qualifying disclosures (within the meaning of section 43B of the Employment Rights Act 1996).

3 Publication

- 3.1 The information specified in the following provisions is to be published as soon as practicable after an election, and shall be reviewed each year thereafter and any variation published:
 - a) Paragraph 2.1 (a) to (c)
 - b) Paragraph 2.2 (d)
 - c) Paragraph 2.5(a)
 - d) Paragraph 2.7
- 3.2 The information specified in paragraph 2.4 (a) to (e) is to be published in respect of each financial year, before the beginning of the financial year to which it relates.
- 3.3 The information specified in paragraph 2.1(f) is to be published in respect of each financial year, as soon as practicable after the end of the financial year to which it relates.
- 3.4 The information specified in paragraph 2.2 (a) to (c) is to be published as soon as practicable after an election, and shall be reviewed every six months thereafter and any variation published.
- 3.5 The information specified in the paragraphs 2.1(d), 2.4(f) and 2.5(d) is to be published quarterly, as soon as practicable after the end of the quarter to which it relates.
- 3.6 The information specified in paragraph 2.4 (f) and (g) is to be published each month, as soon as practicable after the end of the month to which it relates.
- 3.7 The information specified in paragraphs 2.1 (e) and 2.2 (e) is to be published as soon as practicable after an election, and any variation is to be published as soon as practicable after it becomes known to the elected local policing body.
- 3.8 The information specified in the following provisions is to be published as soon as practicable after it becomes available to the elected local policing body:
 - a) Paragraph 2.5 (b) and (c)
 - b) Paragraph 2.6
- 3.9 As in Essex the elected individual is the post holder for both the PCC and the Fire and Rescue Authority, the Commissioner must publish the information specified in 2.1 (a), (b), (c) and (e) in consolidated form rather than separately.

Schedule 6 - Information Management Protocol

Updated February 2020

1 Introduction

- 1.1 This Information Management Protocol has been developed to govern how information (including sensitive personal data) is processed between the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority ("the Authority"), and the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex ("the PFCC").
- 1.2 It is acknowledged that, in the performance of its statutory functions as both the Authority and the Police and Crime Commissioner, it is necessary for the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner ("the PFCC") to process information (including sensitive personal data) relating to both policing matters and the fire and rescue service. This Protocol is intended to ensure transparency about how such information is processed and handled by staff supporting them in their roles as the Authority and the PFCC.
- 1.3 This Protocol is intended to ensure transparency about how such information is processed and shared. This Protocol will explain:
 - a) The relationship between the Authority and the PFCC.
 - b) Who has managerial oversight and responsibility for the processing of information by the Authority and the PFCC.
 - c) Which information may be processed under this Protocol.
 - d) The processes for sharing such information.
 - e) The use of information under this Protocol.
 - f) How miscellaneous matters will be managed.
- 1.4 For the purposes of this Protocol the term "Authority" means persons employed by the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority who work solely on matters related to the fire and rescue service for Essex.
- 1.5 For the purpose of this Protocol the term "PFCC" means persons employed by the PFCC.
- 1.6 This Protocol is designed to provide clarity by setting out the administrative processes by which the relevant information processing will occur.
- 1.7 Information processed in accordance with this Protocol will comprise of some information that is defined as 'personal data' under Section 1 of the Data Protection Act 2018 ("DPA") and Article 4(1) of the General Data Protection Regulation (2016/679) ("GDPR"). The Protocol helps support compliance with such data protection legislation.

2 The relationship between the Authority and the PFCC

2.1 The Policing and Crime Act 2017 enabled police and crime commissioners to take on the governance of fire and rescue authorities, subject to a business case being approved by the Home Office. In accordance with the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex (Fire and Rescue Authority) Order 2017 ("the Order"), from 1st October 2017, the Police

and Crime Commissioner for Essex became the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex and took on responsibility for the governance of fire and rescue services in Essex.

- 2.2 The PFCC employs a small team to support them in discharging their functions as the PCC and as the Authority.
- 2.3 In order for the PFCC to discharge those functions, it is necessary for the PFCC to process information relating to both policing and fire and rescue services. The Authority and the PFCC will share information to ensure smooth governance and that all relevant statutory functions are being properly discharged. The PFCC will ensure that such information is limited to that which is strictly necessary.
- 2.4 This Protocol is not intended to cover information that is shared by the Authority or the PFCC with the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel. This is supported by separate Protocols.

3 Managerial oversight for the processing of information by the Authority and the PFCC

- 3.1 Managerial oversight of the information processing under this Protocol will be conducted by the individuals identified in the following paragraphs.
- 3.2 In the case of processing of information by the Authority, managerial oversight will be conducted by the Deputy Chief Fire Officer (Rick Hylton), who is based at Kelvedon Park and may be contacted by email at rick.hylton@essex-fire.gov.uk.
- 3.3 For the PFCC, managerial oversight will be performed by the Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer (Pippa Brent-Isherwood), who is also based at Kelvedon Park and may be contacted by email at pippa.brent-isherwood@essex.police.uk.
- 3.4 Both individuals will be responsible for the management of this Protocol and ensuring compliance with it.
- 3.5 Processing of information on a day-to-day basis under this Protocol will generally be undertaken by other individuals and methods described in Section 5.

4 Information that may be processed under this Protocol

- 4.1 As a broad principle any information within the possession of the Authority may be processed by the PFCC.
- 4.2 That said, the PFCC will only process information relating to the Authority where all of the following apply:
 - a) The processing is reasonably required to assist the Authority in exercising the functions of their office effectively.
 - b) The processing would not contradict any legal obligation upon the Authority that precludes such processing.
- 4.3 Subject to 4.2 above and notwithstanding that the PFCC will be entitled to process information relating to the Authority as required to fulfil and exercise the Authority's statutory functions, the PFCC does not intend to process information relating to the

Authority in such a way to prejudice ongoing or potential investigations or prosecutions by the Authority or other parties.

4.4 Information will be shared by the PFCC with the Authority where necessary to exercise the Authority's functions and will be strictly limited to information which is necessary and appropriate for that purpose. The PFCC will share no excessive or irrelevant information with the Authority.

5 Processes for sharing

- 5.1 The processes for sharing information between the Authority and the PFCC will be shared in accordance with any of the following basic process models, with the most appropriate option used according to the circumstances:
 - a) **Request and Respond** the PFCC will approach the Authority to request information they believe the latter does, or may, hold. This could be via telephone, email, letter, arising from a meeting, or by use of a form. The Authority would then respond to the PFCC by any of those means.
 - b) At a Meeting a formal meeting (with terms of reference, agenda etc.) will be held to which representatives of the Authority and the PFCC will be invited. The parties will attend with their information likely to be of interest to parties. At the start of the meeting a confidentiality statement will be signed by all attendees. During the course of the meeting attendees will disclose relevant information as necessary.
 - c) 'Self-Service' –the PFCC will have direct access to the Authority's information (usually via an IT system) and the PFCC will obtain the information through that process. When accessing the Authority's IT systems, the PFCC will abide by the Authority's IT policies and procedures.
 - d) **Digital Feed** The Authority will automatically provide the PFCC with information digitally via an IT infrastructure, usually on a regular, repeated basis.
- 5.2 Information shared will be provided in any of the following formats, with the most appropriate option used according to the circumstances:
 - Verbally (e.g. either face to face meetings or via the telephone).
 - Digitally (e.g. via email, text, through access to an IT System, via digital media, via screen etc.).
 - Hard copy (e.g., via completed forms, print outs, other documents).

6 Use of Information

- 6.1 Any information processed under this Protocol may only be used by:
 - a) The PFCC for the purposes of the effective exercise of the Authority's functions or as otherwise required by, or under, any rule of law.
 - b) The Authority in the support of the PFCC's functions, or as otherwise required by, or under, any rule of law.
 - c) Any information processed in accordance with this Protocol will not be used in a manner that contradicts any prohibition on further disclosure including, where applicable, the common law duty of confidence. Information will be accessed by individuals on a 'need to know' basis.

7 Miscellaneous Matters

- 7.1 This Protocol will come into effect on 1st March 2020 and supersedes the previous version, which came into effect on 1st October 2017.
- 7.2 This Protocol will continue to apply for as long as the PFCC is the fire and rescue authority for Essex as determined by section 3(2) of the 2017 Order.
- 7.3 This Protocol will be reviewed within twelve months from the date it comes into effect and thereafter as necessary. The review will be initiated by either of the individuals listed in section 3. They will consider whether the Protocol is still useful and fit for purpose, identify any emerging issues, and determine whether the Protocol should be amended in any way.
- 7.4 The use of the Government Security Classifications (GSC) will be adhered to in relation to the handling of any information processed in accordance with this Protocol.
- 7.5 Should either party receive any request for information, such as a freedom of information request, data protection subject access request, or under any other under rule of law, that encompasses information processed in accordance with this Protocol, that party will inform the other as soon as possible, and in any case prior to the disclosure of the information, in order that the potential implications of responding to the request can be fully assessed and any necessary remedial actions initiated.
- 7.6 The Authority acknowledges that, where it is necessary and appropriate to do so, some information relating to the Authority may be shared by the PFCC with the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel.
- 7.7 Should the Authority receive a complaint relating to the PFCC's policing functions, it will inform the PFCC's Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer as soon as possible.
- 7.8 Any letters and electronic communications from Members of Parliament (and those of similar standing) will be shared between the Authority and the PFCC where the content and response falls within their respective responsibilities. Where a letter or electronic communication contains operational matters the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive's office will provide the Authority with a draft response to that matter. The PFCC will use such draft as the basis of its response to the communication.
- 7.9 All staff involved with processing information in accordance with this Protocol will be provided with sufficient training and guidance to enable them to comply with this Protocol and the data protection legislation.
- 7.10 This Protocol may be made public in accordance with the Commissioner's transparency agenda.

Schedule 7 -



Information Sharing Protocol

Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex

and

Police, Fire and Crime Panel for Essex

1. Introduction

This Information Sharing Protocol (ISP) has been developed between the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex (the 'PFCC'²) and the Police, Fire and Crime Panel for Essex ('the Panel') or hereafter termed 'parties' to explain:

- why the parties have agreed to share information;
- the legal justification behind the sharing;
- who, within each party, has managerial oversight and responsibility for the information sharing;
- which information may be shared;
- the processes for sharing;
- the use of shared information;
- how miscellaneous matters will be managed.

This version of the ISP replaces all previous versions of this document.

For the purposes of this ISP the term 'sharing' information means providing or disclosing information to the other party by any means.

This ISP is designed to provide clarity and reassurance to both parties by setting out the administrative processes by which sharing will occur.

Information shared under this ISP will comprise of some information that is defined as 'personal data' under the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation 2016 (GDPR) and the ISP helps support both parties' compliance with that legislation.

In October 2017 the Essex Police and Crime Commissioner took on a single governance role for the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service and since that point has become the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (PFCC). In line with this change the Panel is now called the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel. The PFCC is two separate legal entities, one with responsibilities for the police and the other being the fire and rescue authority. This protocol applies to both entities.

The Panel is a joint committee of the 15 Essex local authorities which is administered and supported by Essex County Council which has entered into a grant agreement with the Home Secretary under which the Panel receives funding for its activities. Both the PFCC and the Panel are subject to the Data Protection Act 2018 and the GDPR. The PFCC and Essex County Council have each appointed a Data Protection Officer (DPO) who may provide guidance and advice on information sharing and associated policy and procedure.

E|

² For the purposes of this ISP the term PFCC is used to encompass the person elected as the Essex Police, Fire & Crime Commissioner and any staff authorised to work for or on their behalf or under their direction and control.

2. Why the parties have agreed to share information

The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 created the role of PCC for each of the police forces in England and Wales (excluding London) and set out the functions that the PFCC and the PFCP must discharge.

The Policing and Crime Act 2017 obligates 'blue light services' to collaborate more effectively. Following public consultation, the submission of a business case and approval by the Home Office, the PCC for Essex took on single governance of the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service in October 2017, becoming the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner, Fire and Rescue Authority. Equally, the Essex Police and Crime Panel scrutinises the PFCC and is now the Essex Police Fire and Crime Panel (PFCP).

For the PFCP to discharge those functions there is a requirement for some personal data in the possession of the PFCC to be shared with the PFCP. A reciprocal sharing of some personal data from the PFCP to the PFCC may also be required to assist in the discharge of the PFCC's functions.

This ISP is not intended to cover a) information sharing between the PFCC and Essex Police or b) information sharing between the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel and Essex Police or the Independent Office of Police Conduct.

3. How the sharing can be legally justified

The legal justification for the sharing of personal data between the PFCC and the PFCP is derived from the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 and Statutory Instrument 2011 No. 2744, 'The Policing Protocol Order 2011'.

That instrument is an outcome of Section 79 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 which required the Secretary of State to issue a Policing Protocol, namely a document setting out, or otherwise making provision about, the ways in which relevant persons should exercise or refrain from exercising functions so as to encourage, maintain or improve working relationships or limit or prevent the overlapping or conflicting exercise of functions.

"Relevant persons" for these purposes are the Secretary of State (in the exercise of their policing functions), elected local policing bodies (namely police and crime commissioners and the Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime), chief officers of police forces maintained by elected local policing bodies, and police and crime panels. These persons must have regard to the Policing Protocol in exercising their functions.

Paragraph 24 of the Protocol Order relates to Police and Crime Panels and states:

"The Panel provides checks and balances in relation to the performance of the PCC. The Panel does not scrutinise the Chief Constable – it scrutinises the PCC's exercise of their statutory functions. While the Panel is there to challenge the PCC, it must also exercise its functions with a view to supporting the effective exercise of the PCC's functions. This includes-

...

(d) the power to review the draft Plan and make recommendations to the PCC who must have regard to them;

(e) the power to review the PCC's Annual Report and make reports and recommendations at a public meeting, which the PCC must attend;

(f) the power to require relevant reports and information in the PCC's possession (except those which are operationally sensitive) to enable them to fulfil their statutory obligations

..."

In order for the PFCC to provide information to the PFCP, the PFCP will, on occasion, need to make requests for information and those requests themselves may be considered information sharing.

4. Managerial Oversight for the Information Sharing

Managerial oversight of the sharing of personal data under this ISP will be conducted by the individuals identified in the following paragraphs:

In the case of the PFCC, the Chief Executive, Pippa Brent Isherwood, will perform that role. She is based at the office of Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner and may be contacted by email at Pippa.Brent-Isherwood@essex.police.uk

For the PFCP that role will be conducted by the Head of Democracy and Transparency at Essex County Council, currently Joanna Boaler. The Head of Democracy and Transparency is based at the offices of Essex County Council (County Hall, Chelmsford) and may be contacted by email at democratic.services@essex.gov.uk

Both individuals are responsible for the management of this ISP and ensuring compliance with it. Sharing of information on a day-to-day basis under this ISP will generally be undertaken by other individuals and methods described in Section 6.

5. Information that may be shared

As a broad principle any information within the possession of the PFCC may be considered for sharing with the PFCP.

However, personal data will only be shared by the PFCC with the PFCP where **all** of the following apply:

- the sharing is reasonably required to assist the PFCP in the exercising of its functions (as legally defined) effectively;
- the sharing would not contradict any legal or contractual obligation upon the PFCC that precluded sharing;
- the sharing would not, in the view of the PFCC, fetter, restrict or restrain the Chief Constable's direction and / or control of Essex Police, nor prejudice ongoing or potential investigations or prosecutions by Essex Police or other parties.

Information will be shared by the PFCP with the PFCC where necessary to exercise the PFCC or PFCP's functions or where thought necessary to assist the 'policing purpose'.

6. Processes for sharing

The detailed processes for sharing information between the PFCC and the PFCP will be developed by both parties at regular, appropriate intervals and may be documented in a further iteration of this ISP.

Information will be shared in accordance with any of the following basic process models, with the most appropriate option used according to the circumstances:

- **Request and Respond** the PFCP will approach the PFCC to request information it believes the latter does, or may, hold. This could be via telephone, email, fax, letter, a list of actions arising from a meeting, or by use of a form. The PFCC would then respond to the PFCP by any of those means.
- At a Meeting a formal meeting (with terms of reference, agenda etc.) will be held by the PFCP to which the PFCC (and on occasions the Chief Constable and / or Chief Fire Officer) will be invited. The parties will attend with their information likely to be of interest to parties. As a part of this agreement all parties accept that confidentially is implicit. During the course of the meeting parties disclose relevant information as necessary.

Information shared will be provided in any of the following formats, with the most appropriate option used according to the circumstances:

- Orally e.g. either face to face meetings or via the telephone.
- Digitally e.g. via email, text, through access to an IT system, via digital media, via screen etc.
- Hard copy e.g. via completed forms, print outs, other documents.

The sharing will be undertaken by either of the individuals identified in Section 4 and any other individuals nominated by them as being permitted to do so. The parties will provide each other with the names and contact details of such individuals and will revise those lists as necessary.

7. Use of Shared Information

Any information shared under this ISP may only be used by:

- (i) the PFCP for the purposes of the effective exercise of the PFCP's functions (as legally defined) or as otherwise required by, or under, any rule of law.
- (ii) the PFCC in support of the PFCP's functions, or for 'the policing purpose' or as otherwise required by, or under, any rule of law.

Any information shared under this ISP will not be used in a manner that contradicts any prohibition on further disclosure including, where applicable, the common law duty of confidence. Shared information will be accessed by individuals on a 'need to know' basis.

Both parties will pay due regard to the protective marking applied to shared information under the Government Security Classification Scheme.

As separate 'data controllers' both parties are individually obliged to ensure that information received from the other party which is 'personal data' is 'processed'³ in accordance with the requirements of the Data Protection Act 2018 and GDPR.

8. Breaches

Any breaches of security, confidentiality or other violations of shared personal data must be reported to the owning party as soon as possible and in any case within 24 hours.

Any breach of information by a party is their responsibility. Each party is accountable for any misuse of personal data shared and the consequences of such misuse.

The parties shall provide reasonable assistance as is necessary to each other to facilitate the handling of any data security breach. In the event of a dispute or claim brought by a data subject or the Data Protection Authority concerning the processing of shared personal data against either or both parties, the parties will inform each other about any such disputes or claims and will cooperate with a view to settling them amicably in a timely fashion.

9. Miscellaneous Matters

Both parties:

- Agree that they may withdraw from the ISP upon giving written notice to the other party. A party who withdraws must continue to comply with the terms of this ISP in respect of any personal data that the party has obtained through being a signatory. Information which is no longer relevant should be returned or destroyed in an appropriate manner.
- Agree to review the ISP as necessary. The review will be initiated by either of the individuals listed in section 4. They will consider whether the ISP is still useful and fit for purpose, identify any emerging issues and determine whether the ISP should be extended for a further period or whether to terminate it. The decision to extend or terminate the ISP, and the reasons, will be recorded.
- Agree to respect any handling requirements, for example those arising from the use of the Government Security Classification Scheme.
- Agree that, should they receive any request for information, such as a Freedom
 of Information request, Data Protection Subject Access request, or under any
 other rule of law that encompasses information provided by the other party, they
 will advise the providing party as soon as possible. In any case communication
 between the parties should be prior to disclosure of the information, so that the
 potential implications of responding to the request can be fully assessed and any
 necessary remedial actions initiated.

- Agree that should they receive any complaint concerning personal data provided by the other party they will advise the other party as soon as possible and in any case prior to responding to the complaint.
- Agree to provide all staff involved with information sharing under this ISP with sufficient training and guidance to enable them to comply with this ISP.
- Agree that this ISP may be made available to the public in its entirety.

Schedule 8 -

Revised Financial Management Code of Practice For the Police Forces of England and Wales and Fire and Rescue Authorities created under section 4A of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa ds/attachment_data/file/727772/CCS207_CCS0718021968-001_HO_FMCP_2018_Print_.pdf

Schedule 9 - Scheme of Delegation

1 Introduction

- 1.1 The Scheme of Delegation details the key responsibilities of the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority ("the Commissioner") and those functions which they delegate to officers.
- 1.2 This Scheme of Delegation forms part of the Commissioner's governance framework to ensure that business is carried out efficiently without unnecessarily delaying decisions.
- 1.3 The powers set out in this Scheme of Delegation should be exercised in accordance with the consent of the Commissioner, the law, standing orders, financial and procurement regulations, and also policies, procedures, plans, strategies and budgets including the Fire and Rescue Plan.
- 1.4 This Scheme of Delegation does not identify all the statutory duties of the Commissioner, which are contained in specific legislation and regulation.
- 1.5 Words denoting the singular shall include the plural and vice versa. Words denoting the masculine gender shall include the feminine gender and vice versa.

2 Public Accountability

- 2.1 The public accountability for the delivery and performance of the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service ("ECFRS") is placed, by the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex (Fire and Rescue Authority) Order 2017, into the hands of the Commissioner on behalf of their electorate.
- 2.2 The Commissioner draws on their statutory duty and electoral mandate to set and shape the strategic objectives of the fire and rescue service in consultation with the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive. The Commissioner is accountable to the electorate; the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive is accountable to the Commissioner for functions that are delegated to them.
- 2.3 The Commissioner will be held to account by the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel ("the Panel") which will scrutinise their decisions.

3 The Key Roles of the Commissioner

- 3.1 The Commissioner has a statutory duty and electoral mandate to hold the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service to account on behalf of the public.
- 3.2 The Commissioner is the recipient of all funding, including the government grant and precept and other sources of income relating to fire and rescue services in Essex, and all funding for the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service must come via the Commissioner. How this money is allocated is a matter for the Commissioner in consultation with the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive, or in accordance with any grant terms. The Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive will provide professional advice and recommendations.
- 3.3 The Commissioner has the legal power and duty to:

- a) Provide the local link between the fire and rescue service and local communities, working to translate the legitimate desires and aspirations of the public into action.
- b) Decide the budget and set the fire and rescue precept for the area.
- c) Maintain an efficient and effective fire and rescue service for the area.
- d) Set the strategic direction and objectives of the service through the Fire and Rescue Plan, which must have regard to the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England set by the Secretary of State.
- e) Scrutinise, support and challenge the overall performance of ECFRS including against the priorities agreed within the Fire and Rescue Plan.
- f) Approve an Integrated Risk Management Plan ("IRMP") for the area.
- g) Prepare and issue a Fire and Rescue Statement.
- h) Publish information specified by the Secretary of State and information that the Authority considers necessary to enable the people who live in the area to assess the performance of the ECFRS.
- i) Comply with all reasonable formal requests from the Police, Fire and Crime Panel to attend its meetings.
- Appoint a Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive to lead and manage the personnel, equipment and services secured for carrying out the functions of the Fire and Rescue Service.
- k) Suspend and dismiss the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive.
- Appoint such other staff as the Authority thinks appropriate to enable the Authority to exercise their functions, and to pay remuneration, expenses, gratuities and pensions to those staff.
- m) Hold the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive to account for the exercise of:
 - i. The functions which are delegated to the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive.
 - ii. The functions of persons under the directions and control of the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive.
- n) Scrutinise the work of officers and staff of the service.
- o) Monitor all complaints made against employees, whilst having responsibility for complaints against the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive.
- 3.4 In order to exercise the functions of their office effectively, the Commissioner will need access to information and officer and staff within the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service. Such access to any information must not be unreasonably withheld or obstructed by the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive and / or fetter the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive's discretion and control of the Service.
- 3.5 The Commissioner is a corporation sole which owns all the assets, land and buildings upon it including all rights and liabilities which derive from that ownership. Any consent given by the Commissioner to the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive to enter into contracts is given on the condition that all assets arising from the contracts are for the use and benefit of the Commissioner. The role of the Commissioner outlined in paragraph 3.3, including the specific responsibility to raise revenues, particularly through the precept, which cannot be delegated, reinforce the position of retaining ownership of all assets and contracts for the benefit of the public of Essex.

- 3.6 The Commissioner may appoint a deputy to exercise their functions, with the exception of those functions which cannot be delegated detailed within paragraph 5.1.
- 3.7 The Commissioner may also arrange for any person who is not the Deputy PFCC to exercise any function of the Commissioner, whether or not there is a Deputy PFCC. Note however that the functions listed in paragraph 6.3 may **only** be delegated to a Deputy PFCC, if appointed.

4 General Principles of Delegation

- 4.1 This Scheme of Delegation does not attempt to list all matters that form part of the everyday management responsibilities, however delegated authority does include the management of the human and material resources required to deliver the delegated functions.
- 4.2 The Commissioner may ask that a specific matter is referred to them for a decision and not dealt with under this scheme of delegation.
- 4.3 Any person to whom powers have been delegated under this scheme may refer the matter back to the Commissioner for a decision if that person thinks this is appropriate, for example, due to sensitive issues or decisions with significant financial implications.
- 4.4 When a person is considering a matter under this scheme that impacts upon another person's area of responsibility, they should consult that person before proceeding with any decision.
- 4.5 This scheme includes the power for officers further to delegate in writing all or any of the delegated functions to other officers (described by name or post) either fully or under the general supervision and control of the delegating officer. Sub delegations shall be recorded in a register kept by the Monitoring Officer.
- 4.6 The power to dismiss staff shall not be delegated below the rank of Area Manager / Brigade Manager (for uniformed staff) or equivalent support staff Directors / Assistant Directors (for non-uniformed staff) and only be exercised in accordance with the Disciplinary Procedure.
- 4.7 In exercising delegated powers, officers shall not go beyond the provision in the revenue or capital budgets for the Commissioner, except to the extent permitted by Financial and Procurement Regulations.
- 4.8 All decisions made under delegations from the Commissioner must be recorded and available for inspection.
- 4.9 This scheme includes the obligation on officers to keep the Commissioner properly informed of activity arising within the scope of these delegations.
- 4.10 The Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive is responsible for ensuring that the staff of the fire and rescue service are aware of the provisions and obligations of this Scheme of Delegation.
- 4.11 The Monitoring Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Head of Paid Service have statutory powers and duties relating to their positions and therefore do not rely on delegations in order for those powers and duties to be executed.

- 4.12 This Scheme of Delegation provides officers with the authority to undertake the duties of the Commissioner. Whilst undertaking these duties the person must comply with all other relevant statutory and regulatory requirements as well as:
 - a) Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004
 - b) Civil Contingencies Act 2004
 - c) Policing and Crime Act 2017
 - d) Financial and Procurement Regulations
 - e) Home Office Financial Management Codes of Practice relating to the fire and rescue service
 - f) CIPFA Statement on the role of the Chief Financial Officer in public service organisations
 - g) The Public Contract Regulations
 - h) The Commissioner's employment policies and procedures
 - i) The Commissioner's Constitution
 - j) The Data Protection Act 2018, the General Data Protection Regulation and the Freedom of Information Act 2000
 - k) Health and Safety at Work legislation and codes.
 - I) Equality Act 2010 and related equality and diversity regulation and guidance
- 4.13 The Commissioner and their staff must have regard to the following. This list is indicative only and should not be considered to be exhaustive:
 - a) The views of communities in Essex

b) Any report or recommendation made by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel on the Fire and Rescue Statement for the previous financial year

c) The Fire and Rescue Plan and any guidance issued by the Secretary of State

4.14 This Scheme of Delegation is a record of the formal delegations that are in effect at the time of its publication. The Commissioner's Constitution, including this scheme of delegation will be reviewed periodically.

5 Commissioner's functions that are not delegated to Officers

- 5.1 The following functions have not been delegated by the Commissioner:
 - a) The function of calculating a council tax requirement.
 - b) The function of approving the Fire and Rescue Plan and the Fire and Rescue Statement.
 - c) The function of approving the Integrated Risk Management Plan.
 - d) The function of appointing, suspending or dismissing the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive.
 - e) The function of holding the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive to account for functions which are delegated to them or functions of persons under the direction and control of the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive.
 - f) The function of approving a pay policy statement prepared for the purposes of section 38 of the Localism Act 2011.
 - g) The function of approving arrangements to enter into a reinforcement scheme under section 13 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004.
 - h) The function of approving arrangements with other employers of fire fighters under section 15 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004.

- i) The function of approving arrangements under section 16 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004.
- j) The function of approving plans, modifications to plans and additions to plans for the purpose of ensuring that:
 - i. So far as is reasonably practicable, the Commissioner is able to perform their fire and rescue functions if an emergency occurs; and
 - ii. The Commissioner is able to perform its functions so far as necessary or desirable for the purpose of preventing an emergency, or reducing, controlling or mitigating the effects of an emergency, or taking other action in connection with it.
- k) The function of approving any arrangements for the co-operation of the Authority and other general Category 1 responders and general Category 2 responders in respect of:
 - i. The performance of the Commissioner's duty as a fire and rescue authority under section 2 of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004; and
 - ii. Any duties under subordinate legislation made in exercise of powers under that Act.
- I) The function of approving the Medium Term Financial Plan, the Capital Financing Policy and the Treasury Management Strategy.
- m) The function of approving decisions on permanent savings in the budget to achieve the Commissioner's priorities.
- n) The function of approving the Estates Strategy.
- o) The function of making an order for the compulsory acquisition of land in accordance with the Acquisition of Land Act 1981.
- p) The function of acquisition of land in advance of requirements.
- q) The function of approving the IT / Technology Strategy.
- r) The function of confirmation of any order or the issue or grant of any permission, consent, licence or other determination which is the subject of a statutory right of objection that has been duly exercised.
- s) The function of approving decisions on the closure or re-location of fire stations.
- t) The function of reducing or varying, on a permanent basis, the number of fire appliances and the method used to crew the appliances.
- u) The function of approving the People Strategy.
- v) The function of approving the staff Code of Conduct.
- w) The function of approving the Staff Disciplinary and Grievance Policies.
- x) The function of approving the Complaints and Compliments and Whistleblowing Policies.
- y) The function of approving the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy.
- z) The function of approving prevention, protection and response strategies.
- aa) The function of approving the Risk Management Policy and Strategy.
- bb) The function of affixing documents with the common seal of the Commissioner as required by the Financial and Procurement Regulations.

6 Functions which are delegated to the Deputy Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner

6.1 The Commissioner may appoint a deputy ("Deputy PFCC") to exercise their functions, with the exception of those detailed in paragraph 5.1 a-k.

- 6.2 With the exception of the functions detailed in paragraph 5.1 a-k the Deputy PFCC has the power to exercise all of the functions of the Commissioner.
- 6.3 The Deputy PFCC may arrange for any other person to exercise any function of the Commissioner which is exercisable by the Deputy PFCC, with the exception of:
 - a) The function of determining the Commissioner's priorities and objectives for the purpose of the Fire and Rescue Plan and the Fire and Rescue Statement.
 - b) The function of attendance at a meeting of the Police, Fire and Crime Panel for Essex in compliance with a requirement by the Panel to do so.
 - c) The function of appointing a local auditor under section 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.
 - d) The function of deciding whether to enter into a liability limitation agreement under section 14 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

7 Functions delegated to the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive

- 7.1 To act as the Head of Paid Service under section 4 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.
- 7.2 To exercise the functions of the Commissioner, excluding those functions set out in 5.1, and in particular:

a) To prepare an Integrated Risk Management Plan which is in accordance with the requirements of the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England. The plan must set out an assessment of all foreseeable fire and rescue related risks that could affect the area and proposals, including about the allocation of resources for the mitigation of those risks. The Commissioner may not make arrangements for the delegation of the function of preparing and publishing an integrated risk management plan to any person other than the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive.

b) To undertake the recruitment and management of staff in accordance with agreed policies and procedures.

c) To take decisions and exercise discretions on matters of personnel, development, health and safety and compensation as set out in the fire and rescue service's employment policies and procedures.

d) To determine and issue general guidelines to officers and staff for the management of human resources and in particular recruitment, training, conditions of service, rewards, health and safety and employment relations, discipline and dismissals.

e) To implement national and local pay awards.

f) To exercise discretions under certain provisions of the Local Government Superannuation Regulations and Firemen's Pension Scheme after consultation with and having due regard to the opinion of the Chief Financial Officer. In particular but not limited to:

> i) In respect of retirement allowances payable to Grey Book employees as set out in the National Joint Council for Local Authorities Fire Brigade Scheme of Conditions of Service (2004), the Firemen's Pension Scheme Order 1992 and the Firefighters Pension Scheme (England) Order 2006,

the Chief Fire Officer is authorised to exercise discretion on behalf of the Commissioner regarding retirement on the grounds of permanent disability and determination of awards to be received under the scheme, and to approve members of the Firefighters' Pension Scheme to count as pensionable service any absence as a result of industrial action providing they pay the appropriate pension contributions.

ii) In respect of retirement allowance payable to Green Book employees as contained in the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 and the Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 1997 as amended, the Chief Fire Officer is authorised to exercise the powers and duties of the Commissioner to release early payment of pension benefits in relation to redundancy, efficiency of the service or in accordance with Regulation 31 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 subject to approval by the Commissioner after consultation with the Chief Financial Officer.

g) To authorise the acquisition, re-use, appropriation and disposal of land and buildings or of any interest therein limited to £100,000.

h) In an operational context, managing and providing strategic leadership for any major operational incidents by devising, overseeing and monitoring plans and the use of resources and authorising recall to duty, where appropriate, or delegating such operational roles to a senior officer (Brigade Manager).

i) To influence the direction of local, regional and national policy in support of the vision, aims and objectives of the Commissioner.

j) To ensure that the Commissioner's activities are carried out with maximum effect and efficiency.

k) To manage the Commissioner's budget, along with the Chief Financial Officer, and ensure that good value for money is obtained in exercising functions of the fire and rescue service.

I) To lead and direct the strategic management of the fire and rescue service.

m) Authorise named employees of the fire and rescue service, in writing, to exercise those powers, as are relevant to the Commissioner, under sections 44, 45 and 46 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004.

n) authorise named employees of the fire and rescue service, in writing, to exercise powers as are relevant to the Commissioner under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005.

o) Authorise named employees of the fire and rescue service, in writing, to exercise those powers, obligations etc. as are relevant to the Commissioner under any statutory provision which may from time to time be created, replace, amend or extend the provisions of any enactment and any orders, directions, regulations, code or byelaws made thereunder and any ministerial circulars or advice or note relating thereto.

p) To authorise surveillance activity in accordance with the fire and rescue service's policy.

- 7.3 To provide information to the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel as appropriate to enable the Panel to carry out its functions.
- 7.4 To consider and approve, in consultation with the Chief Financial Officer, the indemnity to the Commissioner and Deputy PFCC in accordance with the Local Authorities (Indemnities for Members and Officers) Order 2004.
- 7.5 The Commissioner gives consent to the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive to enter into contracts involving the sale or purchase of goods and services up to £250,000, provided that:

a) Any assets arising from the transfer are treated in accordance with paragraph 3.5

- b) The contracts do not relate to land
- c) The contracts do not relate to the borrowing of money

d) The Commissioner if advised in writing of the intention to enter into the contract at least seven days in advance. On receipt of the written notice, the Commissioner may withdraw their consent to enter into the contract or become either a party or the party to the contract of which they have been notified.

7.7 The Commissioner gives consent to the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive, in any legal proceedings involving the Commissioner, to approve the financial settlement of all claims or requests for compensation that are non-significant because:

a) The compensation to be paid is $\pounds100,000$ or less (to include multiple or linked claims / claimants) or, in the case of accident claims or ex-gratia payments for damage caused by officers and staff, the compensation sum is $\pounds10,000$ or less

b) They do not involve a high profile claimant including Principal Officers

c) There is no significant public interest in the case

 d) The risk that the Commissioner or ECFRS will be exposed to serious public criticism or serious weakness in the organisation of policies and procedures is considered low
 e) It is not a test case

7.7 The duties of the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive shall be performed by them personally or, where they are unable to act owing to absence or illness, personally by the Deputy Chief Fire Officer.

8 Functions delegated to the Chief Financial Officer

- 8.1 To exercise the proper administration of the Commissioner's financial affairs as set out in Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, section 73 of the Local Government Act 1985 and section 112 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988.
- 8.2 To have responsibility for the overall management of the internal audit function in accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 1996.
- 8.3 To produce and manage the Commissioner's cash flow in accordance with the treasury management strategy and supporting policies and procedures.
- 8.4 To deal with all insurance matters
- 8.5 To prepare the Commissioner's budget for submission to the Commissioner and undertake day-to-day management of the Commissioner's budget. To commit expenditure within the Commissioner's approved budget to meet the objectives agreed with the Commissioner and reflected in the Fire and Rescue Plan. To manage co-

ordination of the budget process and monitor the Commissioner's actual performance against budget.

- 8.6 Reporting to the Commissioner, via the Fire and Rescue Strategic Board, a proposed Treasury Management Strategy for the coming financial year no later than February of the preceding year.
- 8.7 To implement and monitor the Treasury Management Strategy
- 8.8 All Commissioner decisions on borrowing, investment or financing are delegated to the Chief Financial Officer, who is required to act in accordance with CIPFA's Code of Practice for Treasury Management, following approval of the Treasury Management Strategy.
- 8.9 To manage grants awarded to the Commissioner.
- 8.10 To make arrangements for securing and preparing the Commissioner's accounts and seek assurances that there are appropriate arrangements in place for the service's accounts.
- 8.11 To approve the opening and closing of all bank accounts.
- 8.12 To initiate a review of the Financial and Procurement Regulations from time to time (at least annually) and to update any financial limits therein broadly in line with inflation for approval by the Commissioner.
- 8.13 Within Service budgets, accept tenders, place contracts and procure other resources within or outside the entity subject to compliance with the Financial and Procurement Regulations.
- 8.14 The Commissioner gives consent to the Chief Financial Officer to enter into contracts involving the sale or purchase of goods and services up to £250,000, provided that:

a) Any assets arising from the transfer are treated in accordance with paragraph 3.5

- b) The contracts do not relate to land
- c) The contracts do not relate to the borrowing of money

d) The Commissioner if advised in writing of the intention to enter into the contract at least seven days in advance. On receipt of the written notice, the Commissioner may withdraw their consent to enter into the contract or become either a party or the party to the contract of which they have been notified.

- 8.15 Terminate contractual and other commissioning arrangements after receiving appropriate legal advice.
- 8.16 To deliver the finance functions and those related to activities delivered under any contract or Service Level Agreement.
- 8.17 To provide financial information to the media, members of the public and the community as required.
- 8.18 To act as money laundering reporting officer under the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 and Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on the Payee) Regulations 2017 or other appropriate legislation from time to time in force.

- 8.19 To determine when any goods are surplus to requirements or obsolete and arrange for disposal in line with financial and procurement regulations.
- 8.20 After consulting with the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive and the Monitoring Officer, to report to the Commissioner and the external auditor if they consider that any proposal, decision or course of action will involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency, or if the Authority is about to enter an item of account unlawfully.
- 8.21 To appoint a deputy in accordance with the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.
- 8.22 The duties of the Chief Financial Officer shall be performed by them personally or, where they are unable to act owing to absence or illness, personally by such member of suitably qualified staff as they have for the time being nominated as their deputy.

9 Functions delegated to the Monitoring Officer

- 9.1 To lead on the promotion of good governance, including by maintaining an up to date version of the Constitution and ensuring it is widely available for consultation by the Authority, the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive, their staff and the public.
- 9.2 To authorise the institution, defence, withdrawal or compromise of any claims or legal proceedings, civil or criminal including the making of appeals, but they shall consult the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive and the Commissioner before settlement.
- 9.3 To make arrangements to approve and appoint external solicitors and Counsel to represent the Commissioner from time to time.
- 9.4 To sign any document necessary in any legal procedure or legal proceedings on behalf of the Commissioner unless any enactment otherwise requires or authorises, or the Commissioner gives authority to some other person for the purpose of such procedure or proceedings.
- 9.5 To authorise officers to appear before Magistrates' Courts or District Judges.
- 9.6 To authorise the giving of any indemnity by the Commissioner after consultation with the Chief Financial Officer and Commissioner.
- 9.7 To be the Proper Officer of the Commissioner except where legislation or this scheme names another officer and to authorise the making and issue of any formal documents.
- 9.8 To authenticate documents on behalf of the Commissioner.
- 9.9 To determine which documents should be affixed with the Commissioner's common seal.
- 9.10 Where requested to do so, to exercise powers and duties delegated by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel in relation to complaints against the Commissioner and / or their Deputy. This may include the receipt of complaints, the recording of them and notification to the Police, Fire and Crime Panel in accordance with the relevant regulations.
- 9.11 After consulting with the Chief Financial Officer, to report to the Commissioner and to the Police, Fire and Crime Panel if they consider that any proposal, decision or omission by the Authority, by any committee or sub-committee of the Authority, by any person holding office or employment under the Authority, or by any joint committee on which the Authority

is represented has given rise, or would likely give rise, to unlawfulness or contravention of any code of practice made or approved by or under any enactment.

- 9.12 To appoint a deputy in accordance with the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.
- 9.13 The duties of the Monitoring Officer shall be performed by them personally or, where they are unable to act owing to absence or illness, personally by such member of their staff as they have for the time being nominated as their deputy.

10 Urgent Matters

- 10.1 If any matter, which would normally be referred to the Commissioner for a decision arises, cannot be delayed, and the Commissioner or their Deputy are not available, the appropriate chief officer may decide the matter.
- 10.2 The appropriate persons authorised to decide urgent matters are the:
 - a) Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive
 - b) Deputy Chief Fire Officer
 - c) Chief Financial Officer
- 10.3 Urgent decisions taken must be reported to the Commissioner as soon as practically possible.

Schedule 10

Code of Conduct

27 November 2018 Version V1.2

Version Control	Version 1.2	November 2018
Written By	P. Brent-	November 2018
	Isherwood	
Authorised By		
Published		
Review Date		

Version history

Version Number	Date	Reason for review	Comments
1.0	November 2012		First publication
1.1	April 2013	Review decided by PFCC	
1.2	November 2018	Reviewed as part of a wider review of the Constitution	Amendments reflect joint governance of the police and fire and rescue services w.e.f. October 2017

PART 1

Introduction

This Code as a whole is consistent with the seven "Nolan Principles" which are set out in Article 5 of the Constitution and is closely aligned to the local Codes of Conduct adopted by local authorities in Essex under the provisions of Section 29 (1) of the Localism Act 2011.

Essex Police and the Office of the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex have also adopted the two further policing principles of **fairness** and **respect**.

I have adopted this Code and agree to abide by its provisions.

Any person that I may appoint as Deputy Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (Deputy PFCC) is required to abide by the provisions of this Code also.

Interpretation

- 1. "relevant period" means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which notification was given to the Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary interests which existed at the time of the notification.
- 2. "profit or gain" includes any payments or benefits in kind which are subject to Income Tax
- 3. "beneficial interest" means having an economic benefit as a legal owner or holding it on trust for the beneficial owner, having a right to the income from the land or securities or a share in it or the right to the proceeds of sale or share of part of the proceeds of sale
- 4. For the purposes of this Code 'PFCC' refers to the corporate body known as the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex

1.0 When Does The Code Apply?

- 1.1 This Code applies to me in the office of Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner when acting or representing that I am acting in that role.
- 1.2 It also applies to the Deputy PFCC when acting or representing that s/he is acting in that role.
- 1.3 This Code does not apply to me or the Deputy PFCC when acting in a purely private capacity.

2.0 General Obligations

- 2.1 I will treat others with respect and fairness.
- 2.2 I will uphold the law.
- 2.3 I will not:
 - (a) do anything which may cause a breach any of the equality enactments;
 - (b) bully any person;
 - (c) intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to be:
 - (i) a complainant;
 - (ii) a witness; or
 - (iii) involved in the administration of any investigation or proceedings.

in relation to an allegation that I failed to comply with this Code of Conduct; or

(d) do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of, the PFCC.

3.0 Confidential Information

- 3.1 I will not:
 - (a) disclose information given to me in confidence by anyone, or information acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a confidential nature, except where:
 - (i) I have the consent of a person authorised to give it;
 - (ii) I am required by law to do so;
 - (iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining professional advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose the information to any other person; or
 - (iv) the disclosure is:
 - (a) reasonable and in the public interest; and
 - (b) made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable requirements of the PFCC
 - (b) prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that person is entitled by law.
 - (c) conduct myself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing my office or the PFCC into disrepute.

4.0 Conferring an Advantage or Disadvantage

- 4.1 I will:
 - (a) not use or attempt to use my position improperly to confer on or secure for myself or any other person an advantage or disadvantage;
 - (b) when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the PFCC:
 - (i) Not use those resources for my personal benefit or for the benefit of myself, my friends, or any other person in relation to any business interest of mine.
 - (ii) Not use those resources improperly for political purposes (including party political purposes).

PART 2

5.0 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

- 5.1 A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any business of the PFCC exists if it is of a description set out in 5.2 below and is either:
 - (a) An interest of mine; or
 - (b) An interest (of which I am aware) of a spouse, civil partner or a person I am living with as a spouse or civil partner ("known as Relevant Persons").
- 5.2 A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is an interest which relates to or is likely to affect:
 - (a) Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on by me or a Relevant Person for profit or gain;
 - (b) Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the PFCC) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred in carrying out my duties as a Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner, or towards any election expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992;
 - (c) Any contract for goods, services or works which has not been fully discharged between me or a Relevant Person and the PFCC or a body in which I or they have a beneficial interest;
 - (d) A beneficial interest in any land in the County of Essex;
 - (e) A licence of any land in the County of Essex (alone or jointly with others) that I or a Relevant Person occupy for a month or longer;
 - (f) Any tenancy where to my knowledge
 - (i) the landlord is the PFCC and
 - (ii) the tenant is a body in which I or a Relevant Person has a beneficial interest;
 - (g) Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:
 - 1. that body (to my knowledge) has a place of business or land in the County of Essex and
 - 2. either:
 - (a) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(b) the beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of the share capital of that body, if of more than one class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one class.

6.0 Other Pecuniary Interests

- 6.1 I will have a pecuniary interest in any business of the PFCC where it relates to or is likely to affect:
 - (a) Any person or body who employs or has appointed me;
 - (b) Any contract for goods, services or works made between the PFCC and me or a firm in which I am a partner, a company of which I am a remunerated director, or a person or body of the description specified in paragraph 5.2(g) which has been fully discharged within the last 12 months;

7.0. Non-Pecuniary Interests

- 7.1 I will have a non-pecuniary interest in any business of the PFCC where it relates to or is likely to affect:
 - (a) Any body of which I am a member or in a position of general control or management;
 - (b) Any body:
 - (i) exercising functions of a public nature;
 - (ii) directed to charitable purposes; or
 - (iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union) of which I am a member or in a position of general control or management;
 - (c) The interests of any person from whom I have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50;
 - (d) A decision in relation to that business which might reasonably be regarded as affecting my wellbeing or the wellbeing of a relevant person to a greater extent than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the County of Essex.

8.0. Disclosure of Interests

- 8.1 Subject to sub-paragraphs 8.3 to 8.4, I will disclose if I have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, other Pecuniary Interest or Non-Pecuniary Interest in any business of the PFCC when I am asked to make a decision as Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner.
- 8.2 I will make and record that disclosure of the existence and nature of that interest whether or not such interest is registered on my Register of Interests.

- 8.3 Sub-paragraph 8.1 only applies where I am are aware or ought reasonably to be aware of the existence of the Relevant Person's Interest.
- 8.4 Where I have an interest in any business of the PFCC which would be disclosable by virtue of paragraph 8.1 but by virtue of paragraph 11 (Sensitive Information) details of the interest are not registered in the PFCC's published Register of Interests and the interest is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest I need not disclose the nature of the interest.

9.0. Effect of Interests

- 9.1 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
- 9.1.1 If I have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest then:
 - (a) The function will not be exercised personally but will be delegated or dealt with in some other manner to ensure the conflict of interest does not arise.
 - (b) I will not seek improperly to influence a decision about that the exercise of that function.
- 9.2 Other Pecuniary Interests
- 9.2.1 If I have an Other Pecuniary Interest in any business of the PFCC which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice my judgement of the public interest
 - (a) The function will not be exercised personally but will be delegated or dealt with in some other manner to ensure the conflict of interest does not arise.
 - (b) I will not seek improperly to influence a decision about that the exercise of that function.

PART 3 REGISTER OF INTERESTS

10.0. Registration of Interests

- 10.1 Subject to paragraph 11, I will, within 28 days of:
 - (a) adopting this Code, or
 - (b) my election, re-election or appointment or re-appointment to office register details of:
 - (i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as referred to in paragraph 5.
 - (ii) Other Pecuniary Interests referred to in paragraph 6 that I have.
 - (iii) Non Pecuniary Interests referred to in paragraph 7

10.2 Subject to paragraph 11, I will within 28 days of becoming aware of any new Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, Other Pecuniary Interest or any Non Pecuniary Interest provide written notification to the PFCC's Monitoring Officer

11. Sensitive Information

- 11.1 Where I have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, Other Pecuniary interest or Non Pecuniary Interest and the nature of the interest is such that I and the PFCC's Monitoring Officer consider that disclosure of details of the interest could lead to me or a person connected with me being subject to violence or intimidation if the interest is entered in the Register then copies of the Register available for inspection and any published version of the Register will not include details of the interest but may state that I have an interest details of which are withheld under this paragraph.
- 11.2 I will, within 28 days of becoming aware of any change of circumstances which mean that information excluded under paragraph 11.1 is no longer sensitive information, notify the PFCC's Monitoring Officer.
- 11.3 In this Code "sensitive information" means information whose availability for inspection by the public creates, or is likely to create, a serious risk that I or person who lives with me may be subject to violence or intimidation.

12. Register of Gifts and Hospitality

- 12.1 I will within 28 days of receipt, notify the PFCC's Monitoring Officer in writing of any gift, benefit or hospitality with a value in excess of £50 which I have accepted from any person or body other than the PFCC.
- 12.2 The Monitoring Officer will place my notification on a public register of gifts and hospitality
- 12.3 This duty to notify the Monitoring Officer does not apply where the gift, benefit or hospitality comes within any description approved by the PFCC for this purpose.

Appendix to Schedule 10

POLICE, FIRE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR ESSEX

REGISTER OF INTERESTS

Ι.....

as Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex/Deputy Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex, have set out below under the appropriate headings my interests in accordance with the Code of Conduct referred to in Article 5 of the Constitution. I have put 'none' where I have no such interests under any heading.

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests					
[Note: These include your own interests and also those of your husband or wife, civil partner or of any person with whom you are living as if husband and wife or as civil partners when such interests are known by you].					
Employment, office, trade, profession or vocation	Self & Spouse / Partner:				
 Your employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on by you or those persons referred to in the note above for profit or gain (this includes any payments or benefits in kind which are subject to Income Tax). 					
Sponsorship	Self & Spouse / Partner:				
2. Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made or provided within the last 12 months in respect of expenses you have incurred in carrying out your duties as Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner/Deputy Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner, or toward your election expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Ac 1992.	s				

Con	tracts	Self & Spouse / Partner:
3.	A description of any contract for goods, services or works made between the PFCC and you or the persons referred to above (or a body in which you or they have a beneficial interest) and which has NOT been fully discharged.	
Lan	<u>d</u>	Self & Spouse / Partner:
4.	Any land in Essex in which you have a beneficial interest.	
Lice	nces	Self & Spouse / Partner:
5.	Any land in Essex for which you or the persons referred to above have a licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy for a month or longer.	
Cor	porate Tenancies	Self & Spouse / Partner:
6.	Any tenancy where to your knowledge the landlord is the PFCC and the tenant is a body in which you or a person referred to above has a beneficial interest.	
Sec	urities	Self & Spouse / Partner:
7.	The name of any person or body in which you or a person referred to above has a beneficial interest in securities of that body where:	
(a)	that body to your knowledge has a place of business or land in Essex; and	
(b)	either:	
	 the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issue share capital of that body; or 	

(ii)	is of more total nomin shares of a which you to above h interest ex	re capital of that bo than one class, th inal value of the any one class in or a person referr has a beneficial xceeds one hundre al issue share capit	d Ith				
------	--	---	----------	--	--	--	--

Other Pecuniary Interests

[Note: These are your own interests only. Do not include the interests of husbands / wives / civil partners or others]

1.	emp nam part com	name of the person who ploys or has appointed you, the ne of any firm in which you are a ner, and the name of any pany for which you are a unerated director.	
2. A description of any contract for goods, services or works made between the PFCC and you (or a body in which you or they have a beneficial interest) and which has been fully discharged within the last <u>12 months</u> .			
Reg	ister	able Non-Pecuniary Interests	
[No	te: Tł		. Do not include the interests of husbands /
1.	you	r membership of or the fact that are in a position of general agement and control of any y:	
	(a)	to which you have been appointed or nominated by the PFCC.	
	(b)	exercising functions of a public nature.	
	(c)	directed towards charitable purposes.	
	(d)	one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union).	

you have red	f any person from w ceived a gift or ith an estimated va 50			
Date of Disclosure	ot Gitt /		Nature of Gift or Hospitality	Signature

I acknowledge that it may be a breach of the Code of Conduct to:

- (1) Omit information that ought to be given in this notice;
- (2) Provide information that is materially false or misleading;
- (3) Fail to provide written notification to the PFCC's Monitoring Officer of any change in my interests contained in this notice within 28 days of my becoming aware of such change of circumstances.

Name:

(Print – No Signature Required)

Date:

Date Received by MO:

Signed (by MO):

Name (Print)

M // / DE00

Monitoring Officer PFCC

EXPLANATORY NOTES

- The Code requires registration of:
 - (a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) <u>of you and your spouse / partner</u>. There is no requirement to distinguish the two, but you may wish to do so. There is no requirement to name your spouse / partner.
 - (b) Other Pecuniary Interests of you only.
 - (c) Registerable Non-Pecuniary Interests of you only.
- You should complete the Register with sufficient detail to identify clearly what the interest is. Please avoid using abbreviations, initials or acronyms.
- You are personally responsible for the accuracy of the contents of the Register.
- Please mark "none" on the Register if you have no interest to register in any category.
- There is no requirement to sign the form, printing your name is sufficient.
- Your Register of Interests will be publicly available both in hard copy and on the PFCC's website. Therefore please write as clearly as possible.
- Remember that you must keep your registered interests up to date. If anything changes advise the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of any change.

The following notes relate to the numbers on the form:

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

- 1. Enter details of your employment, trade, profession etc. carried on by you or your spouse / partner. Include full and part-time work. You do not need to register any pension rights.
- 2. Enter details of any sponsorship received i.e. any payment of expenses as a Member, or your elections expenses.
- 3. Enter details of any ongoing contracts between you (or your spouse / partner) and the PFCC. Enter a clear description of the contract.
- 4. You must include a clear description sufficient to identify land you register. Land includes property and buildings on land and you should include the postal address. Beneficial interest includes freehold and leasehold (tenancy) interests and any legal rights you may have over property, for example a right of way or an option to purchase. Include land in which your spouse / partner has a beneficial interest.
- 5. This includes grazing agreements, allotments, garage licences and other short term arrangements to use any land or property in Essex by you or your spouse / partner.
- 6. Include here any land or property leased (tenanted) from the PFCC by yourself, your firm or company, or your spouse / partner.
- 7. If you (or your spouse / partner) own shares or other form of equity in a company or other body which has a place of business within Essex or owns land or property in Essex, you

will need to consider whether the interest is to be included. Identify the nominal value; this is the amount of the share indicated on the certificate, not the market value. If this exceeds $\pounds 25,000$, you need to register the name of the company or body. If this is less than $\pounds 25,000$ but the holding is more than 1% of the total issued share capital, you need to register the name of the company or body.

Other Pecuniary Interests

- 1. Enter details of your employer, or firm in which you are a partner, or company of which you are a remunerated director. This box only relates to you, not your spouse / partner. You do not need to refer to pension rights.
- 2. Enter details of any contract between you (or a body / company in which you have a beneficial interest) and the PFCC, which has been fully discharged within the last 12 months. Enter a clear description of the contract.

Registerable Non-Pecuniary Interests

- 1. <u>Bodies</u>
 - (a) List all the bodies external to the PFCC to which you have been appointed by the PFCC.

Give the full name of the body (not acronyms or initials).

If in doubt, ask the Monitoring Officer.

- (b) Include any public bodies of which you are a member (e.g. school governor, health authority, government agency, other non-profit organisations in the public sector, local committee).
- (c) Include any charity of which you are a trustee or member.
- (d) Include the name of any political party of which you are a member, any national or local body operating as a pressure group or any trade union or trade association.
- 2. The requirement covers gifts and hospitality received by you as Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner worth £50 or over. This requirement does not include gifts and hospitality received by you in your private capacity.

You must register the nature of the gift or hospitality, and the person or body giving it. The source of the gift or hospitality affects whether you have a non-pecuniary interest in any business of the PFCC where it relates to, or is likely to affect, the source's interests.

You should register the gift or hospitality as soon as possible after receiving it and in any event within 28 days.

Schedule 11 - Appointment, Suspension and Dismissal of Chief Fire Officer

1 Introduction

- 1.1 The Fire and Rescue Authority (Police and Crime Commissioner) (Application of Local Policing Provisions, Inspection, Powers to Trade and Consequential Amendments) Order 2017 Part 2 sets out the process that must be followed for the appointment, suspension and dismissal of the Commissioner's Chief Fire Officer.
- 1.2 For ease of reference the process that will be followed is set out in this schedule.

2 Appointment of the Chief Fire Officer

2.1 The Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority ("the Commissioner") must comply with Section 3-13 whilst appointing the Chief Fire Officer.

3 No appointment until end of confirmation process

- 3.1 The Commissioner must not appoint a person to be the Chief Fire Officer unless the end of the confirmation process has been reached.
- 3.2 The end of the confirmation process is reached in a case to which Section 8 applies:
 - a) Where the Police, Fire and Crime Panel make a recommendation in relation to the appointment, the date on which the Commissioner notifies the panel of its decision whether or not to accept that recommendation under section 8.3; or
 - b) Where the Police, Fire and Crime Panel do not make a report in relation to the appointment, at the end of the period of three weeks starting with the day on which the panel receive the notification from the Commissioner of the proposed appointment.
- 3.3 The end of the confirmation process is reached in a case to which section 9 (Next steps if veto) applies:
 - a) Where the Police, Fire and Crime Panel do not make a report in relation to the appointment, at the end of the period of three weeks starting with the day on which the panel receive the notification from the Commissioner of the proposed appointment; or
 - b) Where the Police, Fire and Crime Panel make a recommendation in relation to the appointment under section 11 the date on which the Commissioner notifies the panel of its decision whether or not to accept that recommendation under paragraph 12.1 (b).

4 Notification of proposed appointment

- 4.1 The Commissioner must notify the Police, Fire and Crime Panel of each proposed appointment of the Chief Fire Officer by the Commissioner.
- 4.2 In such a case, the Commissioner must also notify the Police, Fire and Crime Panel of the following information:

- a) The name of the person whom the Commissioner is proposing to appoint ("the candidate").
- b) The criteria used to assess the suitability of the candidate for the appointment.
- c) Why the candidate satisfies those criteria.
- d) The terms and conditions on which the candidate is to be appointed.

5 Panel to review and report on proposed appointment

- 5.1 This paragraph applies if a Police Fire and Crime Panel are notified under Section 4 of a proposed appointment of a Chief Fire Officer.
- 5.2 The panel must review the proposed appointment.
- 5.3 The panel must make a report to the Commissioner on the proposed appointment.
- 5.4 Subject to paragraph 6.2 the report must include a recommendation to the Commissioner as to whether or not the candidate should be appointed.
- 5.5 The panel must comply with sub-paragraphs 5.2 to 5.4 within the period of three weeks beginning with the day on which the panel receives the notification from the Commissioner of the proposed appointment.
- 5.6 The panel must publish the report made to the Commissioner.
- 5.7 In calculating the period of three weeks for the purpose of paragraph 5.5, any relevant post-election period is to be ignored.
- 5.8 In this paragraph 5.7 and 20.3 a "relevant post-election period" means the period that:
 - a) Begins with the day of the poll at an ordinary election of a police and crime commissioner under section 50 of the PRSR Act 2011, and
 - Ends with the day on which the person elected as police and crime commissioner delivers a declaration of acceptance under section 70 of that Act.

6 Power of panel to veto proposed appointment

- 6.1 The Police, Fire and Crime Panel may, having reviewed the proposed appointment, veto the appointment of the candidate.
- 6.2 If the panel vetoes the appointment of the candidate, the report made under section 5 must include a statement that the panel has vetoed it.
- 6.3 References in the section to the Police, Fire and Crime Panel vetoing the appointment of a candidate are references to the panel making a decision, by the required majority, that the candidate should not be appointed as Chief Fire Officer.
- 6.4 For that purpose, the panel makes that decision by the required majority if at least twothirds of the persons who are members of the panel at the time when the decision is made vote in favour of making that decision.

6.5 The power conferred by this section is exercisable in relation to a proposed appointment only during the period of three weeks mentions in paragraph 5.7.

7 Confirmation hearings

- 7.1 The Police, Fire and Crime Panel must hold a confirmation hearing:
 - a) Before making a report under section 5 to the Commissioner in relation to a proposed appointment, and
 - b) Before making a recommendation under section 5 (where applicable) or vetoing an appointment under section 6 (where applicable).
- 7.2 For the purposes of this article:
 - a) "Confirmation hearing" is a meeting of the panel, held in public, at which the candidate is requested to appear for the purpose of answering questions relating to the appointment.
 - b) References to a person appearing at a meeting of the panel are references to the person:
 - i. Attending the meeting in person, or
 - ii. Not attending the meeting in person, but participating in the proceedings at the meeting by any means that enable the person to hear, and be heard in, those proceedings as they happen.

8 Next steps if no veto

- 8.1 This article applies if the Police, Fire and Crime Panel does not veto the appointment of a candidate.
- 8.2 The Commissioner may accept or reject the panel's recommendation as to whether or not the candidate should be appointed.
- 8.3 The Commissioner must notify the panel of the decision whether to accept or reject the recommendation.

9 Next steps if veto

- 9.1 This article applies if the Police, Fire and Crime panel vetoes the appointment of a candidate.
- 9.2 The Commissioner must not appoint that candidate as the Chief Fire Officer.

10 Veto: proposal of reserve candidate

- 10.1 Where the Police, Fire and Crime Panel exercises the power under section 6 the Commissioner shall propose another person for appointment as the Chief Fire Officer ("a reserve candidate").
- 10.2 The Commissioner proposes a reserve candidate by notifying the panel of the following information:
 - a) The name of the reserve candidate.

- b) The criteria used to assess the suitability of the reserve candidate for the appointment.
- c) Why the reserve candidate satisfies those criteria.
- d) The terms and conditions on which the reserve candidate is to be appointed.

11 Panel's consideration of reserve candidate

- 11.1 Within the period of three weeks beginning with the day on which the Police, Fire and Crime Panel receives notification under paragraph 10.2 the panel shall:
 - a) Review the proposed appointment.
 - b) Make a report to the Commissioner on the proposed appointment.
- 11.2 Before making a report under paragraph 11.1(b), the panel must hold a confirmation hearing within the meaning of paragraph 7.2 (a).
- 11.3 The report made under paragraph 11.1 (b) must include a recommendation to the Commissioner as to whether or not the reserve candidate should be appointed.
- 11.4 The panel must publish the report made under paragraph 11.1(b).
- 11.5 In calculating the period of three weeks for the purpose of paragraph 11.1, any relevant post-election period within the meaning of paragraph 5.8 is to be ignored.

12 Commissioner's consideration of report

- 12.1 On receiving a report under paragraph 11.1(b) the Commissioner shall:
 - a) Have regard to the report (including the recommendation in the report).
 - b) Notify the panel of its decision as to whether it accepts or rejects the recommendation.

13 Appointment of the Chief Fire Officer

- 13.1 After the Commissioner gives the notification mentioned in paragraph 12.1(b) it may then:
 - a) Appoint the reserve candidate as the Chief Fire Officer, or
 - b) Propose another person for such appointment.
- 13.2 Where a proposal is made under paragraph 11.1(b), section 10 to 13 applies in relation to that person as if the proposal had been made under paragraph 10.1 (and accordingly the person is treated for these purposes as a reserve candidate).

14 Suspension of the Chief Fire Officer

14.1 If the Commissioner suspends the Chief Fire Officer the Commissioner must notify the Police, Fire and Crime Panel of the suspension.

15 Dismissal of the Chief Fire Officer

15.1 The Commissioner must comply with section 16 to 22 in relation to the dismissal of the Chief Fire Officer.

16 No dismissal until the end of the scrutiny process

- 16.1 The Commissioner must not dismiss the Chief Fire Officer until the end of the scrutiny process has been reached.
- 16.2 The end of the scrutiny process is reached when the first of the following events occurs:
 - a) The period of six weeks mentioned in section 20 has ended without the Police, Fire and Crime Panel having given the Commissioner any recommendation as to whether or not the Commissioner should dismiss the Chief Fire Officer.
 - b) The Commissioner notifies the Police, Fire and Crime Panel under section 22 of the decision whether or not the Commissioner accepts the panel's recommendation in relation to the proposed dismissal.

17 Commissioner's duty to consult chief fire and rescue inspector for England

- 17.1 If the Commissioner is proposing to dismiss the Chief Fire Officer the Commissioner must:
 - a) Obtain the views of the chief fire and rescue inspector for England; and
 - b) Have regard to those written views.

18 Notification and explanation of proposal to dismiss

- 18.1 If, having complied with Section 17, the Commissioner proposed to dismiss the Chief Fire Officer the Commissioner must:
 - a) Give the Chief Fire Officer:
 - i. A written explanation of the reasons why the Commissioner is proposing to dismiss them; and
 - ii. A copy of the written views of the chief fire and rescue inspector for England obtained by the Commissioner under Section17.
 - b) Give the Police, Fire and Crime Panel:
 - i. Written notification that the Commissioner is proposing to dismiss the Chief Fire Officer.
 - ii. A copy of the reasons given to the Chief Fire Officer in accordance with sub-paragraph (18.1(a)).
 - iii. A copy of the written views of the chief fire and rescue inspector for England obtained by the Commissioner under Section17.

19 Representations from the Chief Fire Officer

- 19.1 The Commissioner must give the Chief Fire Officer the opportunity to make written representations in response to the Commissioner's proposal to dismiss them.
- 19.2 The Commissioner must:
 - a) Consider any such written representations; and
 - b) Give the Police, Fire and Crime Panel a copy of any such representations as soon as practicable after the Commissioner is given them.

20 Commissioner's response to representations

- 20.1 The Commissioner must comply with this section if, after complying with Section 19, the Commissioner is still proposing to dismiss the Chief Fire Officer.
- 20.2 The Commissioner must notify:
 - a) The Chief Fire Officer.
 - b) The Police, Fire and Crime Panel

that they are still proposing to dismiss the Chief Fire Officer.

- 20.3 The Commissioner must at the time of giving the Chief Fire Officer and the Police, Fire and Crime Panel notification of the Commissioner's intention under paragraph 20.2:
 - a) Give the Chief Fire Officer and the panel a written explanation of the reasons why the Commissioner still proposes to dismiss the Chief Fire Officer.
 - b) Give the chief fire and rescue inspector for England a copy of the notification and explanation.
 - c) Unless the person who is for the time being designated as the Head of the Commissioner's Paid Service under section 4 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 is also the Chief Fire Officer, give the Head of the Commissioner's Paid Service a copy of the notification, the explanation and the written views of the chief fire and rescue inspector for England obtained in accordance with Section 17.

21 Role of panel

- 21.1 Where the Commissioner notifies the Police, Fire and Crime Panel under section 20 that it is still proposing to dismiss the Chief Fire Officer the panel must make a recommendation to the Commissioner as to whether or not the Commissioner should dismiss them.
- 21.2 The recommendation must be given to the Commissioner in writing before the end of the period of six weeks beginning on the day on which the panel receives the notification under article 20.
- 21.3 In calculating the period of six weeks for the purposes of paragraph 21.2, any relevant post-election period is to be ignored.
- 21.4 Before making the recommendation the panel:
 - a) May consult the chief fire and rescue inspector for England; and
 - b) Must hold a scrutiny hearing.
- 21.5 In this article "scrutiny hearing" means a meeting of the panel held in private which the Commissioner and the Chief Fire Officer are both entitled to attend for the purpose of making representations relating to the proposal to dismiss the Chief Fire Officer.
- 21.6 The reference in paragraph 21.5 to attending the panel includes participating in the proceedings at the meeting by any means that enable the person to hear, and to be heard, in those proceedings as they happen.

21.7 The panel must publish the recommendation made to the Commissioner under this section.

22 Commissioner's response to panel's recommendation

- 22.1 The Commissioner must:
 - a) Consider the Police, Fire and Crime Panel's recommendation under section 21; and
 - b) Having considered that recommendation may accept or reject it.
- 22.2 The Commissioner must notify the panel of the decision whether or not to accept the recommendation.

Schedule 12 – Appointment and scrutiny of the appointment of the Chief Financial Officer

1 Appointing to the role of Chief Financial Officer

- 1.1 In the event that an appointment is required for Chief Financial Officer the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority ("the Commissioner") will:
 - a) Draw up a statement specifying:
 - i. The duties of the officer concerned.
 - ii. Any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be appointed.
 - b) Make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it.
 - c) Make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in (a) above to be sent to any person on request.
- 1.2 Where a post has been advertised the Commissioner will:
 - a) Interview all qualified applicants for the post, or
 - b) Select a shortlist of such qualified applicants and interview those included on the shortlist.
- 1.3 Where no qualified person has applied, the Commissioner will make further arrangements for advertisement.

2 Scrutiny of the appointment by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel

- 2.1 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, paragraph 9(1)(b) and (2) and 10 to 12 of Schedule 1 apply in relation to the Commissioner. This section of the Act sets out the process which must be followed in the scrutiny of the appointment of the Chief Financial Officer.
- 2.2 The Commissioner must notify the Police, Fire and Crime Panel of the Chief Financial Officer appointment and provide the Panel of the following information:
 - a) The name of the person whom the PFCC is proposing to appoint ("the candidate").
 - b) The criteria used to assess the suitability of the candidate for the appointment.
 - c) Why the candidate satisfies those criteria.
 - d) The terms and conditions on which the candidate is to be appointed.
- 2.3 The panel must review the appointment and report to the Commissioner whether or not the candidate should be appointed.
- 2.4 The panel must comply with paragraph 2.3 within the period of three weeks beginning with the day on which the panel receives the notification from the Commissioner.
- 2.5 The panel must publish the report to the Commissioner set out in 2.3.

- 2.6 In calculating the period of three weeks for the purpose of sub-paragraph 2.4, any relevant post-election period is to be ignored.
- 2.7 In this paragraph a "relevant post-election period" means the period that:
 - a) Begins with the day of the poll at an ordinary election of a police and crime commissioner under section 50 of the PRSR Act 2011, and
 - b) Ends with the day on which the person elected as police and crime commissioner delivers a declaration of acceptance under section 70 of that Act.
- 2.8 The panel must hold a confirmation hearing before making a report and recommendation under paragraph 2.3 to the Commissioner in relation to a proposed senior appointment.
- 2.9 For the purposes of this Schedule a "confirmation hearing" is a meeting of the panel, held in public, at which the candidate is requested to appear for the purpose of answering questions relating to the appointment.
- 2.10 References in this Schedule to a person appearing at a meeting of the panel are references to the person;
 - a) Attending the meeting in person, or
 - b) Not attending the meeting in person, but participating in the proceedings at the meeting by any means that enable the person to hear, and be heard in, those proceedings as they happen.
- 2.11 The Commissioner may accept or reject the panel's recommendation under paragraph 2.3 as to whether or not the candidate should be appointed.
- 2.12 The Commissioner must notify the panel of the decision whether to accept or reject the recommendation.

Schedule 13

Police and Crime Panels (Precepts and Chief Constable Appointments) Regulations 2012 [SI 2012/2271]

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2271/pdfs/uksi_20122271_en.pdf

Schedule 14

The Police and Crime Commissioner Elections (Declaration of Acceptance of Office) Order 2012 [SI 2012/2553]

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2553/pdfs/uksi_20122553_en.pdf

Schedule 15 - Financial and Procurement Regulations

Financial and Procurement Regulations



1 **Overview of Financial Regulations**

1.1 Introduction

- 1.1.1 These Regulations provide the framework for managing the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority's ("the Commissioner's") financial affairs. They apply to every employee of the Commissioner and anyone acting on their behalf. All financial and procurement activities must be carried out in accordance with the regulations.
- 1.1.2 For the purpose of these regulations the term "Principal Officers" includes the posts of the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, Director of Innovation, Risk and Future Development, Director of Corporate Services, Assistant Chief Executive Officer (People, Values and Culture), Director of Operations and Chief Financial Officer.
- 1.1.3 The Chief Financial Officer is appointed to undertake the duties specified under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972.
- 1.1.4 The Regulations should be read in conjunction with other parts of the Constitution. These Regulations are subject to all applicable UK legislation, general financial guidance provided by UK accountancy institutes and specific guidance to Authorities provided by the Government.

1.2 Financial responsibilities

1.2.1 The Commissioner is responsible for approving the policy framework and budget within which the fire and rescue service operates. The Commissioner is also responsible for approving and monitoring compliance with the overall framework of accountability and control. The Commissioner also approves the Capital Financing Policy and the Pay Policy applicable to Principal Officers. The Commissioner is responsible for approving procedures for the delegation of powers.

1.3 General responsibilities

1.3.1 All fire and rescue service employees have a general responsibility for taking reasonable action to provide for the security of the assets under their control, and for ensuring that the use of these resources is legal, is properly authorised, provides value for money and achieves best value.

1.4 **Reviewing and changing financial & procurement regulations**

- 1.4.1 The Chief Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer are responsible for maintaining a continuous review of the Financial and Procurement Regulations and submitting any additions or changes necessary to the Commissioner for approval.
- 1.4.2 The Chief Finance Officer is also responsible for reporting, where appropriate, breaches of the financial regulations to the Commissioner. Any evidence of non-compliance with the Regulations must be reported to the Chief Financial Officer.
- 1.4.3 Anyone wishing to act outside the provisions of these Regulations, in a specific instance, must seek the written approval of the Chief Financial Officer. Such approvals shall be reported to the Commissioner in a timely manner.

1.4.4 The Financial and Procurement Regulations shall only be suspended by a formal decision from the Commissioner.

1.5 Awareness of existence and content of financial regulations

- 1.5.1 The Principal Officers are responsible for ensuring that all employees are aware of the existence and content of the Financial and Procurement Regulations and other internal regulatory documents and that they comply with them.
- 1.5.2 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for issuing advice and guidance to underpin the Financial and Procurement Regulations which employees and others acting on behalf of the Commissioner are required to follow. Notes and guidance may expand, but not contradict the Regulations. Any consultation required under these regulations must allow sufficient time for a proper consideration of any issues.
- 1.5.3 Breaches of Financial and Procurement Regulations of a serious nature may result in disciplinary proceedings and potentially criminal action. Such cases shall be reported to the Chief Financial Officer who shall determine, after consulting with the Monitoring Officer, whether the matter shall be reported to the Commissioner.

1.6 **Financial management**

- 1.6.1 Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to the running of the fire and rescue service, including the policy framework, revenue budget, and capital programme.
- 1.6.2 The roles of the Fire and Rescue Performance and Resources Board, the Fire and Rescue Strategic Board, and the Audit Committee can be found in Schedules 1 3 of the Commissioner's Constitution. With particular reference to these regulations, the Fire and Rescue Strategic Board has responsibility for considering financial matters appertaining to the Commissioner. The Audit Committee has responsibility for considering the annual external audit letter, internal audit reports and the annual report of the Internal Auditor.
- 1.6.3 The Commissioner shall receive updates on the financial performance of the PFCCFRA by receiving regular budget monitoring and outturn reports, and also the Annual Audit Letter provided by the external auditors.
- 1.6.4 The responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer are:
 - i) To ensure the proper administration of the financial affairs of the PFCCFRA.
 - ii) To ensure that proper practices are adhered to.
 - iii) To advise on the key strategic controls necessary to secure sound financial management.
 - iv) To ensure that proper systems of internal control are operated.
 - v) To ensure that financial information is available to enable accurate and timely monitoring and reporting of comparisons of national and local financial performance indicators.
 - vi) To ensure that all employees are aware of, and comply with, proper financial management standards, including these Financial and Procurement Regulations.
 - vii) Preparing the annual financial statements in accordance with the relevant accounting standards and codes of practice
 - viii) To ensure that all staff are properly managed, developed, trained and have adequate support to carry out their financial duties effectively

1.6.5 The Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive shall ensure that specific duties and responsibilities in financial matters are made clear to individual officers and that these are properly recorded.

1.7 Audit Requirements

- 1.7.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the Commissioner to maintain an adequate and effective internal audit function. The Commissioner has a contract with a third party supplier to provide this service.
- 1.7.2 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires a local external auditor to be appointed. The Commissioner may, from time to time, be subject to audit, inspection or investigation by external bodies such as HM Revenue and Customs who have statutory rights of access.

1.8 Assets

1.8.1 Principal Officers should ensure that records and assets are properly maintained and securely held. They should also ensure that contingency plans for the security of assets and continuity of service in the event of disaster or system failure are in place.

2 **Financial Procedures**

2.1 Introduction

- 2.1.1 All employees have a duty to abide by the highest standards of probity in dealing with financial issues. This is facilitated by ensuring everyone is clear about the standards to which they are working and by the controls that are in place to ensure that these standards are met.
- 2.1.2 The Chief Financial Officer's responsibilities are set out in Article 8.5 of the Constitution. They include the responsibility for setting and monitoring compliance with financial management standards.
- 2.1.3 The responsibilities of Principal Officers are to promote the financial management standards set by the Chief Financial Officer in their departments and to monitor adherence to the standards and practices.

2.2 Virement

- 2.2.1 Virement is intended to enable budget managers to manage budgets with a degree of flexibility within the overall policy framework determined by the Commissioner, and therefore to optimise the use of resources. The Chief Financial Officer administers it within guidelines set by the Commissioner. Any variation from this scheme requires the approval of the Commissioner.
- 2.2.2 The Commissioner approves the overall budget. Principal Officers and budget managers are therefore authorised to incur expenditure in accordance with the estimates that make up the budget. The rules below cover virement (i.e. switching resources between approved estimate headings of expenditure or income).

- 2.2.3 Virement does not create additional overall budget liability. Principal Officers are expected to exercise their discretion in managing their budgets responsibly and prudently. For example, they should aim to avoid supporting recurring expenditure from one-off sources of savings or additional income, or creating future commitments, including full-year effects of decisions made part way through a year, for which they have not identified future resources. Principal Officers must plan to fund such commitments from within their own budgets.
- 2.2.4 The Chief Financial Officer must report with the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive or the Deputy Chief Fire Officer to the Fire and Rescue Performance and Resources Board where revenue and capital virements, between policy based budgets, in excess of specified financial limits are proposed (see 9 Financial Limits).
- 2.2.5 Virements in relation to asset charges or other budget headings that are outside the direct control of the Principal Officers or where a proposal would adversely affect long-term revenue commitments require Commissioner approval. Where there are budget movements, which are the consequence of, Commissioner approved changes no further approval for the virement is required.
- 2.2.6 Key virement controls are:
 - a) The overall budget is agreed by the Commissioner
 - b) Budget changes are administered by budget holders within the delegated powers given by the Commissioner, any variation from this scheme requires the approval of the Commissioner. Virements above the financial limits set out in section 9 should be presented to the Commissioner for approval
 - c) Budget managers are authorised to incur expenditure in accordance with the estimates that make up the budget
 - d) Virement does not create additional overall budget liability
 - e) The Chief Finance Officer shall ensure that virement is undertaken as necessary to maintain the accuracy of budget monitoring
- 2.2.7 Exceptions to the above framework:
 - a) Virement is not permitted in relation to financing items such as asset charges or where a proposal would adversely affect long term revenue commitments to the PFCCFRA
 - b) When the virement is between an income budget line and an expenditure budget line which is directly related, approval is by the Chief Finance Officer and the income and expenditure budgets will be increased for budget monitoring purposes
 - c) Budget lines will be cash limited and defined each year as part of the budget approval.
 - d) All requests for virement must be made in the format prescribed by the Chief Finance Officer in consultation with the Commissioner and information on the virements within the limits set out in Section G will be available to support budget monitoring report information.
- 2.2.8 Approval of the Commissioner shall be required, even if the financial value is below the limits set out in section 9, if the virement involves:
 - i) A change in policy, or
 - ii) A addition to commitments in future years, or
 - iii) Where resources to be transferred were originally provided to meet expenditure of a capital nature.

2.2.9 <u>Technical Virements</u>

Due to the volume of some technical virements and in order to ensure transparency, additional protocols have been established concerning approval of virements. Virement approval shall follow the process below:

- i) The Chief Financial Officer shall propose the amounts to be placed on the holding codes for approval by the Commissioner at budget setting. This will be reported to the Police, Fire and Crime Panel at the budget setting meeting.
- ii) If the virement from the holding code necessitates funds being vired to a different line within the Revenue Report Summary and this amount is greater than £250,000, this will be agreed in principle by the Chief Financial Officer and proposed to the Commissioner for approval. This will then be submitted via the Fire and Rescue Performance and Resources Board or individual submission to the Commissioner for formal approval by decision report
- iii) Monthly meetings will be held between the Chief Financial Officer and the Head of Performance and Scrutiny (Fire and Rescue) ahead of the Fire and Rescue Performance and Resources Board. The purpose of the meeting will be to review variances, forecast outturn and agree technical virements that require approval via the Fire and Rescue Performance and Resources Board or direct submission to the Commissioner.

2.3 **Treatment of year-end balances**

- 2.3.1 The Commissioner determines the treatment of year-end balances. The Chief Financial Officer administers the scheme in accordance with the guidelines set by the Commissioner. The rules below cover arrangements for the transfer of resources between accounting years, i.e. a carry-forward. Appropriate accounting procedures are in operation to ensure that carried forward totals are correct.
- 2.3.2 Principal Officers must submit to the Chief Financial Officer all requests for approval of carry-forward of under-spends with supporting reasons for the request. These will be assessed to determine that no material commitments in future years will result from the change that cannot be accommodated within the base budget. Proposals will be submitted to the Commissioner for approval via the Fire and Rescue Strategic Board.

2.4 Accounting policies

2.4.1 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Commissioner's Statement of Accounts, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the format required by the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom and the IFRS Code for each financial year ending 31 March. Suitable accounting policies are determined by the Commissioner, on the advice of the Chief Financial Officer, applied consistently and set out in the Statement of Accounts.

2.5 Accounting records

2.5.1 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for determining the accounting procedures and records for the Commissioner. The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for ensuring that the annual Statement of Accounts is prepared in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom. The Commissioner is responsible for approving the annual Statement of Accounts in accordance with the timetable specified in the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.

- 2.5.2 Maintaining proper accounting records is one of the ways in which the Commissioner discharges their responsibility for stewardship of public resources. The Commissioner has a statutory responsibility in preparing the annual accounts to present fairly its operations during the year. These are subject to external audit. This audit provides assurance that the accounts are prepared properly, that proper accounting practices have been followed and that quality arrangements have been made for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the Commissioner's resources.
- 2.5.3 All the Commissioner's transactions, material commitments and contracts and other essential accounting information are recorded completely, accurately and on a timely basis. Procedures are in place to enable accounting records to be reconstituted in the event of systems failure. Reconciliation procedures are carried out to ensure transactions are correctly recorded. Prime documents are retained in accordance with legislative and audit requirements.
- 2.5.4 The Chief Financial Officer shall ensure that there is adequate segregation of duties so that the duties of providing information is separate from calculating, checking and recording these sums and employees with the duty of examining or checking the accounts of cash transactions must not themselves be engaged in these transactions.
- 2.5.5 The Chief Financial Officer shall make proper arrangements for the audit, approval and publication of the Commissioner's accounts in accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. They shall ensure that all claims for funds including grants are made by the due date.

3 **Financial Planning**

3.1 Introduction

- 3.1.1 The way in which the Commissioner manages community risk and meets statutory responsibilities under the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 and the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England is set out in an Integrated Risk Management Plan. For planning purposes the Commissioner adopts a Fire and Rescue Plan and the annual planning and budget cycle is used to enable budget managers to demonstrate their plans for achievement of the Fire and Rescue Plan and the financial impact of those plans set out in their departmental budgets. The Commissioner is responsible for agreeing the Authority's policy framework and budget.
- 3.1.2 The general format of the budget will be approved by the Commissioner and proposed jointly by the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer The budget should include allocation to different services and projects, proposed taxation levels and contingencies. TheChief Financial Officer, in consultation with the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive, is responsible for coordinating the preparation of the budget on an annual basis for consideration by the Fire and Rescue Strategic Board and the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel, before approval by the Commissioner. The Chief Financial Officer shall also submit Medium Term Financial Projections covering at least a three to five year period to the Fire and Rescue Strategic Board in advance of the detailed budget process. The Commissioner may amend the budget or ask the Fire and Rescue Strategic Board to reconsider it before approving the budget.
- 3.1.3 It is the responsibility of Principal Officers to ensure that revenue budget and capital programme proposals reflecting agreed service plans are submitted to the Chief Financial Officer and that these estimates are prepared in line with guidance issued by theChief

Financial Officer. The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for providing appropriate financial information to enable budgets to be monitored effectively. The Chief Financial Officer must monitor expenditure against budget allocations and report to the Fire and Rescue Performance and Resources Board on the overall position on a regular basis.

- 3.1.4 It is the responsibility of Principal Officers to control income and expenditure within their area and to monitor performance, taking account of financial information provided by the Chief Financial Officer. They should explain variances within their own areas. They should also take any action necessary to avoid exceeding their budget allocation and alert the Chief Financial Officer to any problems.
- 3.1.5 The Commissioner is responsible for delivering a variety of services. The Commissioner needs to plan effectively and to develop systems to enable scarce resources to be allocated in accordance with carefully weighed priorities. The budget is the financial expression of the Commissioner's plans and policies.
- 3.1.6 A report on new proposals should explain the full financial implications, following consultation with the Chief Financial Officer. Unless the Commissioner has agreed otherwise, Principal Officers must plan to contain the financial implications of such proposals within their budget.
- 3.1.7 The revenue budget must be constructed so as to ensure that resource allocation properly reflects the service plans and priorities of the Commissioner. Budgets (spending plans) are needed so that the Commissioner can plan, authorise, monitor and control the way money is allocated and spent. It is illegal for the Commissioner not to balance the budget.
- 3.1.8 Medium-term planning (or a three to five year planning system) involves a planning cycle in which managers develop their own plans. As each year passes, another future year will be added to the medium-term plan. This ensures that the Commissioner is always preparing for events in advance.
- 3.1.9 The key controls for budgets and medium-term planning are:
 - a) Specific budget approval for all expenditure;
 - Budget managers are consulted in the preparation of the budgets for which they will be held responsible and accept accountability within delegations set by the Commissioner for their budgets and the level of service to be delivered; and
 - c) A monitoring process is in place to review regularly the effectiveness and operation of budget preparation and to ensure that any corrective action is taken.
- 3.1.10 The Chief Financial Officer shall prepare and submit reports to the Fire and Rescue Strategic Board on the aggregate spending plans of Services and on the resources available to fund them, identifying, where appropriate, the implications for the level of Council Tax to be levied. They will advise on the medium-term implications of spending decisions and encourage the best use of resources and value for money. The Chief Financial Officer will work with Principal Officers to identify opportunities to improve economy, efficiency and effectiveness, and by encouraging good practice in conducting financial appraisals of development or savings options, and in developing financial aspects of service planning.
- 3.1.11 The Chief Financial Officer, in consultation with the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive, will prepare and present the budget planning timetable to the Commissioner no later than the end of the first quarter of each financial year.

- 3.1.12 As part of the budget setting process the Chief Financial Officer will advise the Commissioner on appropriations from / to and / or the appropriate level of general reserve, earmarked reserves or provisions to be held.
- 3.1.13 It is the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officerto advise the Commissioner on budget proposals in accordance with their responsibilities under section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Government Act 2003.
- 3.1.14 The responsibilities of the Principal Officers are to prepare estimates of income and expenditure, in consultation with the Chief Financial Officer. They shall prepare budgets that are consistent with any relevant cash limits, with the annual budget cycle and with guidelines issued by the Chief Financial Officer.
- 3.1.15 Principal Officers shall integrate financial and budget plans with service planning, so that budget plans can be supported by financial and non-financial performance measures. When drawing up draft budget requirements, the Principal Officers should have regard to spending patterns and pressures revealed through the budget monitoring process. They shall reflect legal and policy requirements.
- 3.1.16 The Commissioner will present the proposed budget and council tax recommendations to the Police, Fire and Crime Panel for approval.

3.2 Budget preparation, monitoring and control

- 3.2.1 Budget management ensures that once the Commissioner has approved the budget, resources allocated are used for their intended purposes and are properly accounted for. Budgetary control is a continuous process, enabling the Commissioner to review and adjust budget targets during the financial year. It also provides the mechanism that calls managers to account for defined elements of the budget.
- 3.2.2 By identifying and explaining variances against budgetary targets, the Commissioner can identify changes in trends and resource requirements at the earliest opportunity. The Commissioner operates within an annual cash limit, approved when setting the overall budget. For the purposes of budgetary control by managers, a budget will normally be the planned income and expenditure for a service function. Budgetary control should take place at the lowest practical level.
- 3.2.3 Budget managers should be responsible only for income and expenditure that they can influence with only one nominated budget manager for each department. Budget managers accept accountability for their budgets and the level of service to be delivered and understand their financial responsibilities.
- 3.2.4 Budget managers shall follow an approved certification process for all expenditure. Performance levels/levels of service should be monitored in conjunction with the budget and necessary action is taken to align service outputs and budget. Principal Officers and senior managers should supervise the financial management of those reporting to them.
- 3.2.5 The Chief Financial Officer shall ensure there is an appropriate framework of budgetary management and control that ensures that budget management is exercised within annual cash limits unless the Commissioner agrees otherwise. They shall provide budget holders with timely information on receipts and payments on each budget that is sufficiently detailed to enable managers to fulfil their budgetary responsibilities.

- 3.2.6 All staff responsible for committing expenditure shall comply with relevant guidance, and the financial regulations. Each cost centre shall have a single named manager, determined by the relevant Principal Officer. As a general principle, budget responsibility should be aligned as closely as possible to the decision-making processes that commits expenditure. Significant variances from approved budgets shall be investigated and reported by budget managers regularly.
- 3.2.7 The Chief Financial Officer shall oversee the Commissioner's scheme of virement. They shall provide reports to the Commissioner via the Fire and Rescue Performance and Resources Board, in consultation with the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive, where the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive is unable to balance expenditure and resources within existing approved budgets under their control.
- 3.2.8 Reports shall be submitted on the Commissioner's projected income and expenditure compared with the budget on a monthly basis through the Fire and Rescue Performance and Resources Board. The report format will be agreed with the Chief Finance Officer and the Commissioner and will contain the most recently available financial information.

3.3 Capital Programme

- 3.3.1 TheChief Financial Officer, in consultation with the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive, is responsible for preparing the capital programme on an annual basis for consideration by the Fire and Rescue Strategic Board before submission to the Commissioner for approval. The Chief Financial Officer will issue guidelines on revenue budget and capital programme preparation to Principal Officers.
- 3.3.2 Capital expenditure involves acquiring or enhancing fixed assets with a long-term value to the Commissioner, such as land, buildings, and major items of plant, equipment or vehicles. Capital assets shape the way services are delivered in the long term and create financial commitments for the future in the form of financing costs and revenue running costs. Capital expenditure should form part of an investment strategy and should be carefully prioritised in order to maximise the benefit of scarce resources.
- 3.3.3 Capital expenditure within the approved programme is authorised by the ECFRS Strategic Leadership Team or the Commissioner. The approval process will agree the business case for the expenditure, the timeline for the project or programme, and the projected benefits. Reports will be prepared and submitted to the Fire and Rescue Performance and Resources Board on the projected income, expenditure and resources compared with the approved estimates on a monthly basis
- 3.3.4 The Chief Financial Officer, in consultation with Principal Officers, shall prepare a three to five year rolling programme of proposed capital expenditure for consideration and approval by the Commissioner. This programme should be considered as part of the Medium Term Financial Plan. Each scheme shall identify the total capital cost of the project and any additional revenue commitments.
- 3.3.5 Each capital project shall have a named officer responsible for sponsoring the scheme, monitoring the progress and ensuring completion of the scheme.
- 3.3.6 The Chief Financial Officer shall identify available sources of funding the capital programme including the identification of potential capital receipts from disposal of assets
- 3.3.7 Gaps may be identified between available resources and required capital investment. Requirements should be prioritised by the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive to enable

the Commissioner to make informed judgements as to which schemes should be included in the capital programme, the minimum level of funding required for each scheme and the potential phasing of capital expenditure.

- 3.3.8 Subject to the limits shown in section 9 and with the exception of professional fees (e.g. for feasibility studies and planning), no capital expenditure or disposal shall be incurred unless the scheme is approved by the Commissioner on recommendation of the Fire and Rescue Strategic Board.
- 3.3.9 The Chief Financial Officer shall issue guidance concerning capital schemes and controls, for example, on project appraisal techniques. The Chief Financial Officer, having regard to government regulations and accounting requirements, will determine the definition of capital expenditure.

3.3.10 Monitoring Capital Expenditure

The Chief Financial Officer and Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive shall:

- a) Monitor the progress of the capital programme and expenditure throughout the year against the approved programme
- b) Submit capital monitoring reports, based on the most recent financial information, to the Commissioner on regular basis throughout the year to the Fire and Rescue Strategic Board. The reports will show spending to date and compare projected income and expenditure with the approved programme.
- c) Will prepare a business case of all new capital schemes after the programme has been agreed for submission to the Commissioner and approval is required by the delegated limits.

3.4 **Reserves**

- 3.4.1 It is the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer to advise the Commissioner on prudent levels of reserves. The level of reserves should make a general recognition of potential expenditure in respect of emergencies/disasters including those that may be subject to eventual funding under the Bellwin Scheme of Government support.
- 3.4.2 The Commissioner must decide the level of general reserves it wishes to maintain before it can decide the level of Council Tax. Reserves for specific purposes may also be maintained, such as the purchase or renewal of capital items. Reserves shall be maintained in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom and agreed accounting policies. For each reserve established, the purpose, usage and basis of transactions should be clearly identified. Authorisation of expenditure from reserves shall be by the Commissioner with the advice of the Chief Financial Officer.
- 3.4.3 Under section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 the Chief Financial Officer must report to the Commissioner if there is or is likely to be unlawful expenditure or an unbalanced budget. This would include situations where reserves have become seriously depleted and it is forecast that the Commissioner will not have the resources to meet its expenditure in a particular financial year. Part 2 of the Local Government Act 2003 imposes a duty upon the Chief Financial Officer to report, at Council Tax setting, on "the robustness of estimates and the adequacy of proposed reserves".

- 3.4.4 Responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer:
 - a) To advise the Commissioner on reasonable levels of balances and reserves
 - b) To report to the Commissioner on the adequacy of reserves and balances before he approves the annual budget and council tax
 - c) To recommend appropriations to and from each earmarked reserve to the Commissioner for approval. These will be separately identified in the Annual Statement of Accounts
 - d) To produce the reserves strategy and recommend to the Commissioner to publish the strategy on the PFCCFRA website in line with Home Office guidance
- 3.4.5 Responsibilities of the Commissioner:
 - a) To approve the policy on reserves and balances, including the lower and upper parameters for the level of general reserve
 - b) To approve the creation and appropriate to each earmarked reserve. The purpose, usage and basis of transactions should be clearly identified for each reserve established
 - c) To approve the allocation of monies to and from general reserve.

3.5 Internal Control

- 3.5.1 Internal control refers to the systems of control devised by management to help ensure the Commissioner's objectives are achieved in a manner that promotes economical, efficient and effective use of resources and that the Commissioner's assets and interests are safeguarded. The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for advising on effective systems of internal control. These arrangements need to ensure compliance with all applicable statutes and regulations, and other relevant statements of best practice. They should ensure that public funds are properly safeguarded and used economically, efficiently, and in accordance with the statutory and other authorities that govern their use.
- 3.5.2 The Fire and Rescue Service is complex. It therefore requires internal controls to manage and monitor progress towards strategic objectives. The Commissioner has statutory obligations, and, therefore, requires internal controls to identify, meet and monitor compliance with these obligations. The Commissioner faces a wide range of financial, administrative and commercial risks, both from internal and external factors, which threaten the achievement of their objectives. Internal controls are necessary to manage these risks.
- 3.5.3 Key controls should be reviewed on a regular basis and the Commissioner must make a formal statement annually to the effect that it is satisfied that the systems of internal control are operating effectively. This is informed by a report to the Audit Committee, which reviews the governance arrangements for the Commissioner's finances, including:
 - a) Managerial control systems, including defining policies, setting objectives and plans, monitoring financial and other performance and taking appropriate anticipatory and remedial action. The key objective of these systems is to promote ownership of the control environment by defining roles and responsibilities;
 - b) Financial and operational control systems and procedures, which include physical safeguards for assets, segregation of duties, authorisation and approval procedures and information systems.
 - c) An effective internal audit function that is properly resourced. It should operate in accordance with the principles contained in the Auditing

Practices Board's auditing guideline Guidance for Internal Auditors, CIPFA's Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government in the United Kingdom and with any other statutory obligations and regulations.

3.6 Internal Audit

- 3.6.1 The requirement for an internal audit function for local authorities is implied by section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which requires that authorities 'make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs'. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that the relevant body 'undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance processes taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or guidance.'
- 3.6.2 Accordingly, internal audit is an independent and objective appraisal function established by the Commissioner for reviewing the system of internal control. It examines, evaluates and reports on the adequacy of internal control as a contribution to the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources.
- 3.6.3 The key control for internal audit is that it is independent in its planning and operation. The Internal Auditor shall have direct access to the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive, all levels of management and the Commissioner. The internal auditors comply with the Auditing Practices Board's guideline Guidance for Internal Auditors, as interpreted by CIPFA's Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government in the United Kingdom.
- 3.6.4 The Chief Financial Officer shall ensure that internal auditors have the authority to access premises at reasonable times; access all assets, records, documents, correspondence and control systems. They shall receive any information and explanation considered necessary concerning any matter under consideration and may require any employee of the Commissioner to account for cash, stores or any other asset under his or her control.
- 3.6.5 The Head of Internal Audit shall prepare in consultation with the Chief Financial Officer, Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive, Commissioner and Chair of the Audit Committee, the annual audit plan for consideration at the Audit Committee. The Head of Internal Audit will attend all Audit Committee meeting or ensure they are suitably represented.
- 3.6.6 The Head of Internal Audit will prepare and present an annual report to the Audit Committee which includes an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control environment of the PFCCFRA.
- 3.6.7 Internal Audit may access records belonging to third parties, such as contractors, when required. The Audit Committee will approve the strategic and annual audit plans prepared by the Internal Auditor, which shall take account of the characteristics and relative risks of the activities involved.
- 3.6.8 Any suspicion of fraud, corruption or other financial irregularity in respect of either Commissioner or private funds shall be reported to for investigation in accordance with the Anti-Fraud Policy. The Chief Financial Officer shall ensure that the Internal Auditor is given an opportunity, in a timely manner before live operation, to evaluate the adequacy of new systems for maintaining financial records, or records of assets, or changes to such systems.

3.7 External audit

- 3.7.1 The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government has delegated statutory functions on a transitional basis from the Audit Commission Act 1998 to Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) by way of a letter of delegation issued under powers contained in the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.
- 3.7.2 Under these transitional arrangements, PSAA is responsible for appointing auditors to local government, police and local NHS bodies, for setting audit fees and for making arrangements for the certification of housing benefit subsidy claims. Before 1 April 2015, these responsibilities were discharged by the Audit Commission.
- 3.7.3 The Secretary of State has specified PSAA as an appointing person under provisions of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. For audits of the accounts from 2018/19, PSAA will appoint an auditor to relevant principal local government bodies that opt into its national scheme.
- 3.7.4 Decisions to opt in or out of the PSAA national scheme will be taken by the Commissioner in consultation with the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer and Audit Committee as detailed in the Audit Committee Terms of Reference.
- 3.7.5 The external auditor has rights of access to all documents and information necessary for audit purposes. The duties of the external auditor are defined in the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. In particular, Part 5 of the Act requires the local auditor to prepare a code of audit practice, which external auditors follow when carrying out their duties.
- 3.7.6 The Commissioner's accounts are scrutinised by external auditors, who must be satisfied that the Statement of Accounts "presents a true and fair view" of the financial position of the Commissioner and their income and expenditure for the year in question and complies with the legal requirements.
- 3.7.7 The Chief Financial Officer will liaise with the external auditors and advise the Chief Fire Officer and the Commissioner of their responsibilities in relation to external audit and ensure that there is effective liaison between external and internal audit.
- 3.7.8 The Chief Financial Officer will ensure that the external auditors have access to which they are statutorily entitled in regards to personnel, premises and all other assets and documentation.
- 3.7.9 The Chief Financial Officer will ensure that all recommendations are implemented in a timely manner

3.8 **Preventing fraud and corruption**

3.8.1 The Commissioner will not tolerate fraud and corruption in the administration of responsibilities, whether from inside or outside the Fire and Rescue Service. The Commissioner's expectation of propriety and accountability is that the Commissioner and staff at all levels will lead by example in ensuring adherence to legal requirements, rules, procedures and practices. The Commissioner has adopted a separate Anti-Fraud Policy covering the Commissioner, employees, contractors and suppliers.

- 3.8.2 The Commissioner also expects that individuals and organisations (e.g. suppliers, contractors, service providers) with whom it comes into contact will act towards the Commissioner with integrity and without thought or actions involving fraud and corruption.
- 3.8.3 Principal Officers are required to deal swiftly and firmly with those who defraud or attempt to defraud the Commissioner or who are corrupt.
- 3.8.4 For the Commissioner and Principal Officers a register of interests is maintained and any hospitality or gifts accepted must be recorded. There are whistle blowing procedures are in place and operate effectively. The Commissioner maintains an anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy.
- 3.8.5 The Internal Auditor will periodically report significant matters to the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive and the Audit Committee.
- 3.8.6 The responsibilities of the Principal Officers are to:
 - Instigate the Commissioner's disciplinary procedures where the outcome of an audit investigation indicates improper behaviour.
 - Ensure that all suspected irregularities are reported to the Chief Financial Officer who shall determine whether to seek investigation by the Internal Auditor.
 - Where sufficient evidence exists to believe that a criminal offence may have been committed, after consultation with the Chief Financial Officer, to ensure that the police are called in to determine with the Crown Prosecution Service whether any prosecution will take place.

3.9 Security of assets

- 3.9.1 The Commissioner holds assets in the form of property, vehicles, equipment, furniture and other items worth many millions of pounds. It is important that assets are safeguarded and used efficiently in service delivery, and that there are arrangements for the security of both assets and information required for service operations. An up-to-date asset register is a prerequisite for proper fixed asset accounting and sound asset management.
- 3.9.2 The responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer are to ensure that an asset register is maintained in accordance with good practice for all fixed assets with a value in excess of a specified financial limit (see 9 Financial Limits).
- 3.9.3 The Chief Financial Officer shall ensure that each Principal Officer provides information for costing and the maintenance of financial records. They shall ensure that assets are valued in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom.
- 3.9.4 Principal Officers shall ensure that lessees and other prospective occupiers of Commissioner land are not allowed to take possession or enter the land until a lease or agreement, in a form approved by the Chief Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer, has been established as appropriate. Title deeds for all property shall be passed to the Essex Legal Services who are responsible for custody of all title deeds.
- 3.9.5 Principal Officers shall ensure the proper security of all buildings and other assets under their control. Where land or buildings are surplus to requirements, a recommendation for disposal should be the subject of a joint report by the Principal Officer and the Chief Financial Officer. Principal Officers shall ensure the safe custody of vehicles, equipment, furniture, stock, stores and other property belonging to the Commissioner. They will ensure that assets are identified, their location recorded and that they are appropriately

marked, after consultation with the Chief Financial Officer in any case where security is thought to be defective or where it is considered that special security arrangements may be needed.

- 3.9.6 Disposal or part exchange of assets that are no longer required should normally be by competitive tender or public auction, unless, following consultation with the Chief Financial Officer, the Commissioner agrees otherwise.
- 3.9.7 All employees have a personal responsibility with regard to the protection and confidentiality of information, whether held in manual or computerised records under General Data Protection Regulation 2018. Information may be sensitive or privileged, or may possess some intrinsic value, and its disclosure or loss could result in a cost to the Commissioner in some way.

4 **Financial Systems and Purchasing Procedures**

4.1 Introduction

- 4.1.1 Sound systems and procedures are essential to an effective framework of accountability and control. The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the operation of the Commissioner's accounting systems, the form of accounts and the supporting financial records. Any changes made by Principal Officers to the existing financial systems or the establishment of new systems must be approved by the Chief Financial Officer.
- 4.1.2 Principal Officers are responsible for the proper operation of financial processes in their own departments. Any changes to agreed procedures by Principal Officers to meet their own specific service needs should be agreed with the Chief Financial Officer. Principal Officers must ensure that, where appropriate, computer and other systems are registered in accordance with data protection legislation. Principal Officers must ensure that staff are aware of their responsibilities under freedom of information legislation.
- 4.1.3 The Fire and Rescue Service has many systems and procedures relating to the control of the Commissioner's assets, including purchasing, costing and management systems. Most systems are increasingly reliant on computers for their financial management information. The information must therefore be accurate and the systems and procedures sound and well administered. They should contain controls to ensure that transactions are properly processed and errors detected promptly.
- 4.1.4 The Chief Financial Officer has a professional responsibility to ensure that the Commissioner's financial systems are sound and should therefore agree any new developments or changes in any system involving financial transactions, assets, purchasing, stock or sales.

4.2 **Procurement**

4.2.1 Public money should be spent with demonstrable probity and in accordance with the Commissioner's policies and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. The Commissioner has a statutory duty to achieve value for money. The Commissioner's procedures should help to ensure that the Service obtains value for money from the purchasing arrangements.

- 4.2.2 Every employee of the Commissioner as well as the Commissioner has a responsibility to declare any links or personal interests that they may have with purchasers, suppliers and/or contractors if they are engaged in contractual or purchasing decisions on behalf of the Commissioner, in accordance with the Codes of Conduct. Official orders must be in a form approved by the Chief Financial Officer. Official orders must be issued for all works, supplies or services to be supplied to the Commissioner, except for supplies of utilities, periodic payments such as rent or rates, petty cash purchases, e-ordering of approved supplies from an agreed supplier or other exceptions agreed by the Chief Financial Officer.
- 4.2.3 Each order must conform to the guidelines approved by the Commissioner on central purchasing and the standardisation of works, supplies or services. Standard terms and conditions must not be varied without the prior approval of the Chief Financial Officer.
- 4.2.4 The normal method of payment from the Commissioner shall be by BACS or other instrument or approved method, drawn on the Commissioner's bank account by the Chief Financial Officer. The use of direct debit shall require the prior agreement of the Chief Financial Officer. Official orders must not be raised for any personal or private purchases, nor must personal or private use be made of Commissioner's contracts except where they are used to provide specific employee benefits.
- 4.2.5 All works, supplies or services should be ordered only by appropriate persons and correctly recorded. Works, supplies or services received are checked to ensure they are in accordance with the order. Purchase orders should not be received by the person who placed the order and appropriate P2P processes should be followed. Payments are not made unless orders have been satisfied to have been received by the Commissioner to the correct price, quantity and quality standards. All appropriate evidence of the transaction and payment documents are retained and stored for the defined period, in accordance with the document retention schedule.

4.3 **Purchasing Procedures**

- 4.3.1 The aims of the purchasing procedures are to achieve for the Commissioner the best value obtainable in the market (recognising the need to balance quality and whole life cost) with full accountability but without disproportionate procedural and procurement costs. The use and interpretation of the standards must reflect the legal and ethical framework within which the Commissioner must operate.
- 4.3.2 The procedures apply to all contracts made for, by or on behalf of the Commissioner with the exception of contracts for any interest in land and employment contracts (but contracts for the supply of agency staff do come within these standards), including the renewal or extension of contracts beyond their original scope or term in the same way as they apply to the formation of new contracts.
- 4.3.3 The procurement activities are subject to all applicable UK and EU legislation and in particular that relating to EU Regulations, Compulsory Competitive Tendering and other tendering procedures. They apply to all parts of the Commissioner's business and where the Commissioner is acting as an agent for another body. Any modification to the tendering procedure must be approved in advance by the Chief Financial Officer. Where the Commissioner is a member of any consortium or similar body, or is collaborating with another body which is acting as its agent, the regulations of that body shall apply, but the Chief Financial Officer or their delegated Procurement Officer shall not enter into any such arrangements unless satisfied that the Commissioner will thereby achieve best value for

money and proper control within the consortium or by the agent over procurement arrangements.

4.4 **Duties of Officers**

- 4.4.1 The Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive and Principal Officers may delegate authority within the Service to departmental heads and other officers to act for them under these standards and the expression "Officer" includes such designated officers except where expressly excluded.
- 4.4.2 Officers shall ensure that all staff involved in procurement processes are properly trained, managed and monitored. They will ensure that records required under these standards are fully kept and available to persons needing to see them, including the notification to the Head of Purchasing and Supply and the inclusion in the Commissioner's contract register of all contracts with a life time value greater than £25,000.
- 4.4.3 Subject to being satisfied that the interests of the Commissioner will be best served thereby (by reason of continuity of supply, price, value for money or other sufficient reason), an Officer may authorise changes to the price or time period of an existing contract, where this is allowed for under the terms of the contract, and maintains compliance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.
- 4.4.4 The Commissioner shall advertise all opportunities on Contracts Finder where contracts exceed £50,000 in value. This applies to all contracts (works, supplies, services, Light Touch Regime, framework agreements and dynamic purchasing systems) which are regulated by the 2015 Regulations and meet the relevant thresholds. The Commissioner cannot include information on Contracts Finder which is not included in the OJEU contract notice. Contracts Finder should also be used to publish the outcome of all contract awards valued over £50,000. Procurements conducted under the Light Touch Regime in accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 shall not be subject to publication on Contracts Finder.

4.5 **Duties of Procurement Officers**

- 4.5.1 Procurement Officers are those officers and staff directly involved in the procurement process. Procurement Officers shall ensure that a Product or Service Specification is sufficiently well defined so as to enable all bidders to submit a competitive price on the basis of equal and full information.
- 4.5.2 Procurement Officers shall ensure that the procedure used is as transparent and fair to all prospective bidders as practicable. They shall ensure contracts entered into meet the requirements set out in these procedures. Procurement Officers shall record (with reasons), sign and date any duly authorised decision taken under these standards.
- 4.5.3 Any person engaged to manage a procurement process or contract award on behalf of the Commissioner who is not an employee of the Commissioner shall comply with these procedures. Where arrangements are made as part of a consortium, the procedures of the lead authority or another partner within the consortium may be used.

4.6 **Procurement Procedures**

4.6.1 Before starting any procurement process, Procurement Officers shall determine the estimated value of the contract. The table below sets out the procedure that will normally be used:

Procurement Option	Financial Level
Minor Procedure (Direct Award)	< £5,000
Competitive Procedure (RFQ)	£5,000 - £24,999
Competitive Procedure RFQ (Procurement	£25,000 - £49,999
Officers)	
Formal Tender Procedure (Supply & Services)	£50,000 - £189,330
OJEU Tender Procedure (Supply & Services)	>£189,330
Formal Tender Procedure (Works)	£50,000 - £4,733,252
OJEU Tender Procedure (Works)	>£4,733,252

4.6.2 Specific requirements of UK or EU legislation, or other statutory regulation, guidance or code of practice governing the procurement (including compliance with Compulsory Competitive Tendering rules) shall be followed (even if they conflict with these standards). In all cases procedures for higher value contracts may be used.

4.7 Minor Contract Procedure

4.7.1 Minor contracts and orders for the provision of works, supplies and services may be let without competitive tender. Where alternative suppliers are available reference should be made to publish price information, quotations or other competitive pricing information before the award of the contract, or the issuing of the Purchase Order. Deadlines for competitive quotations or formal tenders may also be used.

4.8 **Competitive Contract Procedure**

- 4.8.1 Contracts, which do not exceed £50,000, may be let after inviting quotations, prices or tenders from at least three alternative suppliers. For areas where there is a regular requirement for procurement there should be a standing approved list of suppliers who should be approached. Decisions about the names of suppliers on such an approved list shall be authorised at Principal Officer or equivalent level. A record of the bids received shall be kept and the reasons for the award of contract recorded.
- 4.8.2 The Head of Purchasing and Supply will maintain a contracts register for all contracts with a lifetime value greater than £25,000.

4.9 **Formal Tender Procedure**

4.9.1 For contracts with an estimated value greater than £50,000, up to the EU threshold limits, a more formal tender process will apply. All such tenders are conducted through Contract Finder, an electronic government portal.

4.10 EU Procedures

- 4.10.1 The Head of Purchasing & Supply will have responsibility for the management of all procurement exercises where the expenditure is above the EU thresholds and the laid down EU procedures shall be followed.
- 4.10.2 All purchases exceeding £25,000 are to be conducted by the Purchasing Department working in collaboration with the budget holder and other relevant stakeholders.

4.10.3 All purchase orders shall be subject to two approvers as detailed below:

Budget Approval	Procurement Approval	Value
Department staff with authority to	Purchasing Officer	< £5,000.00
spend on behalf of the budget holder		
Budget holder	Contracts Officer	< £25,000.00
Budget holder	Head of Purchasing & Supply	< £100,000.00
Principal Officer, Chief Fire Officer /	Head of Purchasing & Supply,	< £250,000.00
Chief Executive	Chief Financial Officer	
Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive,	PFCC, DPFCC, PFCC's Chief	£250,000.00 +
Chief Financial Officer	Executive	

Each level may also be approved by those in a higher approval group.

4.11 Exceptions

- 4.11.1 The procedures outlined above shall be followed except where specific exemptions apply. The decision to apply an exemption shall be taken at the next higher level to the person authorised to commit the expenditure. The following specific exemptions may apply:
- 4.11.2 The product or service is required so urgently that the standard procedure cannot be followed. An urgency reason shall be a reason outside the control of the Commissioner. This option may not be used where OJEU rules apply;
- 4.11.3 It is for other reasons demonstrably in the best interests of the Commissioner to negotiate with a single supplier only or it is not reasonably practicable or in the Commissioner's interest to invite tenders;
- 4.11.4 The procurement is being made under an existing framework agreement and the indicative prices in the framework are below those expected from the market;
- 4.11.5 The procurement is for a service activity where the personal quality of the personnel engaged in the activity is the major element of the procurement, such as architects, financial consultants and legal advisers. Quotations, tenders or Framework prices may be accepted or reviewed on grounds which award a greater weight to quality than to price. Officers shall seek to include appropriate mechanisms for the control of fees payable and ensure that bidders are aware of the relevant evaluation criteria and rankings before submitting their tenders. Due regard is to be given to EU Regulations (specifically Negotiated and Competitive Dialogue Procedures) in so much that this process does not conflict with these; or
- 4.11.6 The declared prices procedure may be used to maximise the value obtained from a fixed sum. Under this procedure, the Commissioner indicates the price it is willing to pay for a product or service and asks bidders to indicate what they are willing to supply at that price. The Procurement Officer may inform potential bidders of the sum available and negotiate the products or services to be supplied in return. This procedure should only be used where it is demonstrably in the Commissioner's best interest and has prior Commissioner approval. Due regard is to be given to EU Regulations (specifically Negotiated and Competitive Dialogue Procedures) in so much that this process does not conflict with these.

4.12 **Private Interests**

4.12.1 No employee or agent of the Commissioner shall improperly use his or her position to obtain any personal or private benefit (including benefit accruing to connected third parties) from any contract entered into by the Commissioner. Employees shall have due regard to the registration of relevant interests in the registers maintained for that purpose by the Executive Support Team.

4.13 Tender Processes

- 4.13.1 Procurement Officers shall ensure that any tender rejected for late delivery shall be immediately returned to the sender and no details within such tender shall be recorded or disclosed. If an error is identified within a Tender, the bidder shall be given the opportunity of either confirming or withdrawing the tender, but no request to amend a tender after the time fixed for receipt will be accepted.
- 4.13.2 Tenders should be conducted electronically. Where tenders are not conducted electronically, they shall be opened in the presence of a manager independent of the Procurement Officer managing the procurement. A tender may only be accepted if it is within an approved revenue estimate or an approved capital vote adjusted as agreed by the Chief Financial Officer for increased price levels.
- 4.13.3 The Procurement Officer may award a contract other than to the financially first ranked bidder (i.e. lowest acceptable or highest in the case of a receipt) provided they certify why it is in the Commissioner's best interests to do so. The acceptability of a tender may be determined by reference to characteristics which are not capable of precise definition (e.g. taste or quality) provided that those characteristics are connected with the purpose for which the tender has been sought and that the influence of personal preference is minimised so far as practicable. The lowest acceptable tender need not be accepted where this would not represent the best value for money.
- 4.13.4 In the event that Post Tender Negotiation is required, this must be approved by the Head of Purchasing & Supply prior to any contact with the bidder. This is to take place after that bidder has been properly chosen to be the contractor but before acceptance on any aspect of a tender (Post Tender Negotiation). The Head of Purchasing & Supply shall attend these meetings. Post Tender Negotiation will only be undertaken where negotiation does not permit the disclosure of commercially sensitive information supplied by unsuccessful bidders for that contract and it is considered that the tender process has not resulted in the most advantageous offer and that offers are capable of improvement by negotiation.

4.14 Form of Contracts

- 4.14.1 Procurement Officers shall ensure the provision within the contract of clear and appropriate conditions governing the key elements of price, performance, warranty, duration, cancellation and default. The decision as to whether contracts with a value greater than £1m should be executed under seal will be made by the Chief Financial Officer taking into account factors such as the nature of the contract, the contractual period, and the goods, assets or services being purchased.
- 4.14.2 Every contract shall contain a clause empowering the Commissioner to terminate the contract if the contractor or any person employed by the contractor or acting on the contractor's behalf, with or without their knowledge, has acted corruptly in connection with

the contract or any other contract with the Commissioner and in particular appears to have committed any offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or the Criminal Justice Act 2003, or to have paid or offered any fee or reward contrary to Section 117 of the Local Government Act 2000.

- 4.14.3 Every contract shall contain a clause empowering the Commissioner to terminate the contract summarily by notice in writing should the contractor become bankrupt, insolvent, transfer or assign the contract or resolve to wind up or be ordered to be wound up, or carry on business under an Administrative Receiver. Such cancellation shall, so far as practicable, permit recovery by the Commissioner of all losses stemming from termination.
- 4.14.4 Procurement Officers shall in all cases consider the need for liquidated damages and seek the Chief Financial Officer's guidance and specific advice in this regard on all contracts worth more than £250,000. Procurement Officers may require a contractor to provide a bond or a guarantee from a parent company for contracts over £50,000.
- 4.14.5 For contracts over £250,000 a bank bond or guarantee should be considered depending on the risk profile of the contract.

4.15 Financial Limits

- 4.15.1 The financial limits determining who is responsible for the approval, agreement or sign off of contracts and purchase orders are given under section 9.13 Financial Limits.
- 4.15.2 Individuals may be delegated specific authority to authorise orders or invoices above these general limits by agreement with the Chief Financial Officer. Any such delegation and agreement shall be in writing.

5 Financial Management Procedures

5.1 Introduction

5.1.1 More detailed procedures for the operation of the financial systems, including the payment of creditors, collection of debts, asset and stock reviews and write offs are the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer. The following paragraphs cover the financial limits for the controls.

5.2 **Financial Limits**

5.2.1 The following levels of authority apply for the write off of stock, or bad debts:

Approval Levels	Post
Stock < £1,000	Stores Manager, Transport Manager
Stock < £10,000	Head of Purchasing & Supply, Fleet Engineer
Bad Debts < £5,000	Finance Manager
Stock & Bad Debts < £10,000	Chief Financial Officer
Stock & Bad Debts >£10,000	Chief Financial Officer – Reported to the Commissioner

5.2.2 The following levels of authority apply to Treasury Management:

Term	Post
Overnight investment	Financial Processes Manager or Finance Manager
Terms up to 3 months	Finance Manager
Terms up to 1 Year	Chief Financial Officer
Terms over 1 year	Chief Financial Officer, reported to the Commissioner

5.3 Payments

- 5.3.1 The authority to authorise the initiation of payment runs rests with the Financial Processes Manager, Finance Manager or Assistant Director of Finance. The actual payment run may be initiated by another member of the department. Records will be maintained of who authorised, and who actioned each payment run and BACS transfer. Individual payments through CHAPS or cheques will also be recorded in this way. The following staff have delegated authority to authorise payments through the bank, or to issue instructions to the bank:
 - a) Chief Financial Officer;
 - b) Assistant Director of Finance
 - c) Financial Processes Manager, and
 - d) Finance Manager
- 5.3.2 The Chief Financial Officer is authorised to amend and delete this list to meet operational requirements.
- 5.3.3 Responsibility for maintaining the detailed procedures, including the instructions for the use of the finance system rests with the Chief Financial Officer. These detailed procedures shall be subject to version control.

5.4 Banking Arrangements

- 5.4.1 The Chief Financial Officeris responsible for the arrangements for the ordering and security of cheques, electronic payment systems and other payments arrangements. All cheques and payments will be signed, authorised or transacted under the authority of the Chief Financial Officer by nominated staff. The Chief Financial Officer will arrange to notify the Commissioner's bankers of the names of nominated staff.
- 5.4.2 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for ensuring that all bank accounts operated by the fire and rescue service are reconciled on a regular and timely basis, and that the transactions are subject to independent review.

6 Banking & Treasury Policy

6.1 **Treasury management**

6.1.1 The Commissioner has adopted CIPFA's Code of Practice for Treasury Management. The Commissioner is responsible for approving the treasury management strategy. The Chief Financial Officer has delegated responsibility for implementing and monitoring the strategy. All money in the control of the fire and rescue service is controlled by the Chief Financial Officer.

- 6.1.2 The Chief Financial Officer will design, implement and monitor all arrangements for the identification, management and control of treasury management risk, will report at least annually on the adequacy / suitability thereof, and will report, as a matter of urgency, the circumstances of any actual or likely difficulty in achieving the organisation's objectives in this respect. The Commissioner approves the Treasury Management Strategy in February of each year. The objectives or aims of each element of activity are set out in the sections below:
- 6.1.3 **Liquidity risk management** The objective is to ensure it has adequate though not excessive cash resources, borrowing arrangements, overdraft or standby facilities to enable it at all times to have the level of funds available which are necessary for the achievement of its objectives.
- 6.1.4 **Interest rate risk management** The objective is to manage exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to containing its medium term net interest costs, and in securing its interest revenues in accordance with the amounts provided in its budgetary arrangements. The Commissioner will achieve these objectives by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and revenues, but at the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates. The above are subject at all times to the consideration and, if required, approval of any policy or budgetary implications.
- 6.1.5 **Exchange rate risk management** The objective in managing the exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates is to minimise any detrimental impact on its budgeted income/expenditure levels. Where possible the risk of exchange rate fluctuations will be borne by suppliers of goods and services. The Commissioner will achieve this objective by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and revenues, but at the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in the level or structure of exchange rates. The above is subject at all times to the consideration and, if required, approval of any policy or budgetary implications.
- 6.1.6 **Inflation risk management** The effects of varying levels of inflation, insofar as they can be identified, as impacting directly on its treasury management activities, will be controlled by the Commissioner as an integral part of its strategy for managing its overall exposure to inflation. It will achieve this objective by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and revenues, but at the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in the level or structure of inflation. The above is subject at all times to the consideration and, if required, approval of any policy or budgetary implications.
- 6.1.7 **Credit and counterparty risk management** The prime objective of the Commissioner's Treasury Management activities is the security of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, it will ensure that its counterparty lists and limits reflect a prudent attitude towards organisations with whom funds may be deposited, and will limit its investment activities to the approved instruments, methods and techniques referred to. It also recognises the need to have, and will therefore maintain, a formal counterparty policy in respect of those organisations from which it may borrow, or with whom it may enter into other financing arrangements.

- 6.1.8 **Refinancing risk management** The Commissioner will ensure that its borrowing, financing and partnership arrangements are negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile of the monies so raised are managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for renewal or refinancing, if required, which are competitive and as favourable to the organisation as can reasonably be achieved in the light of market conditions prevailing at the time. The Commissioner will actively manage its relationships with its counterparties in these transactions in such a manner as to secure this objective, and will avoid overreliance on any one source of funding if this might jeopardise achievement of the above.
- 6.1.9 Legal and regulatory risk management The Commissioner will ensure that all of its treasury management activities comply with its statutory powers and regulatory requirements. It will demonstrate such compliance, if required to do so, to all parties with whom it deals in such activities. In framing its credit and counterparty policy it will ensure that there is evidence of counterparties' powers, authority and compliance in respect of the transactions they may effect with the organisation, particularly with regard to duty of care and fees charged. The Commissioner recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on its treasury management activities and, so far as it is reasonably able to do so, will seek to minimise the risk of these impacting adversely on the organisation.
- 6.1.10 **Fraud, error and corruption, and contingency management** The Commissioner will ensure that it has identified the circumstances, which may expose it to the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its treasury management dealings. Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and procedures, and will maintain effective contingency management arrangements, to these ends.
- 6.1.11 **Market risk management** The Commissioner will seek to ensure that its stated treasury management policies and objectives will not be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums it invests, and will accordingly seek to protect itself from the effects of such fluctuations.

6.2 Treasury Management Strategy

- 6.2.1 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for reporting to the Commissioner via the Strategic Board a proposed Treasury Management Strategy for the coming financial year no later than February of the preceding financial year. All Commissioner decisions on borrowing, investment or financing shall be delegated to the Chief Financial Officer, who is required to act in accordance with CIPFA's Code of Practice for Treasury Management following approval of the Treasury Management Strategy. Reports on treasury management will be drawn up for presentation to the Commissioner in May and October of each year, together with the Prudential Indicators for Treasury Management to report the mid-year and outturn position.
- 6.2.2 Many millions of pounds pass through the Commissioner's accounts each year and procedures have been established to deal with the management of cash flows and the associated risks. These seek to provide assurances that the Commissioner's money is properly managed in a way that balances risk with return, but with the overriding consideration being given to the security of the Commissioner's investment.
- 6.2.3 The Chief Financial Officer shall arrange the borrowing and investments of the Commissioner in such a manner as to comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the Commissioner's Treasury Management policy statement

and strategy. All investments of money shall be made in the name of the Commissioner or in the name of nominees approved by the Commissioner. All securities that are the property of the Commissioner or its nominees and the title deeds of all property in the Commissioner's ownership shall be held under arrangements approved by the Chief Financial Officer.

- 6.2.4 The Chief Financial Officer shall affect all borrowings in the name of the Commissioner and act as the Commissioner's registrar of stocks, bonds and mortgages and to maintain records of all borrowing of money by the Commissioner. The Chief Financial Officer shall ensure that the procedures to be followed for borrowing are documented.
- 6.2.5 Principal Officers shall ensure that loans are not made to third parties and that interests are not acquired in companies, joint ventures or other enterprises without the approval of the Commissioner, following consultation with the Chief Financial Officer.
- 6.2.6 For trust funds and funds held for third parties these should be held, wherever possible, in the name of the Commissioner. All officers and staff acting as trustees by virtue of their official position shall deposit securities, etc. relating to the trust with the, Chief Financial Officer unless the deed otherwise provides. Where funds are held on behalf of third parties, arrangements shall be made for their secure administration, approved by the Chief Financial Officer with written records of all transactions. Trust funds shall be operated within any relevant legislation and the specific requirements for each trust.
- 6.2.7 The Chief Financial Officer shall operate bank accounts as are considered necessary. Opening or closing any bank account shall require the approval of the Chief Financial Officer. All payments made on behalf of the Commissioner shall be authorised by the Chief Financial Officer or such officers as they nominate for that purpose. The Commissioner may provide employees of the Commissioner with cash or bank imprest accounts to meet minor expenditure on behalf of the Commissioner and the Chief Financial Officer shall prescribe rules for operating these accounts. The arrangements for the operation of these accounts shall be reviewed periodically.
- 6.2.8 Principal Officers shall ensure that employees operating an imprest account obtain and retain vouchers to support each payment from the account. Where appropriate, an official receipted VAT invoice must be obtained. They shall make adequate arrangements for the safe custody of the account and record transactions promptly. Imprest accounts may not be used to make personal loans and the only payments into the account shall be the reimbursement of the float and change relating to purchases where an advance has been made.

6.3 Value for Money

- 6.3.1 The Commissioner is committed to the pursuit of value for money in its treasury management activities, and to the use of performance methodology in support of that aim, within the framework set out in its Treasury Management Policy Statement.
- 6.3.2 Accordingly, the treasury management function will be the subject of ongoing analysis of the value it adds in support of the organisation's stated business or service objectives. It will be the subject of regular examination of alternative methods of service delivery, of the availability of fiscal or other grant or subsidy incentives, and of the scope for other potential improvements.

6.4 Records

6.4.1 The Chief Financial Officer shall maintain full records of treasury management decisions, and of the processes and practices applied in reaching those decisions, both for the purposes of learning from the past, and for demonstrating that reasonable steps were taken to ensure that all issues relevant to those decisions were taken into account at the time.

6.5 Approved Instruments for Investment and Borrowing

6.5.1 The Chief Financial Officer shall maintain a list of approved instruments, methods and techniques. This shall include limits, either in duration of financial limits, in the use of specific instruments and financial limits for investments.

6.6 **Organisation**

- 6.6.1 It is essential, for the purposes of the effective control and monitoring of its treasury management activities, and for the reduction of the risk of fraud or error, and for the pursuit of optimum performance, that these activities are structured and managed in a fully integrated manner, and that there is at all times clarity of treasury management responsibilities.
- 6.6.2 The principles on which this will be based is a clear distinction between those charged with setting treasury management policies and those charged with implementing and controlling these policies, particularly with regard to the execution and transmission of funds, the recording and administering of treasury management decisions, and the audit and review of the treasury management function.
- 6.6.3 The Chief Financial Officer shall have responsibility for setting the detailed treasury management policies. The Chief Financial Officer will ensure that there is an adequate structure in place to implement the policies and undertake the day to day treasury management activities.
- 6.6.4 If, as a result of lack of resources or other circumstances, there is a departure from these principles, the Chief Financial Officer will ensure that the reasons are reported in the next Treasury Management report to the Commissioner.
- 6.6.5 The Chief Financial Officer will ensure that there are clear written statements of the responsibilities for each post engaged in treasury management, and the arrangement for absence cover. They will ensure there is proper documentation for all deals and transactions, and that procedures exist for the effective transmission of funds.
- 6.6.6 The delegation to the Chief Financial Officer in respect of treasury management is set out in the main scheme of delegation. The Chief Financial Officer will fulfil all such responsibilities in accordance with the organisation's policy statement and with generally accepted professional practice on treasury management.

6.7 Budgeting, Accounting and Audit

6.7.1 The Chief Financial Officer will include the financial implications of treasury management policy in the annual budget for treasury management, which will bring together all of the costs involved in running the treasury management function, together with associated income. The Commissioner will account for its treasury management activities, for

decisions made and transactions executed, in accordance with appropriate accounting practices and standards, and with statutory and regulatory requirements in force for the time being. The Commissioner will ensure that its auditors, and those charged with regulatory review, have access to all information and papers supporting the activities of the treasury management function as are necessary for the proper fulfillment of their roles, and that such information and papers demonstrate compliance with external and internal policies and approved practices.

6.8 Cash Flow Management

6.8.1 Unless statutory or regulatory requirements demand otherwise, all monies in the hands of the Commissioner will be under the control of the Chief Financial Officer, and will be aggregated for cash flow and investment management purposes. Cash flow projections will be prepared on a regular and timely basis, and the Chief Financial Officer will ensure that these are adequate for the purposes of monitoring compliance with liquidity risk management.

6.9 Money Laundering

6.9.1 The Commissioner is alert to the possibility that it may become the subject of an attempt to involve it in a transaction involving the laundering of money. Accordingly, it will maintain procedures for verifying and recording the identity of counterparties and reporting suspicions, and will ensure that staff involved in this are properly trained. The Chief Financial Officer will be the responsible officer for reporting purposes.

6.10 Staff Training

6.10.1 The Commissioner recognises the importance of ensuring that all staff involved in the treasury management function are fully equipped to undertake the duties and responsibilities allocated to them. It will therefore seek to appoint individuals who are both capable and experienced and will provide training for staff to enable them to maintain an appropriate level of expertise, knowledge and skills. The Chief Financial Officer, in consultation with the Director of Corporate Services, will recommend and implement, where appropriate, the necessary arrangements.

6.11 Use of External Service Providers

6.11.1 The Commissioner recognises the potential value of employing external providers of treasury management services, in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. When it employs such service providers, it will ensure it does so for reasons which will have been submitted to full evaluation of the costs and benefits. It will also ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review. And it will ensure, where feasible and necessary, that a spread of service providers is used, to avoid over-reliance on one or a small number of companies. Where services are subject to formal tender or re-tender arrangements, legislative requirements will always be observed. The monitoring of such arrangements rests with the Chief Financial Officer.

6.12 Corporate Governance

6.12.1 The Commissioner is committed to the pursuit of proper corporate governance and to establishing the principles and practices by which this can be achieved. Accordingly, the treasury management function and its activities will be undertaken with openness and transparency, honesty, integrity and accountability.

6.13 **Income**

- 6.13.1 Income can be a vulnerable asset and effective income collection systems are necessary to ensure that all income due is identified, collected, receipted and banked properly. It is preferable to obtain income in advance of supplying goods or services as this improves the cash flow and also avoids the time and cost of administering debts. For the Commissioner this risk is limited as most income is collected by other Authorities or paid as government grants.
- 6.13.2 The charges set by the fire and rescue service are reviewed annually and applied for all new contracts and agreements after their implementation date. Income is invoiced in accordance with agreed procedures. All money received by an employee on behalf of the fire and rescue service is paid without delay to the Commissioner's bank account, and properly recorded. The responsibility for cash collection should be separated from identifying the amount due or for reconciling the amount due to the amount received. Effective action is taken to pursue non-payment within defined timescales and formal approval for debt write-off is obtained.
- 6.13.3 Principal Officers have a responsibility to assist the Chief Financial Officer in collecting debts that they have originated, by providing any further information requested by the debtor, and in pursuing the matter on the Commissioner's behalf. A credit note to replace a debt can only be issued to correct a factual inaccuracy or administrative error in the calculation and/or billing of the original debt.

7 Staffing

7.1 Introduction

- 7.1.1 The Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive is responsible for providing overall management to staff and is also responsible for ensuring that there is proper use of the evaluation or other agreed systems for determining the remuneration of a job. Principal Officers are responsible for controlling total staff numbers by adjusting the staffing to a level that can be funded within approved budget provision and the proper use of appointment procedures.
- 7.1.2 In order to provide the highest level of service, it is crucial that the fire and rescue service recruits and retains high calibre, knowledgeable staff, qualified to an appropriate level. The key controls for staffing include ensuring that an appropriate staffing strategy and policy exists, in which staffing requirements and budget allocation are matched.
- 7.1.3 Procedures are in place for forecasting staffing requirements and cost, controls are implemented that ensure that staff time is used efficiently and to the benefit of the fire and rescue service; and checks are undertaken prior to employing new staff to ensure that they are appropriately qualified, experienced and trustworthy.
- 7.1.4 The Commissioner is responsible for approving the overarching HR strategy and budget provision in consultation with the Chief Fire Officer, who will advise the Commissioner on the budget necessary in any given year to cover estimate staff costs.

7.2 **Payments to employees**

- 7.2.1 Staff costs are the largest item of expenditure for most fire and rescue services. It is therefore important that payments are accurate, timely, made only where they are due for services to the fire and rescue service and that payments accord with individuals' conditions of employment. It is also important that all payments are accurately and completely recorded and accounted for.
- 7.2.2 The key controls for payments to employees are to ensure that proper authorisation procedures are in place and that there is adherence to corporate timetables in relation to Starters, Leavers, Variations, Enhancements, Timesheets, and Claims. There is segregation of duties in the operation of the HR and Payroll system with employees and their pay elements maintained by the HR department and responsibility for payment and the accounting for payroll cost within the Finance department. Frequent reconciliation takes place of payroll expenditure against approved budget and bank account. It is the responsibility of the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer to ensure that these controls are maintained.

7.3 Pay in Lieu of Notice

7.3.1 All payments to leavers to cover the contractual period of notice shall be treated as contractual and paid through the payroll with the deduction of tax and national insurance contributions.

7.4 **Taxation**

- 7.4.1 Like all organisations, the Commissioner is responsible for ensuring its tax affairs are in order. Tax issues are often very complex and the penalties for incorrectly accounting for tax are severe. It is therefore very important for all employees to be aware of their responsibilities.
- 7.4.2 All taxable transactions are identified, properly carried out, accounted for within stipulated time-scales and paid through appropriate financial systems and records are maintained in accordance with HM Revenue and Customs guidance to enable returns to be made to the appropriate authorities within the stipulated timescale. It is the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer to ensure that suitable arrangements are in place to comply with the statutory requirements.

8 Joint Working Arrangements

8.1 Introduction

- 8.1.1 Public bodies are increasingly encouraged to provide seamless service delivery through working closely with other public bodies, local authorities, agencies and private service providers.
- 8.1.2 When the Commissioner acts as a commissioner of services, they will need to agree the shared priorities and outcomes expected to be delivered through the contract or grant agreement with each provider. The inclusion of detailed grant conditions directing recipients how to spend funding need not be the default option

- 8.1.3 Joint working arrangements can take a number of different forms, each with its own governance arrangements. These can be grouped under the following headings:
 - i. Partnerships
 - ii. Collaboration
 - iii. Regional working
 - iv. Consortia
 - v. External Funding
 - vi. Work for Third Parties

8.2 Partnerships

- 8.2.1 Partnerships can play a key role in delivering community strategies and in helping to promote and improve the well-being of the area.
- 8.2.2 The main reasons for entering into a partnership are to provide new and better ways of delivering services or to access new resources. Partners may act as a project deliverer, sponsor, funder or beneficiary. They have responsibilities in common with the Commissioner for the project. They must act in good faith at all times and in the best interests of the partnership's aims and objectives, being open about any conflict of interests that might arise.
- 8.2.3 Partners must encourage joint working and promote the sharing of information, resources and skills between public, private and community sectors and hold confidentially any information received as a result of partnership activities or duties that is of a confidential or commercially sensitive nature;

8.3 **Collaboration**

- 8.3.1 The Commissioner must keep emergency service collaboration under review and enter into collaboration agreements where it is in the interests of efficiency or effectiveness as set out in the Police and Crime Act 2017.
- 8.3.2 The Commissioner shall hold the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive to account for any collaboration in which the Fire and Rescue Service is involved in.
- 8.3.3 Any such proposal shall be discussed with the Commissioner and the Chief Financial Officer.

8.4 **Regional Working**

- 8.4.1 The Fire and Rescue Service's contribution towards working with other services, regions, agencies or parties will be contained in the annual budget and medium term financial plan.
- 8.4.2 The Director of Corporate Services will be required to provide regular financial and performance monitoring information for regional working. Once a contribution has been made to a regional project, in terms of application of the resource, it will be assumed it will be in line with those of the Lead Party for that activity. The Fire and Rescue Service will have the right to audit all expenditure in relation to all regional projects.

8.5 **Consortium Arrangements**

8.5.1 A consortium is a long term joint working arrangement with other bodies, operating with a formal legal structure approved by the Commissioner.

- 8.5.2 Responsibilities of the Chief Fire Officer / Executive:
 - a) To contact the Commissioner's Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer before entering into any formal consortium agreement and to establish the correct legal framework.
 - b) To consult the Chief Financial Officer to ensure that correct treatment of taxation and other accounting arrangements.
 - c) To produce a business case to show the full economic benefits to be obtained through participation in the consortium
 - d) To produce a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) setting out the appropriate governance arrangements for the project. This document should be approved by the Commissioner's Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer.
- 8.5.3 Responsibilities of the Commissioner:
 - a) To approve the Fire and Rescue Service's participation in the consortium arrangement.

8.6 External Funding

- 8.6.1 External funding can be a very important source of income, but funding conditions need to be carefully considered to ensure that they are compatible with the aims of the Commissioner. In some cases external funding is linked to a tight specification and may not be compatible with the Fire and Rescue Plan.
- 8.6.2 The Commissioner shall actively pursue opportunities for additional funding where this is considered to be in the interests of the Service.
- 8.6.3 The Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive shall ensure that the match funding requirements and exit strategies are considered prior to entering into any agreements and that the medium term financial plan reflects this.
- 8.6.4 The Chief Financial Officer shall ensure that all funding notified by external bodies is received and properly accounted for, and that all claims for funds are made by the due date and that any audit requirements specified in the funding agreement are met.
- 8.6.5 The Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive, in conjunction with the Commissioner's Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer, shall ensure that key conditions of the funding any statutory requirements are complied with and that the responsibilities of the accountable body are clearly understood. They shall all ensure that any conditions placed on the Commissioner are in accordance with approved policies. If there is a conflict, this needs to be taken to the Commissioner for resolution.

8.7 Work for third parties

8.7.1 Legislation enables the fire and rescue service to provide a range of services to other bodies. Such work may enable a unit to maintain economies of scale and existing expertise. Arrangements should be in place to ensure that any risks associated with this work are minimised and that such work is intra vires.

8.7.2 Principal Officers shall maintain a register of all contracts entered into with third parties and ensure (in conjunction with the Chief Financial Officer) that appropriate insurance arrangements are made.

9 **Financial Limits**

9.1 Review Period

The purpose of this section is to set out the limits approved by the Commissioner, which should be reviewed annually as part of the Financial and Procurement Regulations.

9.2 Budget Virements

	Virement to b	e approved by		
Limits	Principal Officer	Chief Fire Officer	Chief Financial Officer	Commissioner
Up to £50,000	✓			
£50,000 to £250,000	✓	✓	✓	
Over £250,000	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark

- 9.2.1 The cumulative value of virements agreed by Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive in a financial year to a single budget head shall be reported to the Commissioner via the Performance and Resources Board if it exceeds £250,000. Virement is not permitted in relation to financing items such as asset charges or to the estimate heads where a proposal would adversely affect the long-term revenue commitments of the Commissioner.
- 9.2.2 Commissioner approval is not required when the virement is between an income estimate head and an expenditure estimate head, which are directly related and is approved by the Chief Financial Officer. Commissioner approval is not required for virements between accounting periods, or between cost centres when the account is unchanged.

9.3 **Revenue and Capital Contract Overspends**

9.3.1 Where it appears that the final cost of a revenue or capital contract will exceed the contract sum by more than both 5% and £12,000 (except by the operation of a fluctuating cost clause), a report shall be made to and approval sought of the Commissioner as soon as possible.

9.4 **Revenue Budget Monitoring**

9.4.1 Major projects need not be referred back to the Commissioner for further approval unless, when negotiating contract details, amendments to the nature of the scheme are sought or the cost of the scheme exceeds the limits shown below:

Cost of project varies from approved estimate by the lesser of 10% or £250,000

9.5 Capital Programme

9.5.1 Approval for capital expenditure and disposal

Capital expenditure (and any subsequent changes to the capital budget) are considered by the Strategic Board, which in turn makes a recommendation to the Commissioner. Any capital project, property disposal, or property lease renewal with a value in excess of £250,000 shall be subject to the Commissioner's approval. The Chief Financial Officer will require notification before any such commitment is made.

9.5.2 Approval of leases and other credit arrangements

The Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive shall notify the Chief Financial Officer of all proposed leases, or other credit arrangements before any agreement is made. Any lease or other credit arrangement with a value in excess of the limit shown below shall be subject to the Commissioner's approval:

£10,000 pa in lease payment

9.6 Annual Capital Programme

9.6.1 Schemes exceeding approved estimates in the Capital Programme

Detailed estimates for each scheme in the approved Capital Programme shall be prepared by the responsible officer before tenders are sought or commitments made. Schemes need not be referred back to the Commissioner for further approval unless the cost of the scheme exceeds the limit shown below:

Cost in excess of £250,000 or for a lease if the lease payments exceed £10,000 p.a.

9.7 Leasing

9.7.1 Officers will consult the Chief Financial Officer before entering into any leasing agreement. Where the annual lease payments exceed £10,000, this will be subject to the Commissioner's approval.

9.8 Write-offs

- 9.8.1 The Chief Financial Officer shall have the authority to write off a debt, deficiencies of stocks or stores, and an item in an inventory or to declare equipment and materials surplus to the fire service's requirements, subject to a limit of £10,000 in any one case. Amounts above this are to be reported to the Commissioner.
- 9.8.2 The Chief Financial Officer shall issue procedures for the authorisation and recording of the debts to be written off.

9.9 Assets

9.9.1 The Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive shall maintain an asset register for all fixed assets with an individual value in excess of the limits shown below:

Land & Buildings - £10,000 Vehicles – £7,500 Computers - £10,000

Plant & Equipment - £10,000

This covers equipment items which are individually below the de-minimis, but when aggregated exceed the limit, e.g. IT hardware

9.9.2 High value asset disposals

Items above the estimated value shown below shall be disposed of by public auction or sealed bids after advertisement:

Lane & Buildings £500,000 Equipment £25,000 Non-Operational Vehicles £20,000

In cases where it is deemed to be cost effective to action a sale of land or buildings through an estate agent, prior approval of the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive or Chief Financial Officer must be obtained.

9.10 **Income**

9.10.1 The Chief Financial Officer may approve the write-off of bad debts, pension and payroll overpayments up £10,000. Amounts for write-off above this value must be referred to the Commissioner for approval, supported by a written report explaining the reasons for write off.

9.11 Ex Gratia Payments

- 9.11.1 The Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive shall have the authority to make, having regard to the particular circumstances of each case, ex gratia payments not exceeding £10,000 in any one case, subject to consultation with the Chief Financial Officer.
- 9.11.2 Amounts greater than £10,000 must be referred to the Commissioner for approval. The circumstances of the proposed payment must not have the effect of circumventing other fire and rescue service pay and allowance, policies, rates and rules.

9.12 **Declaring Land Surplus to Requirements**

9.12.1 The Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive shall have the authority to declare surplus to the Commissioner's requirements, land of a minor nature and a value not exceeding £100,000.

9.13 Contract Standing Orders

9.13.1 The Commissioner is advised in writing of the intention to enter into the contract at least seven days in advance for contracts over £150,000. On receipt of the written notice, the Commissioner may withdraw consent to enter into the contract notified. The Commissioner shall receive a monthly report of other contracts let by the organisation.

9.14 Single Source Justification (also referred to as Single Tender Action)

9.14.1 Requests for Single Source Justification shall be required when estimated expenditure in any procurement is likely to exceed £5,000 and no competitive process has been undertaken. Approval shall be subject to the provision of sufficient evidence being

presented to support the application, agreement from the budget holder and sign off in accordance with financial approval levels.

9.14.2 A register detailing Single Source Justifications is maintained and shall be reviewed monthly by the Head of Purchasing & Supply and the Chief Financial Officer.

.

Schedule 16 – Terms of Reference of the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel

1. Introduction

1.1.1. The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 brought in the responsibility for local authorities to create a Police and Crime Panel. This panel would be made up of local elected councillors and independent members with the responsibility to scrutinise and support the work of the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC).

1.1.2. The Policing and Crime Act 2017 introduced new powers for a PCC to make a local business case to the Secretary of State to take on the governance of fire and rescue services for their area. The Secretary of state approved the business case for a change in governance for Essex.

1.1.3. The Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex (Fire and Rescue Authority) Order 2017 created a new fire and rescue authority, under section 4A of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004, for the areas covered by Southend-on-Sea Borough Council, Thurrock Council and Essex County Council. The new order came into effect from the 1st October 2017.

1.1.4. Within that order it sets out that the person who is the Police and Crime Commissioner for Essex is also the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority ("the Commissioner"). They will be known as the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex ("the PFCC).

1.1.5. The Policing and Crime Act 2017 also amended section 28 (Powers of Police and Crime Panels) of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 to include the responsibilities of the new fire and rescue authority.

1.1.6. In summary, the functions of the Police and Crime Panel which must be exercised with a view to support the effective exercise of the functions of the PCC now include the Commissioner's functions in respect of the governance of the Fire and Rescue Service. Following the introduction of the additional responsibility the panel is now known as the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel ("the Panel").

2. Functions of the Panel

2.1. Key Functions

2.1.1. The functions of the Panel are:

a) Scrutiny of the Police and Crime Plan and the Fire and Rescue Plan.

b) Scrutiny of the Annual Report and the Fire and Rescue Statement.

c) Scrutiny of the appointment of a Deputy PFCC, the PCC's Chief Executive and the PCC's Treasurer.

d) Scrutiny of the appointment of the Commissioner's Chief Financial Officer.e) Scrutiny of the appointment and dismissal of the Chief Constable and the Chief Fire Officer.

f) To review the precept which the PFCC is proposing to issue for both Police and Fire and Rescue, for each financial year with the power to veto the precept.g) To deal with certain complaints against the PFCC or Deputy PFCC.

2.1.2. The Panel must also review or scrutinise decisions made, or other actions taken by the PFCC in connection with the discharge of their functions in relation to Policing and Fire and Rescue.

2.1.3. Further details of what the functions of the Panel mean is included below:

2.2. Scrutiny of Police and Crime Plan and the Fire and Rescue Plan

2.2.1. The Panel is a statutory consultee on the development or variation of the Police and Crime Plan and Fire and Rescue Plan. The Panel will receive a copy of the draft Plan, or a draft of any variation to it, from the Commissioner.

2.2.2. The Panel must:

Hold a public meeting to review the draft Police and Crime Plan or Fire and Rescue Plan (or a variation to it), and

Report or make recommendations on the draft Plans which the PFCC must take into account when finalising the documents.

2.3. Scrutiny of the Annual Report and Fire and Rescue Statement

2.3.1. The PFCC must produce an Annual Report and Fire and Rescue Statement about the exercise of their functions in the financial year and progress in delivering on the priorities set out in the Police and Crime Plan, and the Fire and Rescue Plan.

2.3.2. The Annual Report and Fire and Rescue Statement must be sent to the Panel for their consideration.

2.3.3. The Panel must comment upon the Annual Report and Fire and Rescue Statement, and for that purpose must:

a) Arrange for a public meeting of the Panel to be held as soon as practicable after the Panel receives the Annual Report or Fire and Rescue Statement;

b) Require the PFCC to attend the meeting to present the reports to the Panel, and answer such questions about the Annual Report and the Fire and Rescue Statement as the Panel think appropriate;

c) Make a report or recommendations on the Annual Report and Fire and Rescue Statement to the PFCC.

2.4. Senior Appointments

2.4.1. The Panel has powers to review the PFCC's proposed appointments of Chief Constable, Chief Fire Officer, Chief Executive of the Office of the PFCC, Chief Finance Officer of the PCC and Commissioner and the Deputy PFCC.

2.4.2. There is a process which is required to be followed for the appointment of Senior Appointments which includes a public confirmatory hearing for these posts.

2.4.3. The Panel will be notified of the need for a confirmatory hearing in respect of proposed senior appointments made by the PFCC. This will be held at the next available meeting of the Panel unless the appointment timescale requires an earlier hearing, in which case an extraordinary meeting will be arranged.

2.4.4. With regard to the appointment of the Chief Constable and Chief Fire Officer, the Panel is required to hold a meeting within the period of three weeks from the day on which the Panel receives notification from the Police and Crime Commissioner which will include:

- a) The name of the candidate.
- b) The criteria used to assess the suitability of the candidate for the appointment.
- c) Why the candidate satisfies those criteria.
- d) The terms and conditions on which the candidate is to be appointed.

2.4.5. Confirmatory hearings will be held in public, where the candidate is requested to appear for the purpose of answering questions relating to the appointment. Following this hearing, the Panel is required to review the proposed appointment and make a report to the PFCC on the appointment.

2.4.6. For a confirmatory hearing for the proposed appointment of the Chief Constable and Chief Fire Officer, in addition to the requirement to review and report, the Panel has the requirement to make a recommendation on the appointment and the power to veto the appointment.

2.4.7. Having considered the appointment, the Panel will be asked either:

a) To support the appointment without qualification or comment.

b) To support the appointment with associated recommendations.

c) To veto the appointment of the Chief Constable (by the required majority of at least two thirds of the persons who are members of the Panel at the time when the decision is made).

2.4.8. If the Panel vetoes the appointment of the candidate, the report to the PFCC must include a statement that the Panel has vetoed the appointment with reasons.

2.5. Suspension and Removal of the Chief Constable or Chief Fire Officer

2.5.1. If the PFCC suspends the Chief Constable of Chief Fire Officer from duty they must notify the Panel of the suspension.

2.5.2. A Commissioner must not call upon a Chief Constable to retire or the Chief Fire Officer to resign until the end of the scrutiny process which will occur:

a) At the end of six weeks from the Panel having received notification if the Panel has not by then given the PFCC a recommendation as to whether or not they should call for the retirement or resignation; or

b) The PFCC notifies the Panel of a decision as to whether they accept the Panel's recommendations in relation to resignation or retirement.

2.5.3. The PFCC must notify the Panel in writing of their proposal to call upon the Chief Constable or Chief Fire Officer to retire or resign together with a copy of the reasons given to the Chief Constable/Chief Fire Office and any representation from the Chief Constable/Chief Fire Officer in relation to that proposal.

2.5.4. Within six weeks from the date of receiving the further notification, the Panel must make a recommendation in writing to PFCC as to whether or not they should call for the retirement or resignation. Before making any recommendation, the Panel may consult the chief inspector of constabulary/fire and rescue, and must hold a scrutiny meeting.

2.5.5. The scrutiny hearing which must be held by the Panel is a Panel meeting in private to which the PFCC and Chief Constable/Chief Fire Officer are entitled to attend to make representations in relation to the proposal to call upon them to retire or resign. Appearance at the scrutiny hearing can be by attending in person, or participating by telephone or video link.

2.5.6. The Panel must publish the recommendation it makes by sending copies to each of the councils, and by any other means the Panel considers appropriate.

2.5.7. The Commissioner must consider the Panel's recommendation and may accept or reject it, notifying the Panel accordingly.

2.6. Appointment of an Acting Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner

2.6.1. The Panel must appoint a person to act as PFCC if:

- a) No person holds the office of PFCC.
- b) The PFCC is incapacitated.
- c) The Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner is suspended.

2.6.2. The Panel may appoint a person as acting commissioner only if the person is a member of the PFCC's staff at the time of the appointment.

2.6.3. In appointing a person as acting commissioner in a case where the PFCC is incapacitated, the Panel must have regard to any representations made by the PFCC in relation to the appointment.

2.6.4. The appointment of an acting PFCC ceases to have effect upon the occurrence of the earliest of these events:

a) The election of a person as PFCC.

b) The termination by the Panel, or by the acting PFCC, of the appointment of the acting PFCC.

c) In a case where the acting PFCC is appointed because the PFCC is incapacitated, the PFCC ceasing to be incapacitated, or

d) In a case where the acting PFCC is appointed because the PFCC is suspended, the PFCC ceases to be suspended.

2.7. Proposed Precept

2.7.1. The PFCC will notify the Panel of the precept which they are proposing to issue for the financial year for Policing and Fire and Rescue Services. The Panel must review the proposed precept and make a report including recommendations for both.

2.7.2. Having considered the precept, the Panel will either:

a) Support the precepts without qualification or comment;

b) Support the precepts and make recommendations, or

c) Veto the proposed precepts (by the required majority of at least two thirds of the persons who are members of the panel at the time when the decision is made).

2.7.2. If the Panel vetoes the proposed precept, the report to the PFCC must include a statement that the Panel has vetoed the proposed precept with reasons. The Panel will require a response to the report and any recommendations.

2.8. Complaints

2.8.1. Non-criminal complaints in relation to the PFCC or other office holders can be considered by the Panel through a hearing. The Panel can examine this through a sub-committee following the procedure rules at 10 above.

2.8.2. A Panel may suspend the PFCC if it appears to the Panel that:

a) The PFCC has been charged in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man with an offence, and

b) The offence is one which carries a maximum term of imprisonment exceeding two years.

2.8.3. The suspension of the PFCC ceases to have effect upon the occurrence of the earliest of these events:

a) The charge being dropped.

b) The PFCC being acquitted of the offence.

c) The PFCC being convicted of the offence but not being disqualified under Section 66 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act by virtue of the conviction.

d) The termination of the suspension by the Panel.

2.8.4. In this section references to an offence which carries a maximum term of imprisonment exceeding two years are references to:

a) An offence which carries such a maximum term in the case of a person who has attained the age of 18 years, or

b) An offence for which, in the case of such a person, the sentence is fixed by law as life imprisonment.

3. Operating Arrangements

3.1. Administration of the Panel

3.1.1. In line with Home Office guidance, Essex County Council shall act as the lead authority in establishing the Police, Fire and Crime Panel and provide the necessary officer support.

3.1.2. The lead authority will provide such administrative and other support as will be necessary to enable the Panel to undertake its functions. Home Office funding is provided to support the administration of the Panel. If no funds are provided by the Home Office, or if those funds are insufficient to cover the costs of running the Panel, the Lead Authority will defray and recover from the other members the costs of administrative support. The budget for the Panel will be agreed annually and the Panel will operate within the allocated budget.

3.1.3. In the event of the Panel being wound up, the Lead Authority will defray and recover from the other member authorities any associated costs exceeding the funding provided by the Home Office.

3.1.4. Any dedicated staff employed to support the Panel will be employed by the Lead Authority, and their terms and conditions will be that of the Lead Authority.

3.2. Membership

3.2.1. The Panel shall comprise a minimum of 15 councillors (one from each of the twelve Essex districts, one from the County Council and one from each of the two Unitaries) and two independent members.

3.2.2. Additional members may be co-opted onto the Panel, as long as the two independent members are also included, the size of the Panel does not exceed 20 and the Secretary of State approves the membership arrangements.

3.2.3. Any Councillor on the 15 appointing Councils is eligible for membership of the Panel.

3.2.4. All members of the Panel may vote in proceedings of the Panel.

3.2.5. The appointment of elected members to the Panel shall be made by each of the appointing councils in accordance with their own procedures provided that the balanced appointment objective is met. The balanced appointment objective requires that the local authority members of the Panel should:

a) Represent all parts of the police force and fire and rescue service area;

b) Represent the political make-up of the councils taken together; andc) Have the skills, knowledge and experience necessary to enable the Panel to discharge its functions effectively.

3.2.6. The councils shall each appoint an elected Member to be a Member of the Panel. Additional nominations will be invited to positions for co-opted members in line with the composition agreed by the Panel to reflect better the Political balance across the Police Force and Fire and Rescue Service area and subject to approval by the Secretary of State.

3.2.7. Named substitutes may also be appointed by the 15 appointing Councils and notified to the Secretary to the Panel.

3.2.8. In the event that a council does not appoint a Member in accordance with these requirements, the Secretary of State must appoint a member to the Panel from the defaulting council in accordance with the provisions in the Act.

3.3. District Council Vacancies

3.3.1. A vacancy on the Panel arises when a member resigns from the Panel.

3.3.2. Each council will fill vacancies for elected members in accordance with the arrangements in their Constitution. Vacancies for independent members will be filled in accordance with the selection process outlined in section 3.4 below.

3.4. Independent Members

3.4.1. The Police, Fire and Crime Panel shall co-opt two independent members onto the panel for a term of four years, starting in 2012.

3.4.2. The selection process for co-opting independent members should include a reasonable period of advertising for the positions. A closing date for the receipt of applications should be given of at least two weeks from the date the advert is first placed.

3.4.3. Information packs should be prepared and sent to those requesting application forms.

3.4.4. The applications will be considered against an agreed eligibility criteria and then an Appointments Sub-Committee will be established to consider applications and interview candidates.

3.4.5. Following the interviews, the Appointments Sub-Committee will make recommendations to the Panel about membership.

3.4.6. The Panel may decide to change either Independent Member at any point and on doing so shall give notice to the Secretary to the Panel.

3.4.7. Where the appointed Independent Member is an expert, the nominating body may change its nominee at any point and on doing so shall give notice to the Secretary to the Panel.

3.5. Term of Office

3.5.1. A council may decide in accordance with its procedures to remove their appointed member from the Panel at any point and on doing so shall give notice in writing to the Secretary to the Panel.

3.5.2. An appointed member may resign from the Panel by giving notice in writing to the Secretary to the Panel and to their council.

3.5.3. In the event that any appointed member resigns from the Panel, or is removed by a council, the council shall immediately take steps to nominate and appoint an alternative member. Each Council should give notice in writing to the Secretary to the Panel that their member has been changed.

3.5.4. Members appointed to the Panel may be re-appointed for a further term provided that the balanced appointment objective is met by their reappointment. The term of office shall be for one year, with each council selecting its representative at its annual general meeting each year. There is no maximum number of terms that a member may serve.

3.5.5. The term of office of a member co-opted to the Panel to reflect better the Political balance across the Police Force and Fire and Rescue Service area shall be for one year. The member may be co-opted for a further term provided that the balanced appointment objective is still met by their co-option.

3.6. Allowances

3.6.1. Each council has the discretion to pay allowances to its representatives on the Panel. Any allowances payable to elected Members shall be determined and borne by the appointing councils.

3.6.2. The Lead Authority, on behalf of the Panel, may pay an allowance to the Independent Members and co-optees if this is agreed as part of the annual budget approved by the Panel.

3.6.3. The independent and co-opted members may claim allowances from the lead authority in accordance with the provisions contained within the lead authority's Members Allowances Scheme relating to "Co-opted Members of Committees Allowances" current at the time the duty was undertaken to which the claim relates.

3.7. Promotion of the Panel

3.7.1. The Panel shall be promoted and supported by the Lead Authority through: a) The issuing of regular press releases in consultation with the Chairman about the Panel and its work. b) The inclusion of dedicated web pages on the work of the Panel, with the publication of Agendas and minutes. All reports and recommendations made, with responses from the PFCC will be published.

3.8. Validity of proceedings

3.8.1. The validity of the proceedings of the Panel is not affected by a vacancy in the membership or a defect in the appointment of a member.

3.9. Amendments to Terms of Reference, Panel Arrangements and Procedure Rules

3.9.1. Any proposed amendments to the Terms of Reference, Panel Arrangements or the Procedure Rules of the Panel should be submitted to the Panel for its approval and may be submitted as and when required. In addition, the Panel will review and reconfirm its Terms of Reference and Procedure Rules annually.

4. Procedure Rules

4.1. Chairman and Vice-Chairman

4.1.1. The Chairman will be elected during the Panel's first meeting, and then every year, and will be drawn from amongst the councillors sitting on the Panel.

4.1.2. The Vice-Chairman will be appointed during the Panel's first meeting, and then every year, and will be drawn from amongst the councillors sitting on the Panel.

4.1.3. In the event of the resignation of the Chairman or removal of the Chairman, a new Chairman will be appointed at the next meeting and will be drawn from amongst the councillors sitting on the Panel.

4.2. Meetings

4.2.1. There shall be a minimum of four ordinary meetings held in each municipal year to carry out the functions of the Panel. These meetings shall be open to the public except where such attendance is excluded by virtue of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. In addition, extraordinary meetings may be called from time to time, as required.

4.2.2. An extraordinary meeting may be called by the Chairman, by a group of five members of the Panel or by the Monitoring Officer of the PFCC.

4.2.3. In exceptional circumstances the Chairman may cancel or rearrange a meeting.

4.3. Quorum

4.3.1. A meeting of the Panel cannot take place unless one third of the whole number of its members is present. Under normal circumstances this would be five of the 15 council appointed members.

4.4. Voting

4.4.1. All members of the Panel may vote in proceedings of the Panel subject to the rules on declarations of interest.

4.4.2. One-third of the voting members present may require that the way all members cast their vote or abstained shall be recorded in the Minutes; such a request must be made before the vote is taken.

4.5. Work Programme

4.5.1. The Panel will be responsible for setting its own work programme taking into account the priorities defined by the PFCC in terms of policing and crime, and fire and rescue. In setting the work programme the Panel will also take into account the wishes of its members.

4.5.2. The work programme must include the functions set out in the Panel's terms of reference.

4.6. Agenda items

4.6.1. Any member of the Panel shall be entitled to give notice to the Secretary to the Panel that he or she wishes an item relevant to the functions of the Panel to be included on the agenda for the next available meeting.

4.7. Reports from Police, Fire and Crime Panels

4.7.1. Where the Panel makes a report to the PFCC, it may publish the report or recommendations.

4.7.2. The Panel must by notice in writing require the PFCC, as appropriate, within one month of the date on which they receive the report or recommendations:

a) To consider the report or recommendations.

b) To respond to the Panel indicating what (if any) action the PFCC proposes to take.

c) Where the Panel has published the report or recommendations, publish the response.

4.7.3. Where the Panel has provided a copy of the report or recommendations to a member, provide a copy of the response to the member.

4.7.4. The publication of reports or recommendations is subject to the exclusion of any exempt or confidential information as defined in the rules on access to information in the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).

4.7.5. If the Panel cannot unanimously agree on one single final report to the PFCC then one separate report may be prepared and submitted for consideration along with the majority report.

4.8. Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner and Officers Giving Account

4.8.1. The Panel may scrutinise and review decisions made or actions taken in connection with the PFCC's role. As well as reviewing documentation, in fulfilling its scrutiny role it may require the PFCC, and members of the PFCC's staff, to attend before the Panel (at reasonable notice) to answer any questions which appear to the Panel to be necessary in order to carry out its functions.

4.8.2. Where the PFCC, or a member of the PFCC's staff, is required to attend the Panel under this provision the Chairman will inform them in writing giving, where practical, 15 days' notice of the meeting. The notice will state the nature of the item on which he or she is required to attend to give account and whether any papers are required for production for the Panel. Where it is necessary to produce a report, sufficient time will be given to allow preparation of that report.

4.8.3. Where, in exceptional circumstances, the PFCC is unable to attend on the required date, then an alternative date for attendance may be arranged following consultation with the Chairman of the Panel.

4.8.4. If the Panel require the PFCC to attend before the Panel, the Panel may (at reasonable notice) request the Chief Constable of the Chief Fire Officer to attend before the Panel on the same occasion to answer any questions which appear to the Panel to be necessary in order for it to carry out its functions.

4.9. Attendance by Others

4.9.1. The Panel may invite people other than those referred to above to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions. It may, for example, wish to hear from residents, stakeholders, councillors who are not members of the Panel and officers in other parts of the public sector and may invite such people to attend.

4.10. Sub-Committees and Task Groups

4.10.1. The Panel may from time to time establish time-limited task groups to undertake specific task-based work.

4.10.2. The "special functions" of the Panel may not be discharged by a sub-committee of the Panel or a task group.

4.10.3. In this paragraph "special functions" means the following functions conferred on the Panel by the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011:

- a) Scrutiny of Police and Crime Plan and Fire and Rescue Plan.
- b) Scrutiny of annual report, and Fire and Rescue Statement.
- c) Review of senior appointments.
- d) Issuing precepts).
- e) Scrutiny of appointment of the Chief Constable or Chief Fire Officer.

4.10.4. The work undertaken by a sub-committee or task group will be scoped and defined beforehand, together with the timeframe within which the work is to be completed and the reporting time for the outcome of the work.

4.10.5. Where it is not possible to reach a consensus, attempts will be made to reflect minority views within the report but there is no provision for minority reports.

4.10.6. Sub-Committee and Task Group reports shall be reviewed by the Panel which will decide whether to ratify the findings and / or recommendations.

4.10.7. Section 4.8 (Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner and Officers giving account) and 4.9 (Attendance by Others) shall apply to Sub-Committees and Task Groups in the same way as they apply to the Panel.

4.11. Carrying out "Special Functions"

4.11.1. Reports and recommendations made in relation to the functions outlined in the terms of reference will be carried out in accordance with the procedure outlined at 4.7.

Schedule 17 –

Police, Fire and Crime Panel for Essex

Procedure to be Followed when Considering Complaints About the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner or Deputy Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner

1. Introduction

1.1 The Police, Fire and Crime Panel for Essex ('the Panel') has responsibility for the initial handling of complaints made about the conduct of the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for Essex ('the PFCC') or the Deputy Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner ('the Deputy PFCC'). Complaints are governed by a statutory complaints procedure1. The panel is required to refer criminal complaints to the Independent Office of Police Conduct (IOPC).

1.2 The Panel has authorised the Monitoring Officer of Essex County Council (or another authorised officer of ECC) to make some decisions about complaints under the complaints procedure. Unless the context otherwise requires, any reference to the Monitoring Officer in this policy includes a reference to an officer of ECC authorised by the Monitoring Officer.

1.3 The Panel has also created a Complaints Sub-Committee which is authorised to take any action under the Complaints Procedure.

1.4 Any decision or action which may be taken by the Monitoring Officer may also be taken by the Panel or by a Complaints Sub-Committee in an appropriate case.

1.5 A complaint is about the 'conduct' of the PFCC if it includes an allegation which relates to any act, omission, statement or decision of the PFCC or his Deputy (whether actual, alleged or inferred).

1.6 When following this procedure the Panel and those working on its behalf will ensure that they make such adjustments as it is reasonable to have to take in order to accommodate needs arising from the disability of a person involved.

2. Stage 1: Recording the Complaint

2.1 When a complaint is received the Monitoring Officer will consider the following questions:

(a) Does the complaint relate to the conduct of an office holder (either a PFCC or a Deputy PFCC)?

(b) Is the Police, Fire and Crime Panel for Essex the correct panel for the complaint (ie does the complaint relate to the Essex PFCC or Deputy PFCC)? If the Panel is not the correct Panel then the Monitoring Officer will refer the complaint to the correct panel.(c) Has the complaint been withdrawn?

The Elected Local Policing Bodies (Complaints and Misconduct) Regulations 2012.

(d) Does the complaint relate to a new matter which is a matter which has not been or is not already the subject of criminal proceedings against the office holder?

2.2 If the answer to all four questions is 'yes' then the Monitoring Officer will record the complaint.

3. Stage 2: Determining whether the complaint should be referred to the IOPC

3.1 The Monitoring Officer will consider whether the complaint includes any allegation which, if proved, would indicate that either the PFCC or the Deputy PFCC is likely to have committed any criminal offence. If the Monitoring Officer, after consulting the Chairman of the PFCP, considers that it does include such an allegation then the matter must be referred to the Independent Office of Police Conduct (IOPC) and the Monitoring Officer will make the referral.

3.2 The IOPC may investigate - in which case the Panel has no further involvement - or it may decline to investigate and refer the complaint back to the Panel, in which case the complaint will move to stage 3.

3.3 In the remainder of this document a reference to the PFCC is to be read as a reference to the Deputy PFCC if the complaint is about that officer.

4. Stage 3: Determining the Statutory route to be followed

4.1 If the complaint is not required to be referred to the IOPC - or if the IOPC refers the complaint back to the PFCP - then the next step is for the Monitoring Officer to consider whether or not to disapply the statutory process.

4.2 If the statutory process is disapplied then the Panel can respond to the complaint in whatever way it feels fit. This would include deciding not to respond to it.

4.3 The Monitoring Officer is not required to disapply the statutory process, but may do so - after consulting the Chairman of the PFCP- if and to the extent that one or more of the following criteria apply:

(a) The complaint is concerned with the conduct of a relevant office holder in relation to a person who was working in his capacity as a member of the office holder's staff at the time when the conduct is supposed to have taken place. Complaints relating to the PFCC's alleged behaviour towards his staff will not normally be considered. Complaints about the activities of the PFCC's staff cannot be considered directly. The Panel can consider complaints that the PFCC has failed to respond adequately to complaints he has received about his staff may be considered if the PFCC's response is so inadequate as to amount to misconduct.

(b) More than 12 months have elapsed between the incident, or the latest incident giving rise to the complaint and the making of the complaint and either—
(i) no good reason for the delay has been shown, or

(ii) injustice would be likely to be caused by the delay;

(c) The matter is already the subject of a complaint. Note that the complaint does not have to be from the same complainant.

(d) The complaint discloses neither the name and address of the complainant nor that of any other interested person and it is not reasonably practicable to ascertain such a name or address.

(e) The complaint is vexatious, oppressive or otherwise an abuse of the procedures for dealing with complaints;

(f) The complaint is repetitious. A complaint can only be regarded as repetitious if all of (a)-(d) below apply:

(a) it is substantially the same as a previous complaint (whether made by or on behalf of the same or a different complainant), or it concerns substantially the same conduct as a previous conduct matter;

(b) it contains no fresh allegations which significantly affect the account of the conduct complained of;

(c) no fresh evidence, being evidence which was not reasonably available at the time the previous complaint was made, is tendered in support of it; and

(d) as regards the previous complaint, either-

(i) the IOPC dealt with the complaint;

(ii) the Panel resolved the complaint in accordance with this process;

(iii) the complainant withdrew the complaint; or

(iv) the statutory complaint process was disapplied.

4.4 If the Monitoring Officer considers that the statutory process should be disapplied, the Monitoring Officer should, before finally deciding to do so, write to the complainant to explain

(a) why the Monitoring Officer is considers that the statutory process should be disapplied;

(b) how it is proposed to deal with the complaint if the procedure is disapplied; and

(c) that before making a decision the Monitoring Officer will consider any

representations made by the complainant within14 days from the date of the letter.

4.5 If, having considered any representations received in response to the letter, the Monitoring Officer then disapplies the process then the Monitoring Officer must write to the complainant and explain why the procedure has been disapplied and how the complaint is to be dealt with (which may include taking no further action). Any such action is beyond the scope of this policy.

4.6 There is no right of appeal against any decision to disapply the complaints process although the complainant may ask the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman to look at whether an appropriate process has been followed.

5. Stage 4: Informal Resolution

5.1 At this stage the Panel is required to arrange for the complaint to be subjected to informal resolution. The Monitoring Officer will write to the Complainant and the PFCC (and the Deputy PFCC if the complaint is about the Deputy PFCC) with proposals for informal resolution.

5.2 There are four possible approaches as set out below. Two of them encourage the parties to reach agreement and two of them involve an opinion being reached by the Panel; Unless agreed otherwise by the parties, informal resolution will follow one or more of the following:

(a) **Period for local settlement:** The PFCC (or Deputy PFCC) is invited to consider the complaint and respond to it (for example by apologising or providing the complainant with a detailed explanation of the issues). This is likely to be suitable where the parties

have a constructive relationship or where the complaint is minor. This process is unlikely to be suitable where positions have become entrenched or where the PFCC (or Deputy PFCC) does not believe that such a process is likely to resolve the complaint. If this route is followed then the PFCC (or Deputy PFCC) will be given a fixed period of time (usually a month) to resolve the complaint. At the end of the fixed period the Monitoring Officer will contact both parties and ask if the matter has been resolved. If both parties agree that the complaint has been resolved then the complaint will be closed and the matter recorded as resolved.

(b) **Mediation:** The Monitoring Officer (either in person or via another person appointed for this purpose) attempts to facilitate a mediation. This is also likely to be appropriate for less serious complaints. It is not suitable unless both parties agree. Any information disclosed by either party to the mediator may be used in any subsequent resolution. At the end of the mediation the Monitoring Officer will contact both parties and ask if the matter has been resolved. If both parties agree that the complaint has been resolved then the complaint will be closed and the matter recorded as resolved.

(c) **Resolution by Monitoring Officer, after Consulting the Chairman of the PFCP:** The Monitoring Officer may come to a conclusion about the complaint. As part of this conclusion the Monitoring Officer may, after consulting the Chairman of the PFCP, make recommendations about action the Monitoring Officer considers should be taken by the PFCC (or Deputy PFCC). This is only suitable for less serious complaints where the Monitoring Officer believes that it may be helpful for a person independent of OPFCC and complainant to express a view without convening a meeting of the Complaints Sub-Committee. It may also be suitable for less serious complaints where either of the previous processes have failed to resolve the complaint.

(d) **Resolution by the Complaints Sub Committee:** The Monitoring Officer may, after consulting the Chairman of the PFCP, decide that a complaint should be referred to the Complaints Sub-Committee. The Complaints Sub-Committee will receive a report of the Monitoring Officer and will hold a meeting. This is suitable for more serious complaints, regardless of whether or not any other process has been followed. The basic process for this is set out at appendix 1 (although this may be varied in any particular case by the Monitoring Officer or by a Complaints Sub-Committee).

5.3 The resolution of the complaint must be informal. The parties may agree to follow an approach which is different to those set out in 5.2. The Monitoring Officer will write to the Complainant and the PFCC (or Deputy PFCC) and explain a preliminary view as to how the complaint ought to be subjected to informal resolution. Each party will be given a period of time to respond.

5.4 If a period for local settlement or mediation is allowed but does not resolve the complaint to the satisfaction of all parties then the Monitoring Officer will, after consulting the Chairman of the PFCP, adopt one of the processes in 5.2(c) or 5.2(d) instead.

6. Recording and Publishing the Outcome

6.1 When a complaint has been subject to informal resolution (whether or not to the satisfaction of both parties) then the Monitoring Officer must make a record of the outcome of the resolution and send a copy to both parties and to the monitoring officer of the Office of the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner.

6.2 The Panel or a Complaints Sub-Committee may, after consulting the complainant and the subject of the complaint, publish part or all of the record referred to in 6.1 (subject to any alterations or redactions which they consider appropriate). Publication will be considered if:

(a) Either party asks for the record to be published; or

(b) The Sub-Committee considers that the response of the PFCC (or Deputy PFCC) to any recommendations made has not, in their opinion, been adequate and that it is in the public interest for the record to be published.

6.3 Publication may take the form of publishing the record or a written summary and may include a press release.

6.4 Publication of the outcome is entirely at the discretion of the Sub Committee.

Appendix 1

1. Process for the Sub-Committee to Review Complaints

1.1 The Monitoring Officer may appoint a Reviewing Officer whose role will be:

- to gather information about the complaint; and

- to write a report on the Complaint and make recommendations about whether there is any merit in the complaint and, if so, what action the PFCC should take.

2. Process to be followed by the Reviewing Officer

2.1 The Reviewing Officer is not permitted to investigate the Complaint, although they may ask for information. The Reviewing Officer will:

(a) Send a copy of the complaint to the person complained about and allow them a reasonable opportunity to provide a response and any supporting documents.(b) Send a copy of the response to the complainant to give the complainant a reasonable opportunity to provide any information or documents in response to the evidence.

2.2 Further steps may be necessary depending on how the review progresses.

2.3 The Reviewing Officer may ask for any further information they consider helpful in order to provide the Sub-Committee with full details about the matters complained of. No party can be required to provide any information if it would be unlawful for them to provide that information.

2.4 Any material sent to the Reviewing Officer will normally be shared with all other parties and the Sub-Committee.

2.5 Notwithstanding 2.4 a party may apply to the reviewing officer with an application not to share a document or documents, if there are exceptional reasons not to do so.

2.6 An application under paragraph 2.5 should clearly set out the nature of the material and why the party does not want it to be shared.

2.7 A decision on the application will then be taken by the Reviewing Officer or the Monitoring Officer.

2.8 If a party is dissatisfied with the decision under paragraph 2.7 they may appeal to the Sub-Committee.

2.9 Other than as agreed in paragraph 2.7 or 2.8 above, material submitted to the Reviewing Officer should not be redacted or altered in any way.

2.10 Once the Reviewing Officer is satisfied that all parties have had a fair opportunity to comment on the material submitted by the other party they will produce a report. The report will normally include all material submitted by parties to the complaint.

3. Before the Meeting

3.1 The Monitoring Officer will send the parties the final report. The version of the report sent to the parties will not include material where it has been agreed that it will not be shared. The parties may comment on the final report and any comments received by the Reviewing Officer or the Monitoring Officer will be circulated by him or her to the Sub-Committee and to the other party.

3.2 The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Chairman of the Sub-Committee, will decide whether or not the parties should be invited to attend the meeting. As a general rule the parties will not be invited to attend.

3.3 The Reviewing Officer's report will be considered by a Committee of the Panel, comprising the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Panel and one other member. The Monitoring Officer may wish to submit a separate covering report clarifying or highlighting certain aspects of the Reviewing Officer's report.

4. Procedure at the meeting

4.1 The Chairman will welcome those attending the meeting and introduce everyone. The Chairman will remind everyone that the purpose of the meeting is for the complaint to be informally resolved.

4.2 The Committee will consider excluding the press and public.

4.3 The Monitoring Officer will present the findings and recommendations of the Reviewing Officer's report and may ask the Reviewing Officer to present all or highlight certain aspects of his or her report.

4.4 Members of the Sub-Committee may ask questions of the Monitoring Officer or the Reviewing Officer.

4.5 If present, the complainant (or their representative) will be invited to address the Sub-Committee for up to 10 minutes. No new matters may be raised and no new material may be introduced without the permission of the Chairman.

4.6 The Sub-Committee may ask questions of the Complainant (if present) to clarify any part of the complaint.

4.7 The PFCC or Deputy PFCC (or their representative) will, if present, be invited to address the Sub-Committee for up to 10 minutes. No new material may be introduced without the permission of the Chairman.

4.8 The Sub-Committee may ask questions to clarify any information provided by the PFCC (if present).

4.9 No witnesses may be called by any person without the prior permission of the Chairman. If permission is given then the other party and the Sub-Committee will each be given the opportunity to ask questions of the witness. Any witness will be heard as part of the address and an extension of time will be given.

4.10 The Monitoring Officer will summarise the issues.

4.11 If the parties are present they will be asked to leave while the members deliberate.

4.12 The Committee may adjourn a meeting at any time for as long as they think appropriate.

4.13 The Sub-Committee will make a decision on the complaint and on how they think that the Complaint should be resolved. This may or may not include expressing a view as to whether there has been misconduct by the PFCC (or Deputy PFCC) and making a recommendation as to whether or not the PFCC should take any action to provide redress. If the Sub-Committee expresses the view that there has been misconduct then it will give reasons for this.

4.14 The Sub-Committee may:

(a) Make recommendations about any action which the Sub Committee should be taken by the PFCC.

(b) Ask the Monitoring Officer to provide an explanation to the complainant if it considers that this may assist to clear up or settle the matter directly with the complainant.

4.15 There is no right of appeal or review of the Sub-Committee's decision although the complainant may ask the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman to look at whether an appropriate process has been followed.

5. After the Meeting

5.1 The Monitoring Officer will inform the parties of the outcome of the meeting.

5.2 Where the Sub-Committee has made recommendations to the PFCC the Monitoring Officer will ask the PFCC to consider the recommendations and to respond (usually within fourteen days) to say whether or not the PFCC accepts the recommendations and

(a) what action the PFCC has taken (or proposes to take); and

(b) if the PFCC does not propose to accept any recommendation then to provide detailed reasons as to why this is the case.

5.3 The Monitoring Officer may seek clarification of the PFCC's response and may make suggestions as to further actions which may assist with informal resolution of the complaint.

5.4 The Monitoring Officer will inform the Sub-Committee of the response to the recommendations received from the PFCC.

5.5 Having considered the PFCC's response, the Sub-Committee may make further recommendations to the PFCC on how it feels the complaint may be resolved informally or ask the PFCC to consider his response.

Record of Outcome

The Monitoring Officer will prepare a record of the outcome of the procedure and will ask the parties whether they would want the record to be published. The Monitoring Officer will submit the record of the outcome to the members of the Sub-Committee for approval.

The Sub-Committee will consider whether to publish the record of the outcome of the procedure, taking account of the views of the parties if any views were received.

If so determined by the Sub-Committee, the Monitoring Officer will arrange for the record of the outcome so approved by the Sub-Committee to be published on the Council's website and anywhere else which the Sub-Committee directs

Schedule 18 – Government Security Classifications

1 Introduction

- 1.1 HM Government classifies information assets to:
 - a) ensure they are appropriately protected
 - b) support Public Sector business and the effective exploitation of information, and
 - c) meet the requirements of relevant legislation and international / bilateral agreements and obligations.
- 1.2 The classifications applies to all information that government collects, stores, processes, generates or shares to deliver services and conduct business, including information received from or exchanged with external partners.
- 1.3 The Government Security Classifications came into force in April 2014 and now contain three different levels:

OFFICIAL

The majority of information that is created or processed by the public sector. This includes routine business operations and services, some of which could have damaging consequences if lost, stolen or published in the media, but are not subject to a heightened threat profile. Very sensitive information that justifies heightened protective measures to defend against determined and highly capable threat actors. For example, where compromise could seriously damage military capabilities, international relations or the investigation of serious organised crime.

SECRET

TOP SECRET

HMG's most sensitive information requiring the highest levels of protection from the most serious threats. For example, where compromise could cause widespread loss of life or else threaten the security or economic wellbeing of the country or friendly nations.

2 Approach

- 2.1 In summary the Commissioner's approach to protecting information is:
 - a) There is no need to mark OFFICIAL information under this scheme. This will cover nearly all information created or handled within the Fire and Rescue Service.
 - b) The only information that will need to be marked is SECRET and TOP SECRET. This information will be restricted to small number of people within the Service who will have clearance to handle it.
 - c) OFFICIAL SENSITIVE can also be used to identify specifically sensitive information (e.g. confidential data, personal information).
 - d) The Commissioner has chosen not to adopt any further descriptors, as these may not necessarily be recognised outside of government and public sector organisations.

- e) Irrespective of the markings on the document, responsibility is placed upon the individual to handle the data contained within a document according to its sensitivity.
- 2.2 Further guidance can be found in 'Government Security Classifications April 2014' (published by the Cabinet Office), which contains more specific guidance on the definitions of the security classifications and how they should be stored, used, moved and shared.

Schedule 19 – Decision Report Template

Essex Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority

Decision Report

Please ensure all sections below are completed

Report reference number:

(Please contact Office of the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for a reference number)

Government security classification (e.g. Not protectively marked/Official - Sensitive):

Title of report:

Area of county / stakeholders affected:

Report by :

Date of report:

Enquiries to:

1. **Purpose of the report** (Set out the purpose of the report)

2. Recommendations

(Set out the decision and recommendation which is to be made as a part of the proposal)

3. Benefits of the proposal

(Specify the benefits of the proposal including financial or operational benefits. Highlight whether this proposal is linked to another decision or earlier paper. Also specify the consequences of not proceeding)

4. Background and proposal

(Set out the background, chronological history and relevant contextual information to support the proposal including what has happened so far and what is being proposed)

5. Alternative options considered and rejected

(Set out any alternative options considered and rejected in favour of the recommendation(s) made. In some instances (e.g. where the recommendation is made to fulfil a statutory requirement), there may be no viable alternative. However, in most cases, there will be at least one alternative option, this being to do nothing / maintain the status quo).

6. Strategic priorities

(Demonstrate how the issue is relevant to the strategic priorities of the Commissioner, as set out in the Fire and Rescue Plan, and/or the Integrated Risk Management Plan)

7. Operational implications

(Outline any operational fire and rescue implications and how Essex County Fire and Rescue Service staff and officers, including unions and staff representative bodies, have been engaged or consulted in respect of the operational implications.)

8. Financial implications

(This section should set out the key revenue and capital finance issues arising from the report. Report authors, working with the CFO, will need to demonstrate that the decision is within existing financial and other resources and if not identify the source of any additional resources.)

9. Legal implications

(This section should set out the key legal issues arising from the report and include any legal advice if received)

10. Staffing implications

(This section should set out any staffing or other resource implications. It needs to demonstrate that the decision complies with relevant employment legislation and / or policies.)

11. Equality and Diversity implications

(This section should describe the equality and diversity implications of the proposal and should attach and address any findings from the equality impact assessment if one has been carried out.)

12. Risks

(This section should describe the key risks relating to the proposal, and what would be undertaken to mitigate those risks.)

13. Governance Boards

(This section should describe the meetings that this proposal has been discussed at prior to the decision being presented to the Commissioner for decision)

14. Background papers

(Please list sources of information e.g. documents that are not readily available to the public and that were used in the writing of the report. If key to the understanding of this decision add as an appendix to this report.).

Decision Process

Step 1A - Chief Fire Officer Comments (The Chief Fire Officer is asked in their capathe proposal.)	acity as the Head of Paid Service to comment on
Sign:	
Date:	
Step 1B – Consultation with representation (The Chief Fire Officer is to set out the constrepresentative bodies)	
Step 2 - Statutory Officer Review	
	blice, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer ioner or their Deputy.
Monitoring Officer	Sign:
	Print:
	Date:
Chief Finance Officer	Sign:
	Print:
	Date:

Step 3 - Publication

Is the report for publication? YES/NO

If 'NO', please give reasons for non-publication (Where relevant, cite the security classification of the document(s). State 'none' if applicable)

If the report is not for publication, the Monitoring Officer will decide if and how the public can be informed of the decision.

Step 4 - Redaction

If the report is for publication, is redaction required:

1	Of Decision Sheet	YES/NO
2	Of Appendix	YES/NO
lf 'YE	S', please provide details of require	ed redaction:
Date re	edaction carried out:	
	ction is required, the Chief Finance O daction has been completed.	fficer or the Monitoring Officer are to sign off
Sign:		

Print:	 	 	 •••	••	•	 • •	 •	• •	•	• •	• •	 	•	 • •	•	 •	• •		• •	•	• •	•

Date signed:		• •	
--------------	--	-----	--

Step 5 - Decision by the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner or Deputy Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner
I agree the recommendations to this report:
Sign: (PFCC / DPFCC)
Print:
Date signed:
I do not agree the recommendations to this report because:
Sign: (PFCC / DPFCC)
Print:
Date signed: